
 
 

 
 

 

 

SUMMONS TO ATTEND COUNCIL 
MEETING 
 

Monday 20 January 2014 at 7.00 pm 
Conference Hall - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 
 
To the Mayor and Councillors of the London Borough of Brent and to 
each and every one of them. 
 
I hereby summon you to attend the MEETING OF THE COUNCIL of this 
Borough.  
 

 
CHRISTINE GILBERT 
Chief Executive 
 
Dated: Friday 10 January 2014 
 
For further information contact: Peter Goss, Democratic Services Manager 
020 8937 1353, peter.goss@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

democracy.brent.gov.uk 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting. 
Please note this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the 
Council’s website.  By entering the meeting room you will be 
deemed to have consented to the possibility of being filmed and to 
the possible use of those images and sound recordings fror 
webcasting. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Agenda 
 
Apologies for absence 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 

1 - 16 

2 Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

3 Mayor's announcements (including any petitions received)  
 

 

4 Appointments to committees and outside bodies and appointment of 
chairs/vice chairs (if any)  

 

 

5 Report from the Leader or members of the Executive  
 

 

 To receive reports from the Leader or members of the Executive in 
accordance with Standing Order 42. 
 

 

6 Questions from the Opposition and other Non- Executive Members  
 

 

 Questions will be put to the Executive 
 

 

7 Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2013/14  
 

17 - 260 

 This report sets out: 
 
A recommended local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2014/15 based 
upon the experience from the first year of the local scheme, the outcomes 
from this year’s consultation process and continuing to achieve a 
financially neutral position. 
 
The findings of the consultation process which took place between 11 
November 2013 and 13 December 2013. 
 
The financial and equality impacts of the recommended revised local 
Council Tax Support scheme for Brent residents. 
 
Appendix A – Equalities Impact Assessment to follow. 
 

 

 Ward Affected: All Wards Contact Officer: Andrew Donald, 
Strategic Director, Regeneration and 

 



 

3 
 

Growth 

   Tel: 020 8937 1049  

   andrew.donald@brent.gov.uk  

8 Reports from the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

261 - 
264 

 To receive reports from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees in accordance with Standing Order 41. 
 

 

9 Motions  
 

 

 To debate any motions submitted in accordance with Standing Order 45. 
 

 

10 Urgent business  
 

 

 At the discretion of the Mayor to consider any urgent business. 
 

 

 
 

� Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 
• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT 

 
Minutes of the ORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL  

held on Monday 18 November 2013 at 7.00 pm 
 

PRESENT: 
 

The Worshipful the Mayor 
Councillor Bobby Thomas 

 
  
 

COUNCILLORS: 
Aden Adeyeye 
Al-Ebadi Arnold 
Ashraf Mrs Bacchus 
Baker Beswick 
Brown Butt 
Cheese S Choudhary 
A Choudry Colwill 
Crane Cummins 
Daly Denselow 
Gladbaum Harrison 
Hashmi Hector 
Hirani Hopkins 
Hossain Hunter 
John Jones 
Kabir Kansagra 
Kataria Leaman 
Long Lorber 
Mashari Matthews 
McLennan Mitchell Murray 
J Moher R Moher 
Moloney Ogunro 
Oladapo BM Patel 
CJ Patel HB Patel 
HM Patel RS Patel 
Pavey Powney 
Ms Shaw Ketan Sheth 
Krupa Sheth Singh 
Van Kalwala  

 
Apologies for absence 
Apologies were received from: Councillors Chohan, Naheerathan and Sneddon. 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



2 
Council - 18 November 2013 

 
1. Minutes of the previous meeting  

 
RESOLVED:- 
 
that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 9 September 2013 be approved as 
an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

2. Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 
Councillor Cheese declared a non pecuniary interest as a member of the Kilburn 
Advisory Board. 
 

3. Procedural motions  
 
The Chief Whip moved two procedural motions. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) That in respect of Summons item 7, 1st Reading Debate – 2014/15 Budget: 
 

- the Leader be permitted up to 10 minutes in which to present the report, 
  

- the Leaders of the Liberal Democrat Group and the Conservative Group 
be permitted up to 10 minutes each to debate the item, 

 
- a general debate to follow in accordance with Standing Order 44(b). 

 
(ii) that in respect of the Labour Group motion to be moved under Summons 

item 15: 
 

- one speaker from the Labour Group be permitted to move the motion for 
debate within the 3 minutes allowed and take the time allowed for the two 
additional 2 minute contributions, the rights of the Liberal Democrat and 
Conservative Groups to their normal allocation of two speakers each 
taking up to 2 minutes each being unaffected. 

 
4. Mayor's announcements (including any petitions received)  

 
The Mayor announced with sadness that Len Snow had passed away on 1 
November 2014.  Len had represented for Tokyngton ward in 1963 which saw the 
beginning of 27 years of service in local government.   He was elected Mayor of 
Brent in 1976 and remained a school governor, being particularly linked with 
Copland School, where he was Chair for over 20 years until 1998.  The Mayor 
expressed the Council’s condolences to his widow Joan, who was in hospital 
herself and wished her a speedy recovery, daughter Sue Dorman, son Ralph Snow 
and two grandsons. 
 
Members stood for a minute’s silence in memory of Len Snow. 
 
The Mayor pointed out that the meeting was being webcast live for the first time and 
the Council was the first in London to integrate Twitter and webcasts for meetings in 

Page 2



3 
Council - 18 November 2013 

this way.  It was hoped this would encourage residents to get involved and 
contribute to the debate.  The Mayor also pointed out that the TV cameras were 
filming for the Panorama programme.  
 
The Mayor referred to the official opening of the Civic Centre that took place on 
Sunday 6 October and stated that feedback had been extremely positive, with an 
estimated 5,000 people attending the event of which 96% rated the venue and 
facilities as good or very good.    
 
The Mayor announced that on 28 October 2014 he and the Leader of the Council, 
high ranking military personnel and voluntary organisations had signed a pledge of 
support for the military.  The Armed Forces Covenant was a mutual pledge that the 
civilian population and its local armed forces community made to work better 
together to support veterans and help them and their families integrate into civilian 
life. 
 
The Mayor thanked Europa services for the outstanding service they had provided 
during a recent Mayoral event at the Civic Centre. 
 
The Mayor announced that he would be hosting his Christmas Ball in the Grand 
Hall, Civic Centre on Friday 13 December.  Tickets were available from his office 
and he hoped it would be well supported. 
 
The Mayor drew attention to the list of current petitions showing progress on 
dealing with them which had been circulated around the chamber.  
 
The Mayor referred to one of the motions to be discussed later in the meeting and 
reminded all councillors to attend a member development event on Thursday 21 
November from 6pm on Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls in Brent.  He 
added that the International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women 
(White Ribbon Day) was on Monday 25 November. 
 
The Mayor welcomed to the meeting senior officers attending for the first time. 
 
Members paid tribute to Len Snow, remembering his long association with the 
borough, his love of the history of the borough and writing about it and that he had 
been married to his wife Joan for 70 years.  
 

5. Appointments to committees and outside bodies and appointment of 
chairs/vice chairs (if any)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
that Miranda Wixon (Healthwatch chair) and Daksha Keys (a Healthwatch Brent 
CIC director) be appointed as first and second alternates respectively to Ann O’Neill 
on the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

6. Report from the Leader or members of the Executive  
 
Councillor Butt welcomed Conrad Hall, Chief Finance Officer and Ben Spinks, 
Assistant Chief Executive to their first meeting of Full Council.  Councillor Butt 
commented on the opening of the London Design Outlet which he felt would be 

Page 3



4 
Council - 18 November 2013 

good for Brent and was an example of the continued regeneration of the borough 
providing more employment opportunities.  He also reported on the accreditation of 
the Council by the London Living Wage Foundation and how the Council was 
working with business partners to encourage them to pay people a living wage. 
 
Councillor Mashari was pleased to report on the award of the public realm contract 
to Veolia.  The contract represented a £1.3m in-year saving, increasing to £1.7m 
and contained strict financial penalties against any drop in customer satisfaction 
rates.  It included increased resources for education and resident engagement 
activities.  Other features of the contract included jet spray cleaning, recycling to 
flats above shops and a new phone app for reporting fly tipping.  Councillor Mashari 
stated that the inaugural meeting of the Brent libraries forum would take place on 
26 November 2013 in the Civic Centre library.  She also reported that the Civic 
Centre library had extended its opening hours to 8am to 8pm and visitor numbers to 
the library were on the increase.  Councillor Mashari added that the Council was 
prepared for any snow or icy conditions with stocks of grit and grit bins on the 
streets.  She congratulated the sports service on winning the financial excellence 
award at the Guardian public service awards ceremony for the contract to run the 
Vale Farm sports centre. 
 
Councillor Pavey reported on the progress being made to deal with the problems at 
Copeland school by converting it to become an Ark Academy.  He compared a 
critical OFSTED report on Copeland school to one that praised the Ark Academy 
and submitted that the partnership between the two schools would provide 
improved opportunities for local families.   
 
Councillor Hirani reported on the first safeguarding conference to be held in Brent 
involving the ambulance and police services, the health service and the Council 
working together to put safeguarding at the centre of everything and he referred to 
the posters displaying the ‘See it Stop it’ slogan.  He reported on the new meals on 
wheels service and the decision to replace the block contract with a service delivery 
arrangement that involved local organisations and the making of direct payments to 
the clients.  He thanked the local organisations who would be delivering the meals 
on wheels for their work.  He reported on the success of the Council’s bid to 
become a pioneer in the delivery of a more integrated health service to residents of 
the borough and that the Council would be taking part in the Sir John Oldham 
commission on Whole-Person Care set up by the Labour Party.   
 
Councillor McLennan reported the good news that the asset management strategy 
had been ratified, meaning for the first time in years there would be stock 
investment leading to home improvements and plans to build new homes, 
especially larger family homes.  Consideration would be given to a rental policy that 
would allow people to be able to afford to live in Brent. In terms of welfare reform 
Brent was the most affected borough in the country and she paid tribute to the 
housing team who were doing their utmost to work with residents who were affected 
to try to find them employment and keep them in Brent rather than face having to 
move away.   
 
Councillor Denslow reported on the meeting being live streamed.  He referred to the 
increased use of social media to communicate with local residents and reminded 
members of the member development session taking place in January on the use 

Page 4



5 
Council - 18 November 2013 

of Twitter.  He stated that the Communications team were working hard to improve 
the Council’s digital offer. 
 
Councillor Choudry reported on the appointment of a new head and deputy head of 
the Community Safety team and on the substantial reduction in the crime figures in 
Brent.  The work on gangs, domestic violence and other crime issues were all 
contributing to this.  He added that the community and stakeholders were all 
working together in the effort to reduce crime.  There had also been a drop in the 
number of anti-social behaviour cases and he thanked all those involved in helping 
to reduce the number of cases.  
 

7. Questions from the Opposition and other Non- Executive Members  
 
Councillor Hunter referred to the Willesden Green week of action which had started 
that day.  She stated that she had received the final programme of events only that 
morning.  She expressed her frustration that one of the lessons from the previous 
Church End week of action had not been learnt which was to keep residents and 
councillors fully involved during the preparations for such a week.  The week 
represented a major investment of time and money by the Council and partner 
agencies and she asked what steps were being taken to evaluate what is achieved 
during the week so that improvements could be made for future such weeks.  
Councillor Denselow replied that the weeks of action were designed to ensure there 
was a joined up approach to the delivery of services to local areas.  He stated that 
the Council was getting better at organising them but acknowledged that the points 
were well made by Councillor Hunter and stated that he was open to ideas on how 
to improve the initiative, including being able to internally communicate with 
members better without setting the agenda too rigidly.  Councillor Hunter responded 
that the true test as to whether the weeks were worthwhile would be to see if they 
led to long term change in the cleanliness and environment of the local streets.  
Despite requesting it she had not seen a detailed evaluation of the Harlesden week.  
She reiterated the importance of reviewing the project so that lessons could be 
learnt and stated that too often the Council failed to provide feedback to the local 
residents in these situations.  Councillor Hunter acknowledged that not all activities 
could be measured but a lot could be so that lessons could be learnt. 
 
Councillor Daly asked if it was agreed that it was a disgrace that children arrived at 
school hungry and that as the Government seemed incapable of tackling the cost of 
living crisis the Council should take the lead by extending eligibility for free school 
meals.  Councillor Pavey replied that the Government was overseeing a return to 
Dickensian levels of poverty.  He referred to a 300% increase in food bank usage 
with one quarter of the cases as a direct result of the Government’s welfare 
reforms.  He referred to increasing child poverty and children attending school not 
having eaten breakfast.  He agreed that extending free school meals was an 
excellent initiative, with the current eligibility being limited.  He confirmed that the 
Council was actively exploring the feasibility of extending free school meals to every 
primary school child in Brent.  Implementation would involve support from the 
schools and public health service and would be staggered over a period of time.  
Councillor Daly responded by sharing some of her experiences as a health visitor 
working with families in recent weeks. She had met 14 year olds who could only 
have school meals 2 weeks out of 4 because their parents could not afford them 
and she saw the situation getting worse.  She felt the Council could not stand by 
and see this happen.  

Page 5



6 
Council - 18 November 2013 

 
Councillor Cheese asked if it was agreed that the policy of increasing parking 
permit charges, visitor parking charges and other fees and charges did nothing to 
help the hard pressed residents of the borough with the cost of living.  Councillor J 
Moher replied by reminding the meeting of the changes agreed in October that 
reduced parking charges.  He also referred to the RingGo system that allowed for 
payment of parking charges by telephone, the take up of which had already 
exceeded expectations.  He could not see how this amounted to increasing the 
charges.  Councillor Cheese responded by stating that, thanks to the policies of the 
present Government, inflation was reducing, the cost of mortgages remained low, 
Council Tax had been frozen and income tax reduced for low and middle earners 
which was in contrast to the Council increasing its charges.  He felt residents 
deserved better than having to pay more for worse services. 
 
Councillor Krupa Sheth asked if it was agreed that the plan to introduce licensing of 
private sector landlords would lead to better management and a rise in the standard 
of housing for young people across the borough.  Councillor McClennan replied that 
she had been appalled by the standard and quality of some housing in the borough 
which was principally occupied by younger people paying high levels of rent.  She 
stated that in essence introducing licensing to the private sector which comprised 
32% of all housing stock in Brent would lead to improvements.  This was important 
for the Council because it did not have sufficient stock of its own to house people.  
Councillor Sheth thanked the lead member for her reply. 
 
Councillor Lorber asked if it was recognised how let down some parts of the 
community felt by the Council withdrawing its support for some cultural events and 
festivals.  He asked if it was agreed that the Council’s limited budget was better 
spent on providing support to community organised events and not put towards the 
Council providing poorly organised events with massive associated overheads.  
Councillor Butt replied by saying he did not agree with Councillor Lorber.  At a time 
when the Council was facing unprecedented cuts the Council was working with 
community organisations that were well versed in setting up and organising events 
and festivals.  He referred to recently organised celebrations and festivals which 
had been undertaken without the direct support of the Council.  However, the 
Council would continue working with the organisations to help them tap into other 
funding streams.  Councillor Lorber responded by asking if things were so tough, 
how spending £98k on the opening party for the civic centre which it was estimated 
attracted 5,000 people was justified when, with no Council support the Hindu 
community organised the celebration of Navratri with an event that attracted 30,000 
people.  He asked that the Council reconsider how it spends its festival budget. 
 
Councillor Choudhary asked what the Council was doing to reduce gang crime, 
especially knife crime across Brent.  Councillor Choudry replied that overall crime 
figures for Brent had dropped with 30% less crime recorded than at the same time 
the previous year.  He stated that work was continuing on dealing with serious 
crime in partnership with other agencies and the local community to reduce levels 
further.  Councillor Choudry referred to the Partnership and Place Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee task group report on gang crime and to the fact that this work 
had been verified by the Home Office who were pleased to see the progress the 
Council was making.  Councillor Choudhary thanked the lead member for his reply. 
 

Page 6



7 
Council - 18 November 2013 

Councillor Hopkins asked if it was considered acceptable that 5 months after 
moving into the civic centre it was still difficult for customers and councillors to get 
through to officers on the telephone, with staff not using the technology properly 
and reception in the building very poor.  Councillor Butt replied that the move into 
the civic centre had taken a long time to complete and there had been significant 
investment in technology.  Such change always encountered teething problems 
with some having now been resolved.  Call waiting times had been reduced, staff 
had been trained and the mobile technology allowed them to take calls wherever 
they were located.  He submitted the system was improving the way the Council 
worked.  Councillor Hopkins agreed it was important to invest in the correct 
technology but referred to personal experience of trying 20 times to get through the 
automated switchboard to speak to an officer whose name was not recognised.  
The impact was that when people did get through they were angry and frustrated.  
Councillor Hopkins re-iterated that staff were not redirecting their calls properly.  
She emphasised the importance of getting the basics right and the entitlement of 
local residents to a basic level of service.  The Mayor added that he recognised 
some of the points being made and stated that officers were working to resolve the 
issues. 
 
Councillor Oladapo asked what provision was included in the Council’s new public 
realm contract for education and outreach to demonstrate to residents the actions 
being taken in this area to help clean the streets.  Councillor Mashari replied that 
education and outreach formed a central part of the contract with lots of measures 
included to encourage and help residents recycle and reduce fly tipping.  Crucial to 
this was encouraging behavioural changes which required a programme of 
sustained educational and outreach initiatives.  Officers had visited properties in 
Harlesden and Stonebridge in an effort to help reduce waste tonnage and part of 
the new contract was for thirty roadshows and an additional ten meetings with 
resident associations and community groups.  The contract included financial 
penalties for every percentage drop in customer satisfaction.  There was also 
included a range of school visits to help educate young people on sustainability 
issues and the merits of recycling, developing the work already carried out from the 
Welsh Harp Education Centre.  A new smart phone app was available to make 
reporting flytipping more accessible and faster.  Finally Councillor Mashari stated 
that the existing outreach and educational budget would be increased from £15,000 
to over £100,000 pa. Councillor Oladapo thanked the lead member for her reply.  
 
Councillor Cummins stated that he and other councillors continued to receive 
complaints relating to the consequences of the Council’s decision to abolish parking 
scratch cards and asked if it was not time to listen to the residents affected and 
agree to provide new scratch cards to those, particularly the elderly, which needed 
them.  He also asked if the database of those residents that lived within CPZs close 
to the CPZ boundary had been rectified so that they were not told that they were 
ineligible for a permit when they lived within the relevant area.  In replying, 
Councillor J Moher asked that it be acknowledged that the new parking contract 
had saved the Council around £850,000.  He admitted that there had been 
difficulties in introducing the new arrangements but these had been tackled with the 
contractor.  He stated that the parking permit within a CPZ was a well valued 
system giving people the priority to park in their street. In recognition of the 
difficulties around removing scratch cards their use had been extended until August 
next year.  Recognising some people found it difficult to adjust to new 
arrangements, work was underway on bringing out a ‘care for’ permit which would 

Page 7



8 
Council - 18 November 2013 

address this.  Councillor Moher added that the new arrangements had been 
welcomed by those people who had started operating them.  Councillor Cummins 
expressed disappointment that the contractor was blamed when it was the Council 
that had chosen the contractor despite warnings about the flaws in the system.  He 
referred to a case where it took one resident five letters to get a parking issue 
resolved but without an apology. 
 
Councillor HB Patel stated that the Council appeared confused when, in the 
knowledge that parking charges were a burning issue in the borough, it decided to 
increase them and by removing scratch cards to then have to extend their use 
because residents could not understand the new arrangements.  He asked how 
much money the Council wasted in making decisions that then had to be corrected.  
Councillor J Moher replied by asking if it had not been noticed that parking charges 
had actually recently been reduced and so found the question confusing.  
Councillor H B Patel responded by referring to a past time when parking charges 
were even lower and so the reductions referred to by Councillor Moher were not the 
case when compared to an earlier time.  He submitted that parking charges 
continued to destroy community spirit and that the concerns of residents should be 
listened to before decisions were made and then revised.  
 

8. First reading debate on the 2014/15 - 2017/18 budget  
 
Councillor Butt opened the debate by referring to difficult times for the Council and 
residents of Brent.  Next year’s budget required a saving of £18M and for the years 
after further savings totalling £52M.  This would result in the Council having £100m 
less to spend on services than it did in 2010.  He outlined the effect that 
Government policies were having on the residents of Brent.  Councillor Butt 
explained that the proposed budget had been designed to protect the most 
vulnerable residents in the borough and make Brent a fairer place to live.  He 
referred to the move to the civic centre which would save the Council £2m per year 
and the opening of the new library that had doubled the number of visitors 
compared to the old Town Hall library.  By 2014 the One Council programme would 
have achieved savings of £74M; £3m had been saved by halving the top 
management team of the Council and the new public realm contract would make 
the borough a cleaner and greener place to live whilst delivering savings of £1.3m 
per year.  Councillor Butt pointed out that this was the first time that such a list of 
savings had been presented to members this early in the budget process.  He 
stated that he wanted to hear the views of members because there would be some 
difficult decisions to be taken.  Council Tax had been frozen for the last 4 years and 
would be again next year.  Residents were being helped to save money by taking 
part in the Big London Energy switching scheme.  The Council now paid the 
London Living Wage to all its staff and local businesses were being urged to do the 
same.  Support was being provided to the 2,000 families most affected by the 
benefit reforms through the innovative Navigator programme.  A priority for the 
Council was to help local businesses to grow.  Councillor Butt stated that the 
opening of the London Designer Outlet was a major step forward to make this a 
reality.  The Council had already cut car parking charges to assist local shops and 
would soon be launching the Brent small business hub.  Work was being 
undertaken to implement the Council’s regeneration programme, provide more 
school places and build more new homes.  New arrangements had been introduced 
to provide meals on wheels which involved local business outlets providing them.  

Page 8



9 
Council - 18 November 2013 

Councillor Butt thanked residents who had got involved in the budget setting 
process and submitted the report circulated for debate.   
 
Councillor Lorber referred to the reference to difficult times and reminded the 
meeting that such times had been identified back in 2008 when the Administration 
at that time was advised that whatever Government was next elected there would 
be a substantial reduction in funding for local government.  A programme was 
therefore embarked upon which included re-organising the Council and making 
efficiencies.  This was the beginning of the One Council programme referred to by 
the Leader.  Councillor Lorber referred to the report which stated that regardless of 
the outcome of the next general election, all the political parties were committed to 
continuing with the current spending plans.  He acknowledged that moving to the 
civic centre would generate substantial efficiency savings and stated that this was 
the only reason why the previous Administration had allowed the building plans to 
proceed.  He felt the savings for the Council could be larger but were dependant on 
the current Administration making the most of the new building, ensuring all the 
available space was hired out to generate income, but he could not see evidence of 
this.  Councillor Lorber stated that the financial disaster in 2008 was created by the 
then Labour Government and caused the opening of the London Designer Outlet 
and some housing developments in the area to be 5 years behind the original 
schedule.  He saw no point in blaming the present Government.  There was a need 
to recognise that times were tough and to address the issues by listening to the 
views of local people.  He emphasised the need to have trust in local people having 
a role in delivering local services.  Councillor Lorber stated that the Council had 
decimated the library service but that a determined bunch of local people had got 
together to run voluntary libraries thereby defeating the Council.   He referred to the 
proposal to cut the ward working budget for the second year running, having 
increased it in the past.  Whilst acknowledging the need to provide money for local 
initiatives, Councillor Lorber stressed that the programme needed to be run as 
efficiently as possible.  However, he submitted that the same level of bureaucracy 
remained.  By trusting local people and local councillors it would make better use of 
the money.  He undertook to look at the proposals within the budget and challenge 
them where necessary.  He felt the budget needed to concentrate on keeping the 
streets clean and removing the rise in parking permit charges which would have a 
detrimental effect on local people. 
 
Councillor Kansagra referred to spending under the last Labour Government.  He 
reiterated that Labour had said it would have implemented the cuts now being 
experienced. He referred to an increase in the number of apprentices, higher 
employment figures with more people in work than ever before and the number of 
claimants reduced as signs that Government policy was working.  He added that 
statistics were showing that the income inequality gap was at its lowest since 1986.  
Increases in personal allowances had meant more people were not paying any 
income tax whilst remembering that it was the last Labour Government that 
abolished the 10p income tax rate meaning those less well off had to pay higher 
taxes.  The petrol levy had reduced under the present government after Labour had 
increased it twelve fold.  Councillor Kansagra pointed to Councillor Butt taking the 
credit for freezing Council Tax when he had no alternative because a deemed 
excessive rise would have meant holding a local referendum.  He stated that benefit 
cuts were needed because many families were living in overcrowded conditions in 
the rented sector and yet there were people in social housing with spare bedrooms 
they did not need which were being paid for by the taxpayer.  Councillor Kansagra 

Page 9



10 
Council - 18 November 2013 

submitted that the last Government had mis-read the level of immigration which had 
led to lower wages and pressure being put on local services bringing them to 
breaking point.  He noted that the Council’s budget gap had initially stood at £24M 
but was now £13M.  He wanted to know the split between what had been spent on 
redundancy pay-outs and what had been spent on restructuring costs.  Councillor 
Kansagra also mentioned past increases in the ward working budget which was 
now facing its second successive cut.  He was seriously concerned that in the past 
money had been found for ward working which could have been spent protecting 
the library service.  He felt that although ward working was important it was not 
crucial and so suggested it could be stopped now and revived later when the 
Council could afford it.  This would free money to put back into saving some of the 
libraries and towards community grants/projects. Councillor Kansagra referred to 
the issue of parking and the need to support the London Designer Outlet by 
providing cheap and easy parking otherwise it would lose customers to 
neighbouring shopping areas.   
 
During debate, reference was made to the poor state of repair of the roads and the 
need to remove some speed humps where they adversely affected the health and 
well-being of the residents living in the roads because cars slowed down and 
increased speed causing an increase in noise and fumes.  A call was made to 
retain parking scratch cards.  A claim was made that the redevelopment of the 
Willesden Green centre was not wanted by local people who would rather see the 
Kensal Rise library re-open.  A view was expressed that money was still wasted on 
such things as the official opening of the civic centre, the installation of a hologram 
and the creation of an on-line budget calculator.  Whilst some blamed the present 
Government others saw it as the result of the misdeeds of the previous 
Government.  Some members felt that  Council led community events should not be 
scrapped; that Brent was a diverse borough and such a move led to destroying the 
community spirit.  Instead a call was made for some money to be put into 
supporting the community.  In contradiction to the claim that the proposed budget 
sought to protect local people it was suggested that closing six libraries was not 
good for local residents.  Some members felt greater investment was needed in the 
borough’s roads and pavements.  Attention was drawn to the contradiction of, on 
the one hand devising a health strategy and on the other increasing the cost of 
getting healthy by increasing fees for sport centres.  Increases in the fees for 
cemeteries again showed that the budget did not benefit local people.  Reference 
was made to plans to scrap school patrols and the view expressed about how 
important they were considering the number of accidents in London.  Reference 
was made to the Government funding provided to the Council to pay off the housing 
debt, additional funding for providing health services and other grants provided by 
the Government as examples of the Council benefiting from Government funding 
but it was questioned how these various funding streams were identified and spent 
by the Council.  There was criticism that money was being taken away from ward 
working and expenditure incurred on those people identified as already receiving 
too much from the public purse.   
 
Councillor Hopkins, Chair of Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, sought imaginative ideas to cope with the cuts which the Council faced.  
She stated that her committee had questioned officers to explore the use of 
jobsearch, freecycle and engagement with business partners to make full use of the 
civic centre.  She felt more imagination was needed and increased engagement 
with local people in an effort to work together.   

Page 10



11 
Council - 18 November 2013 

 
Other members emphasised the scale of cuts faced by the Council and referred to 
them as being the largest seen in a generation.  The accusation was made that the 
opposition parties were failing to stand up for the welfare of local residents.  It was 
pointed out that the level of national debt had increased under the present 
Government.  A comparison was made between those people facing having to 
move outside the borough as a consequence of Government policy and those who 
had managed to get a job using the Navigator service provide by the Council.  A 
view was submitted that debating ward working, scratch cards and the condition of 
roads did not address the situation the Council was in which had resulted from a 
global economic crisis.  It was further submitted that the crisis had been dealt with 
by the Chancellor of an earlier Labour Government otherwise it would have been 
far more serious.  It was therefore claimed that the budget gap the Council faced 
was the direct result of Government cuts.  Reference was made to government 
statements that it was the ideological objective of the Government to reduce state 
spending and that this was therefore a deliberate policy not a passive issue.  
Reference was made to the views expressed regarding cars and parking and it was 
pointed out that nothing was said about the effects of the pollution they caused.  It 
was felt that there needed to be greater acknowledgement of the sheer scale of the 
cuts faced by the Council and members needed to be challenged for their ideas on 
how these could be achieved.  Responding to criticism about lack of engagement 
with residents, it was stated that the Council meeting was being live streamed for 
the first time, the budget simulator had asked residents what their priorities were 
and the establishment of the Brent libraries forum designed to engage with the 
community sector were examples of such engagement.  Councillor R Moher, Lead 
Member, Finance and Corporate Resources, stated that the debate had centred 
around who was to blame but it was a fact that the national debt was now higher 
than under the previous Labour Government, economic growth had been higher 
under the Labour Government and that the world-wide financial problems had 
caused the present situation.  She explained that the budget proposals had 
managed to deal with the levels of cuts required from next year’s budget but the 
following two years were going to be much worse.  She hoped to hear from 
members their ideas on how the Council could deal with this rather than proposals 
on how to move money from one area (ward working) to another area (libraries).  
There was no spare money and the Council needed to drastically change the way it 
worked.  Councillor R Moher proposed a workshop to look at what could be done 
with what money the Council had.  The Mayor endorsed the idea of a cross party 
working group. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that the broad budgetary priorities set out in the report from the Executive be 

noted; 
 
(ii) that the issues raised in the First Reading debate be noted and referred to 

the Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate. 
 

9. Reports from the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 
Councillor Ashraf referred to the report circulated with the summons.  He explained 
the report set out the key discussions undertaken within the five main committees 
and thanked member and officers for their contributions. 

Page 11



12 
Council - 18 November 2013 

 
10. Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013  

 
Members considered the report detailing the provisions of the Scrap Metal Dealers 
Act 2013 which included the power to refuse a licence and to revoke licenses if the 
dealer was considered unsuitable. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that the changes to the legislation and the enactment of the Scrap Metal 

Dealers Act 2013 be noted; 
 
(ii) that the functions of considering and approving non-contentious applications 

for scrap metal dealer licences, and of processing minor amendments 
(variations) to such applications be delegated to the Strategic Director for 
Environment and Neighbourhoods; 

 
(iii) that the function of considering appeals against officer decisions or 

contentious applications for scrap metal dealer licences be delegated to the 
General Purposes (Licensing) Sub-Committee; 
 

(iv) that the fees proposed in paragraphs 3.18 and 3.20 of the report circulated 
be agreed; 

 
(v) that the function of determining fees in future for scrap metal dealers licence 

applications be delegated to the Executive; 
 

(vi) that the necessary amendments to the Council’s Constitution to bring these 
changes into effect be approved. 

 
11. Changes to the Constitution  

 
Members considered the report which proposed changes to the Constitution to 
reflect the decisions taken by the General Purposes Committee on 28 March 2013 
and 7 November 2013 to restructure the senior management of the Council and 
also recommended other miscellaneous changes required in relation to Contract 
Standing Orders and other matters. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
that the changes shown as tracked changes in Appendix 1 of the report to reflect 
the changes to the management structure and the miscellaneous changes to the 
constitution be agreed. 
 

12. Health and Wellbeing Board voting membership  
 
Members considered the report setting out the views of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board on voting proposals, which the Board discussed at its meeting on 3 July 
2013, and called for a final decision to be made. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

Page 12



13 
Council - 18 November 2013 

(i) that the response from the Health and Wellbeing Board on the consultation 
on voting rights be noted; 

 
(ii) that all members of the Health and Wellbeing Board be given voting rights, 

except council officers; 
 
(iii) that the quorum for the Health and Wellbeing Board be four voting members, 

with at least two councillors and two other voting members present in order 
for a meeting to take place. 

 
13. Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
Members received the report that proposed that the Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee should continue to meet with an updated remit to scrutinise the 
actual implementation of the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ programme across North 
West London. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) with Ealing, 

Hammersmith and Fulham, Harrow, Hounslow, Kensington and Chelsea, 
Richmond and Westminster be appointed in order to monitor the 
implementation of the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ reconfiguration of health 
services across North West London; 

 
(ii) that Councillor Daly be appointed as a voting member of the JHOSC and 

Councillor Ketan Sheth be appointed as Councillor Daly’s alternate, with 
voting rights; 

 
(iii) that the JHOSC be delegated the scrutiny powers in relation to health 

services in North West London as set out in the draft terms of reference 
included as Appendix 1 to the report submitted; 

 
(iv) that none of the functions or powers of the Council either individually or 

jointly, under Regulation 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 be delegated to the 
JHOSC; 

 
(v) that the Council’s membership of the JHOSC be reviewed on an annual 

basis at its annual meeting at which time it will also agree the Council’s 
nominated member and alternate member of the JHOSC; 

 
(vi) that the Constitution be amended to reflect the appointment of the JHOSC. 
 

14. Setting of Council Tax Discretionary Discounts for 2014/15  
 
Members received the report detailing the classes and discounts currently 
applicable and seeking approval of the discounts and premiums to be applied to 
these classes for 2014/15, including changes to the discount for properties requiring 
major repair works or structural alterations to bring them back into a habitable 
condition. 
 

Page 13



14 
Council - 18 November 2013 

RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that the discount applicable to former exemption “Class A” properties 

(Discount Class D) be reduced from 50% to 0% from 1 April 2014; 
 
(ii) that the discounts and premiums applicable to the other classes (Discount 

Class C, second homes and long term empty properties) remain unchanged 
for 2014/15 as detailed in paragraph 3.2 of the report submitted. 

 
15. 2013/14 mid year treasury report  

 
Members received the report updating them on recent treasury activity which had 
already been submitted to the Executive and Audit Committee. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
that the 2013/14 mid-year Treasury report as also submitted to the Executive and 
Audit Committee be noted. 
 

16. Motions  
 
16.1 Tackling violence against women  
 
Councillor John moved the motion circulated in her name.  She thanked Councillors 
Harrison, Hunter and Kabir for their work on the task group.  Although the very 
successful work of the task group was not yet complete, Councillor John stated the 
matter was being brought to Full Council to engage all members in the issues and 
get all party agreement to taking the matter forward.  She referred to the Member 
development session that was taking place on 21 November dealing with the issues 
concerned with violence against women and urged as many colleagues as possible 
to attend.   Councillor John referred back 20 years to when the issues had first been 
raised and stated that not enough progress had been made until more recently.  
She felt it was now time to bring the issues up to date again.  She referred to 
statistics on the practices world-wide and the fact they broke two UN charters.  
Despite this the practices were still widespread in some parts of the world and bore 
a direct relation to gender inequality.  Councillor John referred to a very good 
House of Lords report which would be available at the development session about 
the incidence of forced marriages.  She referred to press campaigns and stories 
highlighting cases of violence against women that had taken place across the world 
and in the UK.  She called on the Council to support the motion and adopt the 5 
year target set by the Government to end all practices which caused physical or 
emotional distress to women.  In support of this, Councillor John referred to the 
good work being done on these issues by London Councils and other London 
Boroughs.  Councillor Hunter supported the motion by calling on all members to 
think what they could do to prevent violence against women and girls.  She drew 
attention to White Ribbon day which was started by a man which she felt was 
significant.  She referred to young people being interviewed on the radio about 
lowering the age of consent and all of them expressing the view that better sex 
education in schools and teaching respect for each other would help towards 
ending these practices, which she supported.  Councillor Kansagra supported the 
motion by recognising the shameful practise that took place and he added to this 
the issues of human trafficking, forced prostitution and domestic violence.  He 

Page 14



15 
Council - 18 November 2013 

stated that the Government had enabled more prosecutions to take place but more 
resources were needed to help the victims and punish offenders.  Councillor HB 
Patel added that everyone needed to speak out against such violence.  
 
The motion was put to the vote and declared unanimously CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that the work of the members’ task group on Tackling Violence against 

Women and Girls in Brent be commended; recognising that the task group is 
committed to ending harmful practices by raising public awareness of issues 
such as female genital mutilation (FGM), forced marriages and honour-
based violence with these practices, and all instances of violence against 
women, constituting illegal, intolerable acts and human rights violations; 

 
(ii) that the positive influence members can wield within communities by 

encouraging individuals and groups to speak out against harmful practices, 
which impact on the wellbeing of women and girls in Brent be noted; to 
ensure that members are fully informed on all these harmful practices and 
how to deal with them effectively, to note that a member development event 
is to be held on 21 November 2013, led by the expert organisations 
FORWARD and the Asian Women’s Resource Centre; 

 
(iii) that the work of the White Ribbon Campaign day - a charitable organisation 

started by men which seeks to end violence against women - be noted and 
whole-hearted support be given to this cause and the White Ribbon pledge 
be signed to affirm that members will never condone or remain silent about 
violent acts against women and to note that a Brent Council event marking 
White Ribbon Day – the internationally recognised day for the Elimination of 
Violence Against Women – will be held in the Civic Centre on 25 November 
2013; 

 
(iv) that all members unite in the fight against the harmful practices, and resolve 

to end all practices which cause physical or emotional distress to women and 
girls in Brent within the 5-year target set by the Government earlier this year. 

 
16.2 Cleaner streets in Brent  
 
Councillor Lorber moved the motion circulated in his name which sought to call on 
the Executive to improve the cleanliness of the streets.  He submitted that the 
condition of the borough’s streets had deteriorated and that the new public realm 
contract would not deal with the problem.  A new approach was needed with 
increased enforcement to make examples of those people who polluted the streets. 
 
In response, Councillor Mashari stated that flytipping was at a two year low 
because of the free bulky waste collection.  Extensive enforcement action already 
took place and the naming and shaming of the culprits was the toughest it had ever 
been.  Councillor Mashari stated that the new public realm contract would continue 
with this work.  An alternative view expressed was that the two year low figure 
referred to indicated it had increased over that period from a lower level when the 
previous Administration was in control.  It was stated that between 2006 and 2010 
the streets were cleaner and that there was now less resident satisfaction with 

Page 15



16 
Council - 18 November 2013 

targets for recycling and reducing fly tipping missed.  However it was suggested 
that the opportunity was being taken to oppose the new public realm contract 
before it had started because it was clear that in 2014 it would provide a better 
service as a result of the redesign of the service.  This was disputed and the 
suggestion was made that a network of street watchers should be established to 
report on areas needing to be cleaned up.   
 
The motion was put to the vote and declared LOST. 
 
16.3 Parking  
 
Councillor Kansagra moved the motion circulated in his name which sought to 
introduce some free parking, restrict the hours of enforcement on Wembley event 
days and re-introduce parking scratch cards.  He stated that Wembley High Street 
had been neglected and it suffered as a result of neighbouring shopping areas 
having cheap parking.  He submitted that if the London Designer Outlet and local 
businesses were to be successful they needed to be provided with parking.  He 
added that the existing Wembley event day parking restrictions interfered with local 
businesses and the social lives of local residents. 
 
A comparison of parking charges with Harrow was made which showed charges 
were higher in Brent.  It was suggested that a working group should be established 
to consider the operation of the Wembley Event Day parking scheme and the traffic 
congestion that was caused on event days.  However, it was felt that one hour 
before an event was not long enough.  Councillor Lorber moved an amendment to 
the motion seeking to note that high parking charges were harming the local 
economy, to establish a working Group to review the Wembley Event day scheme 
and proposing alternative charging arrangements.   
 
Councillor J Moher responded that parking was just one factor that affected town 
centres and that the major factor harming them was the recession.  Action had 
been taken to reduce parking charges in the Preston Road area and it was 
submitted that all was not better in Harrow.  He criticised the motion for failing to 
identify how much the proposals would cost the Council and how the loss of 
revenue would be made up. 
 
The amendment to the motion was put to the vote and declared LOST 
 
The motion was put to the vote and declared LOST. 
 

17. Urgent business  
 
None. 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.15 pm 

 
 

 
COUNCILLOR BOBBY THOMAS 
Mayor 
 

Page 16



  

1 
 

 

 

Full Council 
20 January 2014 

Report from the Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

For Action 
 

  
Wards affected: 

ALL 

  

Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 
2014/15 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out:   

 
1.1.1 A recommended local Council Tax Support Scheme for 

2014/15 based upon the experience from the first year of the 
local scheme, the outcomes from this year’s consultation 
process and continuing to achieve a financially neutral position.  

 
1.1.2 The findings of the consultation process which took place 

between 11 November 2013 and 13 December 2013. 
 
1.1.3 The financial and equality impacts of the recommended revised 

local Council Tax Support scheme for Brent residents. 
 
 

1.2 A summary of the background to local Council Tax Support is set out in 
this report. 
 
 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of Full Council are asked to consider and approve the following 

recommendations: 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 17



  

2 
 

2.1.1. To approve and authorise the making and implementation of the 
recommended Council Tax Support Scheme for 2014/15 as set 
out in Appendix B. 
 

2.1.2. In approving the recommended scheme for 2014/15, to agree 
that applicable amounts, allowances and non dependant 
deductions (not relating to pensioners) remain unchanged from 
the 2013/14 scheme;  

 
 
2.1.3. To note the findings of the Equalities Impact Assessment in 

relation to the recommended scheme as set out in Appendix A of 
this report. 

 
3. Executive summary 

 
3.1 Under Government welfare reforms, the national Council Tax Benefit 

scheme was abolished on 31st March 2013 and was replaced by 
localised Council Tax Support schemes from 1st April 2013. 

 
3.2 The funding arrangements for the new Council Tax Support Scheme 

are less generous than those relating to Council Tax Benefit and as 
such the Council Tax Support scheme was designed to reduce 
expenditure by the forecast funding loss of between £5.2 M to £6M. 

 
3.3 Council Tax Support expenditure is demand led but the grant relating to 

it is fixed. As such the scheme devised during 2012 took account of 
forecast expenditure in both 2013/14 and 2014/15, to ensure that this 
could be met within the grant funding available. It was expected that 
significant changes would not be needed for the 2014/15 year unless 
the anticipated savings were not realised or a review of the equalities 
impact assessment found unintended inequalities in the scheme.  The 
Brent Local Council Tax Support Scheme was agreed by Full Council 
on 10 December 2012 following due process including the necessary 
consultation. 

 
3.4 The forecast cost of the scheme for 2013/14 is currently in line with the 

financial modelling carried out to during the design phase. There have 
been no unexpected equalities issues arising from the scheme 
implementation to date (see Equalities Impact Assessment in Appendix 
A to this report). 

 
3.5 The prescribed scheme for pensioners (that the Government required 

should be protected in the scheme) will need to be amended to take 
into account of annual uprating figures as notified by the Department of 
Work and Pensions and the local scheme will be updated to reflect this.  
It is proposed that the sections of the local scheme itself which do not 
relate to pensioners will remain largely unchanged; this includes not 
uprating applicable amounts, premiums, disregards, non dependant 
deductions or other figures that the DWP would have uprated in the old 

Page 18



  

3 
 

Council Tax Benefit scheme (that do not relate to pensioners). This will 
prevent any inflationary impact on the cost of the local scheme. 

 
3.6 The Local Council Tax Support Scheme must be agreed by full council 

each year even if there are minor or no changes to the scheme by the 
end of January in the appropriate year. For each financial year, the 
Council must consider whether to revise its scheme or to replace it with 
another scheme. This scheme must, therefore, have Full Council 
agreement by 31 January 2014. 

 
3.7 The scheme proposed and then implemented for 2013/14 was 

designed to be a 2 year scheme unless it failed to meet the financial 
and/or equality objectives.  As the scheme has achieved its objectives, 
only minor amendments have been proposed for year two of the 
scheme. 

  
3.8 As there are no changes proposed to the main principles of the local 

scheme and as only minor amendments are being proposed to the 
local scheme itself, only a short public consultation period was 
necessary and this took place between 11 November 2013 and 13 
December 2013.  Details of these the findings from the consultation are 
set out in section 7. 

  
Background 

 
4. Government proposals and main principles 
 
4.1 The government made provision within the Local Government Finance 

Bill to replace the national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme from 1st 
April 2013 with localised schemes for Council Tax Support (CTS) 
devised by individual (or groups of) local authorities (LA’s).  Brent 
devised and implemented its local scheme from 01 April 2013. 

 
4.2 Responsibility within central government for Council Tax Support has 

passed from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) 
(responsible for the existing national scheme) to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) (responsible for the 
localised provision from April 2013). 

 
4.3 Local CTS schemes are funded by a fixed grant unlike the previous 

Council Tax Benefit scheme which had demand-led funding.  The fixed 
grant resulted in an immediate reduction to funding when compared to 
previous levels of subsidised expenditure.   

 
4.4 Local Authorities have a duty to run a local Council Tax Support 

Scheme within their area that must contain the following: 
 

• Pensioner claimants will generally be protected so that their award 
would be the generally the same as if calculated under the national 
CTB scheme – this is achieved by the provision of a statutory 

Page 19



  

4 
 

scheme. The protection for pensioner customers results in the 10% 
financial saving as highlighted by the government as falling 
disproportionately on working-age claimants.  

 
• Schemes must support work incentives; this was taken into account 

when devising our scheme for year one with the creation of an 
increased earnings disregard; this has been maintained in year 
two.    

 
• LA’s must ensure that appropriate consideration has been given to 

support for other vulnerable groups, including those which may 
require protection under other statutory provisions including the 
Child Poverty Act 2010, the Disabled Persons Act 1986 and the 
Equality Act 2010, amongst others.  Due consideration was given 
to vulnerable groups in year one with the creation of a scheme for 
vulnerable customers who received protection against having to 
pay a minimum contribution.  This has been maintained in year two 
with an additional group of customers being classed as vulnerable. 

 
4.5 Once a local Council Tax Support scheme has been made by the 

Council, it cannot be revised for at least one financial year.  A Billing 
Authority must however consider whether to revise or replace its 
scheme with another one on an annual basis.     

 
4.6 Any revision to a scheme must be made by the Council by the 31st 

January immediately preceding the financial year in which it is to take 
effect and will require consultation arrangements to be applied. In this 
instance, only very minor changes are recommended and the 
consultation method and length of the consultation period reflect this. 

 
4.7 For each financial year, the Council is under a legal obligation to 

consider whether to revise its local Council Tax support scheme or to 
replace it with another scheme. Such decisions, including any revisions 
to a scheme, need to be made by 31 January in the financial year 
preceding that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to take 
effect.  

 
5 The Council’s Recommended CTS scheme for 2014/15 

 
5.1 The Council set out six key principles and features described below for 

working age claimants for year one of the localised Council Tax 
Support Scheme and these have been maintained in year two.  These 
principles were:    

 
Principle 1: “Everyone should pay something” 
All working age claimants (unless defined as protected) shall be 
required to pay a minimum contribution towards their Council Tax – set 
in the scheme at 20%.  

 

Page 20



  

5 
 

Principle 2:  “The most vulnerable claimants should be protected” 
(from the minimum contribution) 
Claimants shall be protected from the 20% minimum contribution if they 
or a dependant in their household are entitled to a disability premium, 
enhanced disability premium, disabled earnings disregard, Disability 
Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment, Disabled 
Persons Reduction for Council Tax purposes, War Disablement 
Pension and War Widow’s Pension.  

 
Principle 3:  “The scheme should incentivise work” 
Incentives to work are achieved by letting claimants who are working 
keep more of what they earn (before means-testing) – the 
recommended scheme proposes an increase of £10 per week in the 
earnings disregards within the former national scheme for Single 
Person, Couple and Lone Parent earnings (currently set at £5, £10 and 
£25 respectively).  In this context, a disregard means the amount of 
weekly earnings that may be ignored when calculating entitlement to 
Benefit. 

 
Principle 4:  “Everyone in the household should contribute” 
Other adults in the claimant’s household (“non-dependants”) should 
contribute more proportionately to their income – the recommended 
scheme proposes doubling the existing rates of non-dependant 
deductions from those in place in 2012/13 and replacing the current nil 
deduction for other adults in the claimant’s household receiving Job 
Seekers Allowance (Income Based) with a deduction of £6.60.  
 
Principle 5:  “Better off claimants should pay relatively more so 
that the least well off receive greater protection.” 
The recommended scheme proposes that the taper used in the Benefit 
calculation for those above the means-test (i.e. where the claimant’s 
income exceeds their needs) should be increased to 30% from the 
current 20%.   This is the rate at which Council Tax Support reduces 
where weekly income exceeds basic living needs and will be 30 pence 
in the pound rather than the 20 pence currently applied for CTB.    

 
Principle 6: “Benefit should not be paid to those with relatively 
large capital or savings” 
The recommended scheme proposes reducing the current savings cut-
off limit applied for CTS claims from £16,000 which had applied in the 
former CTB scheme to £6,000.    

 
5.2 Other general features of the 2012/13 scheme were as follows: 
 

5.2.1 Premiums and personal allowances used to determine basic 
living needs for a claimant and their family when calculating 
entitlement to CTS to be held at the rates applied for CTB in 
2012/13.  This will have the effect of contributing to the required 
savings by counteracting any inflationary growth in expenditure. 

 

Page 21



  

6 
 

 
5.2.2 Where new working age benefits are introduced by the 

government (in particular Personal Independence Payments and 
Universal Credit, both of which have been introduced during the 
first year of the CTS scheme albeit in small numbers), treatment 
of these benefits to be broadly equivalent to treatment of the 
corresponding current working age benefits within the CTS 
scheme. 

 
For example, claimants in receipt of Universal Credit shall be 
treated as being liable to pay a minimum 20% contribution 
towards their Council Tax unless they are protected. 
 
(Personal Independence Payments will replace Disability Living 
Allowance; Universal Credit will combine Income Support, Job 
Seekers Allowance (Income Based), Employment Support 
Allowance (Income Related), Working and Child Tax Credits and 
Housing Benefit, and will be rolled out nationally over four years 
from October 2013, though no significant volumes of migration 
are expected in Brent during 2014/15). 

 
5.3  Additional proposals were received from the consultation undertaken in 

relation to protecting claimants and groups of claimants from payment 
of the minimum 20% Council Tax contribution as follows:- 

  
Ø Everyone should be protected; 
Ø Those with children under five; 
Ø Customers affected by other aspects of Welfare Reform; 
Ø All JSA and ESA customers; 
Ø Customers receiving Personal Independence Payments; 
Ø Those on state pensions; 
Ø Persons on benefits, in particular long term benefits; 
Ø Disabled customers; 
Ø Persons on a low income and in particular those who have lost their 

jobs;  
 
 Each of the proposed options has been considered with regard to their 

suitability and feasibility.  In some cases suggestions have not been 
progressed as the proposed scheme already provides for protection 
(e.g. customers receiving personal independence payments and those 
on state pensions).  Other suggestions have however been considered 
and although it is not proposed to amend the scheme for 2014/15, 
additional help may be available in some cases if the customer is also 
receiving Housing Benefit.  In particular:-  

 
Ø Where Customers are also affected by other aspects of Welfare 

Reform and in particular the Overall Benefit Cap and the Spare 
Room Subsidy (commonly known as the bedroom tax), a 
sympathetic approach will be taken when considering whether the 
award of Discretionary Housing Payments (which are not payable 

Page 22



  

7 
 

in respect of CTS itself) could be made where customers are also 
having to make a contribution to their council tax because of the 
abolishment of the Council Tax Benefit scheme; 

 
 

5.4 Other proposals submitted primarily focused on moving back to the 
Council Tax Benefit scheme principles either in full or for those in 
receipt of other Welfare Benefits.  Unfortunately, these proposals are 
not viable for the Council as the scheme cannot then meet the 
necessary financial savings to meet the funding deficit. 

 
5.5 Some changes have been made to the 2013/14 scheme, specifically 

amendments which allow for protection for war pensioners and 
customers entitled to the disability premium for income support 
purposes but who were not explicitly included in the classification of 
vulnerable and the changes are as follows:- 

 
5.6 War pensioners 
 Where customers are of pensionable age and in receipt of a war 

pension, the full amount will now be disregarded (rather than the 
statutory £10 per week which was in the prescribed scheme for 
2013/14).  This was the case under the old Council Tax Benefit scheme 
where Brent had adopted a local scheme to disregard war disablement 
and war widow’s pension in full.  This change has been incorporated 
into Brent’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme document for 204/15. 

 
5.7 Customers on lower and higher rate Incapacity Benefit 

These customers had not specifically been included in the definition of 
vulnerable and had not been flagged to be protected from the minimum 
contribution in the scheme for 2013/14.  This has now been amended 
for the proposed 2014/15 scheme. 

 
5.8 The recommended scheme for 2014/15 has been established with due 

regard to the Council’s statutory obligations, consultation responses 
and in order to continue to distribute the reduced funding available 
amongst those claimants most in need of financial assistance, while 
still achieving the necessary financial savings to meet the funding 
deficit.     

 
5.9  The local Council Tax Support scheme complies with the Government’s 

key principles of protecting Pensioner claimants from changes in their 
existing CTB award, supports work incentives and gives appropriate 
consideration to support other vulnerable groups, including those which 
may require protection under other statutory provisions including the 
Child Poverty Act 2010, the Disabled Persons Act 1986 and the 
Equality Act 2010, amongst others. 

  
5.10  Amendments from the 2013/14 scheme which allow for protection for 

war pensioners and customers entitled to the disability premium for 

Page 23



  

8 
 

income support purposes but who were not explicitly included in the 
classification of vulnerable are as follows:-   
 

5.11 An equalities impact assessment has been carried out to explain how 
the scheme for 2013/14 has affected customers and this is included as 
Appendix A. 

 
6. Consultation Arrangements 

 
6.1  The consultation for 2013/14 was extensive and consideration was 

given to all proposals that were received as part of that exercise.  
Some proposals were taken forward into the scheme itself (for 
example, the proposal to define as vulnerable those in receipt of carers 
allowance (providing care for another person).  Full details of that 
exercise were included in last year’s report for full council.  

 
6.2  As only minor (and advantageous) amendments are recommended for 

the 2014/15 scheme (which primarily clarify policy intention in the 
2013/14 scheme rather than changing the scheme itself), it was not 
incumbent of the Council to consult as extensively as for the year one 
scheme and many authorities chose not to consult at all for the second 
year of the scheme if it is essentially the same as the year one scheme.  
Further, the Council’s intention was that the scheme devised for 
2013/14 would be a two year scheme so long as it was meeting the 
financial and equality objectives. Nevertheless, Brent thought that it 
was preferable to seek views on a ‘no change’ policy. 

 
6.3 However, it was decided that only a short period of consultation was 

needed and that this would be exclusively web based. The consultation 
period ran from 11 November 2013 until 13 December 2013, using the 
following approach:-   

 
Ø All consultation documentation including the questionnaire was 

available on Brent Council’s Consultation Tracker website - 
www.brent.gov.uk/consultation; 

 
Ø A text message was sent to approximately to 1,500 existing council 

tax support recipients customers outlining the nature of the 
consultation and providing details of how to access the consultation 
documentation;  

 
Ø An email was sent to members of the Citizen’s Panel with details on 

how to access the documentation; 
 

Ø An e-mail was sent to 175 key stakeholders including voluntary 
organisations, advice agencies and housing associations with details 
of the consultation. 

  
7.0 Consultation Responses – Analysis 
 

Page 24



  

9 
 

7.1 The online questionnaire restated the key principles of the scheme and 
outlined the minor amendments as well as requesting responses to four 
questions.   

 
7.2 Respondents were asked the following questions: 

Ø With reference to the key principles, to rank them in order of 
importance;  

Ø To state to what extent the respondent agreed or disagreed about 
adopting a ‘no change’ policy; 

Ø To state to what extent the respondent agreed or disagreed about 
the proposal to protect customers on lower and higher rate 
incapacity benefit by classifying these as vulnerable within the 
scheme, and; 

Ø To give details of any other groups that the respondent considered 
should be protected (as being part of a vulnerable group). 
 

7.3 There were 30 consultation questionnaire responses received. 
Although this is fairly low, in context, there were 184 questionnaires 
completed in respect of last year’s consultation following an extensive 
promotional exercise and a 9 week consultation period.  

 
7.4 Of the 30 responses, 22 (66%) considered that protecting the most 

vulnerable claimants (from the minimum contribution) was the most 
important with a further 7 (23.3%) stating that the principle that 
everyone should pay something was the most important.  

 
7.5 18 (60%) of the 30 respondents did not agree with the proposal not to 

change the scheme in 2014/15.  Suggestions on how the scheme 
should be changed were:- 
Ø 7 respondents suggested that all recipients of Council Tax Support 

should be protected; 
Ø 4 respondents suggested that all recipients of other Welfare Benefits 

(primarily JSA) should be protected; 
Ø 2 respondents suggested that students should be protected; 
Ø The was one response for protection for each of the following 

customers: those with children under 5, those affected by other 
Welfare Reforms, those on state pensions, disabled customers and 
those on ESA.  

 
7.6 25 (83%.3%) out of 30 respondents agreed with the proposal to protect 

customers on lower and higher rate incapacity benefit.   
 
7.7 There were 5 additional comments (in response to question four).  

Three of these were general comments pointing out the perceived 
injustice of asking for a minimum contribution for some of the 
poorest/most vulnerable Brent residents and pursuing recovery of any 
debt occurring due to this part of the scheme.  One comment was to 
point out that the difficulty in understanding the issue itself and one 
comment was about the lack of widespread publication of the 
consultation. 

Page 25



  

10 
 

 
7.8 Of the 30 responses, 23 indicated that they receive a bill from Brent 

Council but only 4 said they were currently receiving Council Tax 
Support in Brent.   

 
7.9 10 respondents indicated that they were employed (full or part time), 7 

said they were pensioners, 3 were unemployed with one person each 
saying they were disabled or student (8 skipped the question) 

 
7.10 Due to the very small sample size, a table of responses for ethnic 

group, age, religion, sexual orientation and gender re-assignment is not 
being provided.   However, it is noted that of those who responded, 10 
(45% as only 22 responses were given) indicated that are White British 
compared with 36% in this group in the borough as a whole and 23% 
who are in receipt of Council Tax Support. 

 
Response to the consultation suggestions and comments 
 
7.11 Suggestion: All Council Tax Support recipients should be protected 

from the minimum contribution 
The suggestions were either to exempt all CTR recipients from the 
minimum contribution or to replace the local scheme with the old 
Council Tax Benefit scheme.  The cost or protecting all CTR recipients 
from the minimum contribution would be approximately £3.65M (and 
the cost of reverting to the ‘CTB’ scheme significantly more than this) 
so this suggestion is not financially viable. 

 
7.12 Suggestion: Customers in receipt of other Welfare Benefits should be 

protected from the minimum contribution 
The cost of protecting customers in this category would be 
approximately £2.2M. Once again, this does not permit the scheme to 
meet the financial imperative and cannot be considered as viable. 

 
7.13 Suggestion: Customers with children under 5 in the household should 

be protected from the minimum contribution 
The cost of protecting customers in this category would be 
approximately £1.1M and would thus place a significant extra burden 
on the General Fund and possibly is not financially viable.  This 
suggestion was made by only one respondent and the recommended 
scheme for 2014/15 already assists customers with children in the 
following ways:- 

Ø By disregarding in full any Child Benefit in the assessment of a 
customers income; 

Ø Premiums and allowances are used to determine a customers 
basic living needs and amounts are determined for each child 
living in the household; 

Ø An amount of £175 for one child or £300 for two children may be 
disregarded for child care costs for many working families. 

It is considered that the scheme does already assist customers in this 
category and that the protection suggested is not affordable for Brent. 

Page 26



  

11 
 

 
      
7.14 Other suggestions  
 Other suggestions mainly relate to customers who are mainly already 

protected (pensioners and the disabled) or not normally liable for 
council tax (students).  There was one suggestion to include as 
protected those in receipt of ESA (Employment Support Allowance) 
which would cost just under £500k. However, this is still a significant 
cost to the General Fund and these customers are already receiving 
additional money in respect of their personal circumstances and not 
considered to be the most vulnerable in need of additional protection 
through the CTR scheme.     

 
8. Financial Implications  
 
8.1 Government funding for the scheme has been fixed for 2014/15 and 

later years at the figure awarded for 2013/14 – i.e. £24.124m.  This 
forms part of the Council’s overall grant settlement and is not ring-
fenced.  The figure is net of the GLA share of the Council Tax precept 
  

8.2 The figure for Council Tax Support to be granted used in setting the 
Council Tax Base for 2013/14 (which is used to calculate anticipated 
Council Tax Income for the year) was £30.849m.  This was calculated 
before the scheme came into operation and was therefore, an early 
estimate. 

 
8.3 The latest forecast expenditure figure for 2013/14 is significantly lower 

than this and is now estimated to be slightly under £29m.  The balance 
of the caseload between people on full to partial benefit is mainly 
responsible for this.  The decrease will contribute to the Council Tax 
surplus figure as at 31/03/14, which will feed in to the Council’s overall 
budget for 2014/15. 

 
8.4 The Council Tax support caseload as at 01 September 2013 was 

32,525 but this has increased by 200 since that date.  However, it is not 
certain whether this increase is indicative of likely changes in caseload 
next year and nor has this resulted in any significant change in actual 
expenditure during 2013/14 as yet.   
 

8.5 There will be a small increase in expenditure for pensioner cases due 
to the uprating in the government’s prescribed scheme, estimated to be 
£49k. 
 

8.6 It is assumed that there will be no increase in Council Tax in 2014/15.  
 
8.7 The estimated figure for Council Tax Support to be granted in 2014/15, 

which feeds in to the Council Tax Base figure as above is £29.037m. 
 

  

Page 27



  

12 
 

9.  Risks associated with the recommended scheme for 2014/15 

9.1 There are financial risks of keeping the main principles of the scheme 
unchanged in 2014/15     and these are as follows: 

 
9.1.1 The actual changes in caseload and associated expenditure due 

to caseload variances are unknown.  Estimates are based on 
current trends but there are indications that the economic 
climate is such that caseload may even fall;  

 
9.1.2  The impact of Universal Credit (UC) remains unclear.  It was 

decided for year one to treat anyone in receipt of UC as a 
‘passported’ case so that customers in this position would be 
treated as if they were receiving Income Support, Job Seekers 
Allowance (Income Based) of ESA (Income Related) and this is 
carried into year 2.  Currently, the indications are that there will 
not be any widespread rollout of UC in Brent before 2015/16, 
However, if the UC programme does start affecting Brent 
residents during 2014/15, then some customers who would not 
previously have been entitled to full benefit will be treated as 
passported cases.  This will increase expenditure as the ratio of 
full to partial support cases will increase. Despite this, the 
forecast contingency is considered sufficient to meet any 
additional costs generated by these claims. 

 
9.1.3  Although collection rates for 2013/14 are at levels consistent with 

the financial model put forward, actual full year collection for 
customers affected will not be known until next year.  As there is 
no additional help that can be given if customers are struggling 
to keep up with their payments, there is a risk that collection will 
fall during 2014/15 as customers try and pay arrears from the 
previous year. 

 
10. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
10.1 This is included as Appendix A in this report.  However, the EIA has not 

identified any adverse impacts in the first year of operation.  Prior to the 
first year implementation, potential adverse impacts were identified for 
the Asian ethnic group and for older working-age claimants, though 
these were accepted as justifiable consequences of the policy intention 
within the scheme. 
 

11.      Legal implications of the recommended scheme  
 
11.1 In relation to the content that must be set out in a Council tax reduction 

scheme, that is currently set out in section 10 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and in clause 1 of Schedule 4 which inserts 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“LGFA 
1992”). Under these provisions, a Council Tax Reduction / Support 
scheme must state the following:  

Page 28



  

13 
 

(1) A scheme must state the classes of persons who are to be entitled to a 
reduction under the scheme; 

(2) A scheme must set out the reduction to which persons in each class 
are to be entitled (and different reductions may be set out for different 
classes); 

(3) A scheme must state the procedure by which a person may apply for a 
reduction under a scheme; 

(4) A scheme must state the procedure by which a person can make an 
appeal under section 16 of the LGFA 1992 against any decision of the 
authority which affects (a) the person’s entitle to a reduction under the 
scheme, or (b) the amount of any reduction to which the person is 
entitled; 

(5) A scheme must state the procedure by which a person can apply to the 
authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(b) of the LGFA 1992. 

 
11.2 As for stating the classes of people who are to be entitled to a 

reduction under a scheme, classes may be determined by reference to 
the following: 

(i) The income of any person liable to pay council tax on the authority 
in respect of a dwelling; 

(ii) The capital of any such person; 
(iii) The income and capital of any other person who is a resident of the 

dwelling; 
(iv) The number of dependants of any person within paragraph (i) or (iii) 

above; 
(v) Whether the person has made an application for the reduction. 
 

11.3 As for stating the reduction to which persons in each class are to be 
entitled and if different reductions are set out for different classes, a 
reduction may include the following detail: 

(a) A discount calculated as a percentage of the amount which would be 
payable apart from the scheme; 

(b) A discount of an amount set out in the scheme or to be calculated in 
accordance with the scheme; 

(c) Expressed as an amount of council tax to be paid (lower than the 
amount which would be payable apart from the scheme) which is set 
out in the scheme or is to be calculated in accordance with it; or 

(d) The whole amount of council tax (so that the amount payable is nil). 
 

11.4 The Local Government Act 2012 states that for each financial year, 
Councils must consider whether to revise its Council Tax Reduction / 
Support scheme or replace it with another scheme and that such 
decisions need to be made by 31 January in the financial year 

Page 29



  

14 
 

preceding that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to take 
effect. If any revision to a scheme (or any replacement scheme) has 
the effect of reducing or removing a reduction to which any class of 
persons is entitled, the revision or replacement must include such 
transitional provision in relation to that reduction or removal as the 
Council thinks fit. The Local Government Act 2012 states that Full 
Council has to make the final decision to revise or replace its Council 
Tax Reduction / Support Scheme.  

11.5 The Local Government Act 2012 states that the Council must consult 
with the GLA, which is a precepting authority, when preparing or 
revising or replacing a Council tax reduction scheme and that 
thereafter, the Council must publish a draft Council Tax reduction 
scheme and then consult with other such persons who are likely to 
have an interest in the operation of such a scheme. Thereafter, the 
Council (i.e. Full Council) has to make a decision to revise its Council 
Tax Support scheme by 31 January 2014 which will then be effective 
from April 2014.  

11.6 In addition to the Public Sector Equality Duty, which is discussed 
below, the Department for Communities and Local Government has 
advised that the following should also be taken into account when 
setting up a Council Tax Reduction Scheme: 

• Child Poverty Duty under the Child Poverty Act 2010; 
• Homelessness Act 2002; 
• Armed Forces Covenant; 
• Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, 
• Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 
1986, 
• and the Children Acts 1989 and 2004. 

 
The above-mentioned legislation was referred to and considered in the 
report to Full Council on 10 December 2012 when Full Council decided 
to make and approve the proposed local Council tax support scheme 
for 2012/13. As only minor amendments are being proposed for the 
local scheme for 2014/15 and as no changes are proposed for the main 
principles of the local scheme for 2014/15, the legal implications 
regarding the above-mentioned legislation as set out in the report to the 
Full Council meeting of 10 December 2012 will not be repeated in this 
report.    

11.7 The public sector equality duty, as set out in section 149 of the 2010 
Act, requires the Council, when exercising its functions, to have “due 
regard” to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act, and to 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 
those who have a “protected characteristic” and those who do not 
share that protected characteristic  

 
 

Page 30



  

15 
 

11.8 The “protected characteristics” are: age, disability, race (including 
ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality), religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity, and gender reassignment. 
Marriage and civil partnership are also a protected characteristic for the 
purposes of the duty to eliminate discrimination. 

 
11.9 Having “due regard” to the need to “advance equality of opportunity” 

between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do 
not includes having due regard to the need to remove or minimise 
disadvantages suffered by them. Due regard must also be had to the 
need to take steps to meet the needs of such persons where those 
needs are different from persons who do not have that characteristic, 
and to encourage those who have a protected characteristic to 
participate in public life. The steps involved in meeting the needs of 
disabled persons include steps to take account of the persons’ 
disabilities. Having due regard to “fostering good relations” involves 
having due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote 
understanding. 
 

11.10 The Council’s duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is to 
have “due regard” to the matters set out in relation to equalities when 
considering and making decisions on the provision of localised council 
tax support for the area of Brent. Due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations must form an 
integral part of the decision making process. When the decision comes 
before the Executive, Members of the Executive must consider the 
effect that implementing a particular policy will have in relation to 
equality before making a decision. An Equality Impact Assessment will 
assist with this. 
 

11.11 There is no prescribed manner in which the equality duty must be 
exercised, though producing an Equality Impact Assessment is the 
most usual method. The Council must have an adequate evidence 
base for its decision making. This can be achieved by means including 
engagement with the public and interest groups and by gathering detail 
and statistics on who claims Council tax benefit and who benefits from 
certain discounts and exemptions which may be under consideration 
for changing. 

 
11.12 The Equality Impact Assessment is set out in Appendix A to this report.  

 
  

Page 31



  

16 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Equalities Impact Assessment 
Appendix B – Local council Tax Support Scheme 2014/15 
 
 

Background Papers 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 2012 
 
 
Contact Officer 
Andrew Monkley 
Benefits Subsidy and Policy Manager 
0208 937 1714 
andy.monkley@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
 
ANDY DONALD 
Director of Regeneration and Growth 

 

Page 32



250113 uprated 

Appendix B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

London Borough of Brent  
 
 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

2014/15 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



250113 uprated 

 
 
 
 
Commencement and application 
 
1.   (1)  The Rules as set out in this Scheme are applicable to the Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme for London Borough of Brent and shall come into force on 
1st April 2014. 

 
2.  The scheme set out in this document is the Council Tax Reduction Scheme as 

determined by Full Council of the London Borough of Brent on 10th December 
2012. 

 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2013 
 

CONTENTS 
 

PART 1 
Introduction 

 
1.  Introduction  
 

PART 2 
Interpretation 

 

2.  Interpretation 

3.  Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 

4.  Meaning of “couple” 

5.  Polygamous marriages 

6.  Meaning of “family” 

7.  Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible 
for another 

8.  Households 

9.  Non-dependants 

10.  Remunerative work 

 
PART 3 

Procedural matters 
 
11.  Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions 
 

PART 4 
Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

 

12.  Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

Page 34



250113 uprated 

13.  Class A: pensioners whose income is no greater than the applicable amount 

14.  Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 

15.  Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 

16.  Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount 

16a Class D1: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount (with protection) 

16b Class D2: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount (with protection – carers) 

17.  Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount 

17.1  Class E1: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount (with protection ) 

17.2 Class E2 – persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount (with protection – carers) 

18.  Spare  

19.  Periods of absence from a dwelling 
 

PART 5 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

 

20.  Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

21.  Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great 
Britain 

22.  Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control 

23.  Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit 

24.  Class of person excluded from this scheme: students 
 

PART 6 
Applicable amounts  

 

25.  Applicable amounts: pensioners  

26.  Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 

26.  Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners 

28.  Spare 
 

PART 7 
Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction 

under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 

29.  Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: Classes A to C: 
pensioners  

Page 35



250113 uprated 

29A.  Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: Classes D1, D2, E1 and 
E2: persons who are not pensioners 

29B.  Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: Classes D and E: 
persons who are not pensioners 

30.  Non-dependant deductions: pensioners  
 
30A. Non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 

PART 8 
Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 

reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
31.  Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners  
 

PART 9 
Amount of reduction under this scheme 

 
32.  Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to E2 
 

PART 10 
Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this 

scheme and amount of reduction 
 

CHAPTER 1 
Income and Capital: General 

 

33.  Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 

34.  Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as 
applicant’s 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit 
 

35.  Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 

36.  Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 3 
Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit 

 
37.  Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an 

award of universal credit 
 

CHAPTER 4 
Income: other pensioners 

 

38. Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: 
pensioners 

39.  Meaning of “income”: pensioners 

Page 36



250113 uprated 

40.  Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 

41.  Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 

42.  Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 

43.  Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 

44.  Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners 

45.  Notional income: pensioners 

46.  Income paid to third parties: pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 5 
Income: persons who are not pensioners 

 

47.  Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

48.  Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

49.  Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

50.  Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

51.  Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

52.  Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

53.  Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

54.  Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

55.  Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners 

56.  Notional income: persons who are not pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 6 
Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 

 

57.  Calculation of income on a weekly basis 

58.  Treatment of child care charges 

59.  Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

60.  Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 

61.  Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

62.  Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
 

CHAPTER 7 
Capital 

 

63.  Calculation of capital 

64.  Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners 

65.  Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 

66.  Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 

67.  Notional capital 

Page 37



250113 uprated 

68.  Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 

69. Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners 

70.  Capital jointly held 

71.  Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 

72.  Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 

 
PART 11 
Students 

 
CHAPTER 1 
General 

73.  Interpretation 

74.  Treatment of students 

75.  Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under this 
scheme 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Income 
 

76.  Calculation of grant income 

77.  Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 

78.  Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 

79.  Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 

80.  Other amounts to be disregarded 

81.  Treatment of student loans 

82.  Treatment of payments from access funds 

83.  Disregard of contribution 

84.  Further disregard of student’s income 

85.  Income treated as capital 

86.  Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 

 
PART 12 

Extended reductions 
 

CHAPTER 1 
Extended Reductions: pensioners 

87.  Extended reductions: pensioners 

88.  Extended payments (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

89.  Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

90.  Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

91.  Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 

Page 38



250113 uprated 

92.  Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and 
entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes A to C  

93.  Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners 

 

CHAPTER 2 

Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 

94.  Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 

95.  Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 

96.  Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners 

97.  Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners 

98.  Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners 

99.  Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of 
classes D to E2 

100.  Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 

101  Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who 
are not pensioners 

102.  Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 

103. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) — movers: persons who are 
not pensioners 

104 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and 
entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D to E2 

 

CHAPTER 3 

Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area 

105. Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area 
 

PART 13 
When entitlement begins and change of circumstances 

 

106.  Date on which entitlement begins 

107.  Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 

108.  Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 
 

PART 14 
Applications (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances) 

 

109.  Making an application 

110.  Date on which an application is made 

111.  Back-dating of applications: pensioners 

Page 39



250113 uprated 

112.  Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners 

113.  Evidence and information 

114.  Amendment and withdrawal of application 

115.  Duty to notify changes of circumstances 
 

PART 15 
Decisions by authority 

 

116.  Decision by authority 

117.  Notification of decision 
 

PART 16 
Circumstances in which a payment may be made 

 

118. Payment where there is a joint and several liability  

119. Excess reduction – Meaning of excess reduction  

120. Recoverable excess reduction   

121.  Authority by which recovery may be made  

122.  Persons from whom recovery may be sought 
 

Schedules 
 

Schedule 1 –  Procedural matters 

Schedule 2 –  Applicable amounts: pensioners 

Schedule 3 –  Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 

Schedule 4 –  Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction; pensioners 

Schedule 5 –  Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners 

Schedule 6 –  Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than 
earnings: pensioners 

Schedule 7–  Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners 

Schedule 8 –  Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: 
persons who are not pensioners 

Schedule 9 –  Capital disregards: pensioners 

Schedule 10 –  Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners 
 

 
PART 1 

Introduction 
 
Introduction  
 

Page 40



250113 uprated 

1.  This is the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for the London Borough of Brent and this 
scheme applies to financial years commencing 1st April 2014 unless and until it is 
amended and revised by the authority.  

 
PART 2 

Interpretation 
 
Interpretation 
 
2. (1)  In this scheme— 

“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society 
including all bodies corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that 
society; 

“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional 
adoption leave by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 
1996; 

“an AFIP” means an armed forces independence payment payable in 
accordance with an armed and reserve forces compensation scheme 
established under section 1(2) of the Armed Forces (Pensions and 
Compensation) Act 2004 

“alternative maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in 
accordance with paragraph 31 and Schedule 4; 

“applicable amount” means— 
 
(a)  in relation to a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with 

paragraph 25 and Schedule 2, and 
 
(b)  in relation to a person who is not a pensioner, the amount calculated in 

accordance with— 
 

(i)  paragraph 26 and Schedule 3; or 
(ii)  paragraph 28, 

 
as the case may be; 

“applicant” means a person who has made an application; 

“application” means an application for a reduction under this scheme; 

“appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and 
Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to 
the public for the receipt of claims for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance 
or an employment and support allowance; 

“assessment period” means the period determined— 
 

(a)  in relation to pensioners— 
 

(i)  in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, the period 
determined in accordance with paragraph 43 of this scheme for the 
purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant; 

Page 41



250113 uprated 

or 
 
(ii)   in relation to any other income, the period determined in accordance 

with paragraph 40 of this scheme for the purpose of calculating the 
weekly income of the applicant; 

 
(b)  in relation to persons who are not pensioners, such period as is set out in 

paragraphs 47 to 49 of this scheme over which income falls to be 
calculated; 

 
“attendance allowance” means— 

 
(a)  an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA; 
 
(b)  an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
 
(c)  a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries 

(Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any analogous payment: or  
 

(d)  any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war 
disablement pension; 

  
“the authority” means Brent Council in relation to whose area this scheme has 
effect by virtue of Section 13a (2) of the 1992 Act.  
 
“basic rate” has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 2007; 
 
“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State 
Pension Credit Act 2002 and the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

 
“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a 
person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his 
family, for a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation 
and at least some cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or 
prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the accommodation is 
provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation 
or associated premises; 

 
“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 
2000 and in Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by 
section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern 
Ireland means a nursing home within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health 
and Personal Services (Quality, Improvement and Regulation) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 2003 or a residential care home within the meaning of Article 10 
of that Order; 

 
“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 
28th March 2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit 
of certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for 
payment in accordance with its provisions; 

 
“child” means a person under the age of 16; 

Page 42



250113 uprated 

 
“child benefit” has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA; 
 
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 
2002; 

 
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, 
daughter-in-law, step-parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any 
of the preceding persons is one member of a couple, the other member of that 
couple; 
 
“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made 
by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged 
either to the National Insurance Fund or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to 
which payments of benefit or tax credits under the benefit Acts or the Tax 
Credits Act 2002 are charged; 
 
“contributory employment and support allowance” means a contributory 
allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

 
“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4 of this scheme; 
 
“designated office” means the office of the authority designated for the receipt of 
applications-  
 
(a) by notice upon or with a form supplied by it for the purpose of making an 

application; or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available 

from it and sent by electronic means or otherwise on application and 
without charge; or 

(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in paragraphs (a) and (b):  
 
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 
of the SSCBA; 
 
“dwelling” has the meaning given by section 3 of the 1992 Act; 
 
“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 41, 44, 51 or 53 of this scheme 
as the case may be; 
 
“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th 
March 1993 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of 
persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
 
“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the 
Electronic Communications Act 2000; 
 
“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the 
SSCBA and also includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is 

Page 43



250113 uprated 

payable under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which 
corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay; 
 
“the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme” means a scheme under 
Section 17A (schemes for assisting persons to obtain employment: “work for 
your benefit” schemes, etc.) of the Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name 
and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary of State that is 
designed to assist claimants for job-seekers allowance to obtain employment, 
including self-employment, and which may include for any individual work-
related activity (including work experience or job search): 
 
“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the 
purposes of section 60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an 
“employment zone programme” means a programme established for such an 
area or areas designed to assist claimants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain 
sustainable employment; 

 
“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made 
under, an Act of the Scottish Parliament or the National Assembly for Wales; 
 
“extended reduction” means a reduction under this scheme for which a person 
is eligible under Part 12 (extended reductions); 
 
“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of 
an extended reduction in accordance with paragraph 89,, 96 or 101; 
 
“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under 
this scheme for which a person is eligible in accordance with paragraph 88 or 
95; 
 
“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6; 
 
“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of 
State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the 
provisions of a scheme established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, 
on 10th April 1992; 
 
“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the 
State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
 
“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) 
(injury benefits) or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces 
(Compensation Scheme) Order 2011  

 
“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 
“an income-based jobseeker’s allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance” have the meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 
1995; 
 
“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related 
allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

Page 44



250113 uprated 

 
“independent hospital”— 

 
(a)  in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by 
that section; 

 
(b)  in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 

2000; and 
 
(c) in Scotland means an independent healthcare service as defined by 

section 10(F) of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 
 
“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established 
by a deed dated 10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for 
Work and Pensions of the one part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael 
Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the other part; 
 
“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine 
or by electric power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the 
occupant; 
 
“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by 
guarantee (number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established 
on 11th July 2005 for the purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, 
disability or financial need of victims (including families or dependants of 
victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th July 2005; 

 
“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for 
and a member of the same household as a child or young person; 
 
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, 
established on 29th January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary 
of State, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from haemophilia; 
 
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, 
established on 3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from haemophilia and other 
beneficiaries; 
 
“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of 
funds provided by the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the 
relief of poverty or distress among those suffering from haemophilia; 
 
“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and 
support allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the 
applicant includes a component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of Schedule 3; 

 
“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work 
because she is pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which 

Page 45



250113 uprated 

she has a right to return to work either under the terms of her contract of 
employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
 
“maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance 
with paragraph 29, 29A or 29B as applicable 
 
“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
 
“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of 
that name, established for the purpose in particular of making payments in 
accordance with arrangements made with the Secretary of State to persons 
who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by the NHS with blood or blood 
products; 

 
“mobility supplement” means— 

 
(a)  in relation to pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 5(1)(a)(vii) of 

Schedule 5 refers; 
 
(b)  in relation to persons who are not pensioners, a supplement to which 

paragraph 13 of Schedule 8 refers; 
 

“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is 
resident, and in respect of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a 
dwelling in the area of the authority to a dwelling in the area of a second 
authority; 
 
“net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with 
paragraph 42 or 52 of this scheme, as the case may be; 
 
“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 61 
of this scheme; 
 
“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” 
and paragraphs 91, 98 and 103, the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, 
or is about to move, in which the applicant will be resident; 
 
“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9 of this scheme; 
 
“occasional assistance” means any payment or provision made by a local 
authority, the Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of-  
(a) meeting or helping to meet an immediate short-term need-  

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances 
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual 

and  
(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, 

and – 
(i) “local authority” has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local 

Government Act 1972 and 
(ii) “qualifying individuals” means individuals who have been, or without the 

assistance might otherwise be –   

Page 46



250113 uprated 

(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or 
other institution, or 
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life: 
 

and “local authority” means a local authority in England within the meaning of 
the Local Government Act 1972: 

 
“occupational pension” means any pension or other periodical payment under 
an occupational pension scheme but does not include any discretionary 
payment out of a fund established for relieving hardship in particular cases; 
 
“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the 
Pension Schemes Act 1993; 

 
“partner”, in relation to a person, means— 

 
(a)  where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that 

couple; or 
 
(b)  where that person is polygamously married to two or more members of his 

household, any such member to whom he is married;  
 

“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary paternity 
leave by virtue of section 80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 or on 
additional paternity leave by virtue of section 80AA or 80BB of that Act; 
 
“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an 
occupational pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme 
administrators, as the case may be, of the scheme concerned; 
 
“pensionable age” has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 4 to the Pensions Act 1995; 
 
“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(a); 

 
“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support; 
 
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(b); 
 
“persons treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by 
paragraph 21; 
 
“personal independence payment” has the meaning given by Part 4 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
 
“personal pension scheme” means— 

 
(a)  a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension 

Schemes Act 1993; 
 
(b)  an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of 

the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract 

Page 47



250113 uprated 

within the meaning of section 622(3) of that Act which is treated as having 
become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(f) of 
Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

 
(c)  a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the 

Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having 
become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of 
Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

 
“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money 
is assured on death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any 
contingency dependent on human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract 
which is subject to payment of premiums for a term dependent on human life; 
 
“polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 applies; 
 
“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 
1(2)(b) and (6) of the State Pension Credit Act 2002)— 
 
(a)  in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
 
(b)  in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a 

woman born on the same day as the man; 
 
 
 

“qualifying contributory benefit” means— 
 

(a)  severe disablement allowance; 
 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
 
(c)  contributory employment and support allowance; 

 
“qualifying income-related benefit” means— 

 
(a)  income support; 
 
(b)  income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 
(c)  income-related employment and support allowance; 

 
“qualifying person” means a person in respect of whom payment has been 
made from the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
 
“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a 
Monday and ending with a Sunday; 
 
“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew 
or niece; 
 

Page 48



250113 uprated 

“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which 
the day in question falls; 
 
“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10; 
 
“rent” means “eligible rent” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit 
(Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 
Regulations 2006 refer, less any deductions in respect of non-dependants 
which fall to be made under paragraph 30 or 30A as appropriate (non-
dependant deductions); 
 
“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the 
State Pension Credit Act 2002; 

 
“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make 
payments for the new dwelling; 
 
“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of 
the SSCBA; 
 
“self-employment route” means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s 
employment whilst participating in— 

 
(a)  an employment zone programme; 
 
(b)  a programme provided by or under arrangements made pursuant to 

section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 (functions of the 
Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); 
or 

 
(c)  the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
 
“service user group” means a group of individuals that is consulted by or on 
behalf of— 

 
(a)  a Health Board, Special Health Board or the Agency in consequence of a 

function under section 2B of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 
1978, 

 
(b)  a landlord authority in consequence of a function under section 105 of the 

Housing Act 1985, 
 

(c)  a public authority in Northern Ireland in consequence of a function under 
section 49A of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, 

 
(d)  a public authority in consequence of a function under section 49 of the 

Equality Act 2010; 
 
(e)  a best value authority in consequence of a function under section 3 of the 

Local Government Act 1999, 
 

Page 49



250113 uprated 

(f)  a local authority landlord or registered social landlord in consequence of a 
function under section 53 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001, 

 
(g)  a relevant English body or a relevant Welsh body in consequence of a 

function under section 242 of the National Health Service Act 2006, 
 
(h)  a Local Health Board in consequence of a function under section 183 of 

the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006, 
 
(i)  the Care Quality Commission in exercise of a function under section 4 or 5 

of the Health and Social Care Act 2008, 
 

(j)  the regulator or a private registered provider of social housing in 
consequence of a function under sections 98, 193 or 196 of the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008, or 

 
(k)  a public or local authority in Great Britain in consequence of a function 

conferred under any other enactment, for the purposes of monitoring and 
advising on a policy of that body or authority which affects or may affect 
persons in the group, or of monitoring or advising on services provided by 
that body or authority which are used (or may potentially be used) by 
those persons; 

 
“single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone 
parent; 
 
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the 
Skipton Fund Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of 
certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for 
payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions; 
 
“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in 
section 23(2) of the National Lottery etc. Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for 
distribution under that section; 
 
“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 

 
“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension 
Credit Act 2002; 
 
“student” has the meaning given by paragraph 73;  
 
“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 
5th April in the next; 
 
“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants 
or otherwise) payable— 

 
(a)  out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the 

Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or 
the Welsh Ministers; 

Page 50



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; 

and 
 
(c)  for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course 

of training or instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements 
made with, that department or approved by that department in relation to 
him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers, but it does not include an allowance 
paid by any Government department to or in respect of a person by 
reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other 
than under arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973, or is training as a teacher; 

 
“the Trusts” (except where the context otherwise requires) means the 
Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the Macfarlane 
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust and “Trustees” is to be construed accordingly; 
 
“universal credit” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 ; 
 
“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the 
activities of which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
 
“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance 
payable in respect of disablement under an instrument specified in section 
639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003; 
 
“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a 
war widower’s pension; 
 
“war widow’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as 
a widow under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any 
person; 

 
“war widower’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as 
a widower or to a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 
639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the 
death or disablement of any person; 
 
“water charges” means— 
 
(a)  as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under 

Chapter 1 of Part 5 of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
 
(b)  as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by 

Scottish Water under a charges scheme made under section 29A of the 
Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far as such charges are in 
respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 

 

Page 51



250113 uprated 

“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax 
Credits Act 2002; 
 
“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying 
young person in section 142 of the SSCBA. 

 
(2)  In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a 

fraction of a penny must be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must 
otherwise be treated as a whole penny. 

 
(3)  For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s 

allowance on any day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him and on any day— 

 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-

based jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid because 
of a reduction in accordance with section 19 or 19A or regulations made 
under section 17A or 19B of the Jobseekers Act 1995 (circumstances in 
which a jobseeker’s allowance is not payable);  

 
(b)  which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to 

that Act and which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him or would be 
payable to him but for section 19 or 19A or regulations made under 
section 17A or 19B of that Act; or 

 
(c)  in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes 

of the Jobseekers Act 1995 and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is 
payable in respect of that couple as a consequence of either member of 
that couple being subject to sanctions for the purposes of section 20A of 
that Act; 

 
(4)  For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment 

and support allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related 
employment and support allowance is payable to him and on any day— 

 
(a)  in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-

related employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not 
paid in accordance with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 
(disqualification); or 

 
(b)  which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to 

that Act (employment and support allowance: supplementary provisions) 
and which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income-
related employment and support allowance is payable to him or would be 
payable to him but for section 18 of that Act. 

 
(5)  For the purposes of this scheme, two persons must be taken to be estranged 

only if their estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between 
them. 

 

Page 52



250113 uprated 

(6)  In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit 
includes a person who would be in receipt of state pension credit but for 
regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (small amounts of 
state pension credit). 

 
Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
 
3. (1)  This scheme applies to— 
 

(a)  pensioners who fall within any of classes A to C; and 
 
(b)  persons who are not pensioners who fall within any of classes D, D1, D2, 

E, E1, E2. 
 

(2)  In this scheme— 
 

(a)  a person is a “pensioner” if— 
 

(i)  he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
 
(ii)  he is not and, if he has a partner, his partner is not— 

 
(aa)  a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s 

allowance or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance, or 

 
(bb)  a person with an award of universal credit; and 

 
(b)  a person is a “person who is not a pensioner” if— 

 
(i)  he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
 
(ii)  he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or 

if he has a partner, his partner, is— 
 

(aa)  a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance, or 

 
(bb)  a person with an award of universal credit  

 
subject to any changes that may be made to the definition of “pensioner” under the Council 
Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 in which 
cases such changes shall take precedence. 
 
Meaning of “couple” 
 
4. (1)  In this scheme “couple” means— 
 

(a)  a man and woman who are married to each other and are members of the 
same household; 

 

Page 53



250113 uprated 

(b)  a man and woman who are not married to each other but are living 
together as husband and wife; 

 
(c)  two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are 

members of the same household; or 
 
(d)  two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but 

are living together as if they were civil partners. 
 

(2)  Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were 
civil partners if, and only if, they would be treated as living together as husband 
and wife were they of opposite sexes. 

 
Polygamous marriages 
 
5. (1)  This paragraph applies to any case where— 
 

(a)  a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a 
law which permits polygamy; and 

 
(b)  either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to 

the other party. 
 

(2)  For the purposes of paragraph 4 (meaning of “couple”) neither party to the 
marriage is to be taken to be a member of a couple. 

 
Meaning of “family” 
 
6. (1)  In this scheme “family” means— 
 

(a)  a couple; 
 
(b)  a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or 

both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; or 
 
(c)  a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same 

household for whom that person is responsible and who is a child or a 
young person. 

 
(2)  The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) 

include a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA 
applies for the purposes of entitlement to child benefit, but only for the period 
prescribed under section 145A(1). 

 
(3)  The references to a young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not 

include a young person who is— 
 

(a)  on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, or has an award of universal 
credit; or 

 

Page 54



250113 uprated 

(b)  a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 
(exclusion from benefits) applies. 

 
Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible 
for another 
 
7. (1)  A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is 

normally living with him, including a child or young person to whom paragraph 
6(2) applies. 

 
(2)  Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different 

households, or where there is a question as to which household he is living in, 
the child or young person must be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) 
as normally living with— 

 
(a)  the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young 

person, or 
 
(b)  if there is no such person— 

 
(i)  where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of 

him, the person who made that claim, or 
 
(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for 

him. 
 

(3)  For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person is the responsibility of 
only one person in any reduction week and any person other than the one 
treated as responsible for the child or young person under this paragraph is to 
be treated as not so responsible. 

 
Households 
 
8. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where 

the applicant or his partner is treated (by virtue of paragraph 7) as responsible 
for a child or young person, that child or young person and any child of that 
child or young person, are to be treated as members of the same household 
notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent from that household. 

 
(2)  A child or young person is not be treated as a member of the applicant’s 

household where he is— 
 

(a)  placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 
22C or 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation 
under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in Scotland boarded out or placed 
with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

 
(b)  placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior 

to adoption; or 
 

Page 55



250113 uprated 

(c)  placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 or the Adoption (Northern Ireland) Order 1987. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or 

young person who is not living with the applicant and who— 
 

(a)  is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority 
under a relevant enactment; or 

 
(b)  has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the 

applicant prior to adoption; or 
 
(c)  has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 
 

(4)  The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) 
applies as being a member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week 
where— 

 
(a)  that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that 

reduction week; 
 

and 
 

(b)  the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account 
the nature and frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

 
(5)  In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means— 

 
(a)  the Army Act 1955; 
 
(b)  the Air Force Act 1955; 
 
(c)  the Naval Discipline Act 1957; 
 
(d)  the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958; 
 
(e)  the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
 
(f)  the Family Law Reform Act 1969; 
 
(g)  the Children and Young Persons Act 1969; 
 
(h)  the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973; 
 
(i)  the Children Act 1975; 
 
(j)  the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978; 
 
(k)  the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007; 
 

Page 56



250113 uprated 

(l) the Family Law Act 1986; 
 
(m)  the Children Act 1989; 
 
(n)  the Children (Scotland) Act 1995;  

 
(na) the Children’s Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011(c); and 

 
(o)  the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 
 

Non-dependants 
 
9. (1)  In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom 

sub-paragraph (2) applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom 
an applicant normally resides. 

 
(2)  This paragraph applies to— 

 
(a)  any member of the applicant’s family; 
 
(b) if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child 

or  young person who is a member of his household and for whom he or 
one of his partners is responsible; 

 
(c)  a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a 

member of his household by virtue of paragraph 8 (households); 
 
(d)  subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly 

and severally liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day 
under section 6 or 7 of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

 
 (e)  subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments 

on a commercial basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect 
of the occupation of the dwelling; 

 
(f)  a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner 

of his and who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which 
makes a charge to the applicant or his partner for the services provided by 
that person. 

 
(3)  Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to 

whom any of the following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant— 
 

(a)  a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make 
payments in respect of the dwelling and either— 

 
(i)  that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or 
 
(ii)  the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 

commercial basis; 
 

Page 57



250113 uprated 

(b)  a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling 
appears to the authority to have been created to take advantage of a 
council tax reduction scheme except someone who was, for any period 
within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the agreement giving rise to 
the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make payments of 
rent in respect of the same dwelling; 

 
(c)  a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for 

council tax in respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the 
period of eight weeks prior to his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of 
one or more of the other residents in that dwelling who are so liable for the 
tax, unless the change giving rise to the new liability was not made to take 
advantage of a council tax reduction scheme. 

 
Remunerative work 
 
10. (1)  Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a person must be treated 

for the purposes of this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is 
engaged, or, where his hours of work fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for 
not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which payment is made or which is 
done in expectation of payment. 

 
(2)  Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a 

person is engaged in work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be 
had to the average of hours worked over— 
(a)  if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle 

(including, where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no 
work, those periods but disregarding any other absences); 

 
(b)  in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of 

application, or such other length of time as may, in the particular case, 
enable the person’s weekly average hours of work to be determined more 
accurately. 

 
(3)  Where, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a), a person’s recognisable cycle 

of work at a school, other educational establishment or other place of 
employment is one year and includes periods of school holidays or similar 
vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any other periods 
not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to 
work must be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is 
engaged in work. 

 
(4)  Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s 

work, regard must be had to the number of hours or, where those hours will 
fluctuate, the average of the hours, which he is expected to work in a week. 

 
(5)  A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period 

for which he is absent from work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the absence 
is either without good cause or by reason of a recognised, customary or other 
holiday. 

 

Page 58



250113 uprated 

(6)  A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any 
reduction week is to be treated as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

 
(7)  A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on 

which the person is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is 
absent from work because he is ill. 

 
(8)  A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on 

which he is engaged in an activity in respect of which— 
 

(a)  a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
 
(b)  no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

 
PART 3 

Procedural matters 
 
Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions 
 
11.  Schedule 1 contains provisions about the procedure— 
 

(a)  by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme; 
 
(b)  by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 

authority; 
 

(c)  by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under section 
13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act. 

 
PART 4 

Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
 
Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
 
12. (1)  The classes of person described in paragraphs 13 to 17 are entitled to a 

reduction under this scheme. 
 

(2)  In those paragraphs, references to the applicant’s income or capital include, in a 
case where that income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references 
to the applicant’s estimated income or capital. 

 
Class A: pensioners whose income is no greater than the applicable amount 
 
13.  On any day class A consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19, (periods of absence from a dwelling) is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 

Page 59



250113 uprated 

(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 
calculated; (see paragraph 29) 

 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his 

applicable amount and 
 
(f)  who has made an application. 

 
Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 
 
14.  On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling) is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount;  

 
(f)  in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 

 
(i)  amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day 

in the applicant’s case; and 
 
(ii)  amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for 

the relevant week and his applicable amount, and 
 

(g)  who has made an application. 
 
Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 
 
15. (1)  On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29) 
 

Page 60



250113 uprated 

(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 
this scheme; 

 
(e)  who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme; and 
 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 

 
(2)  The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the 

dwelling is liable to pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there 
is an alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case 
of that person which is derived from the income, or aggregate income, of one or 
more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

 
(3)  Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who— 

 
(a)  is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls 

to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; 
 
(b)  is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the 

provisions of section 9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and 
several liability for tax); 

 
(c)  is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a 

polygamous marriage where the applicant is a member of that couple or of 
that marriage and— 

 
(i)  in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person 

who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act (persons 
disregarded for the purposes of discount), falls to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount; or 

 
(ii)  in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that 

marriage are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 
1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

 
(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant falls within the same 

paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay 
council tax) as applies in the case of the applicant; or 

 
(e)  is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of 

whom fall within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 
Act where two or more of those persons are not persons who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the 
purposes of discount. 

 
Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount (no protection) 
 
16.  On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

Page 61



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29B) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable 

amount, and 
 
(f)  who has made an application. 

 
16a. 
 
Class D1: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount (with protection) 
 
On any day class D1 consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29A) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable 

amount,  
 
(f)  who has made an application, and  
 
(g)  who is either entitled to one of the following themselves or a dependant in 

their household is entitled to one of the following: 
 
 disability premium as set out in Schedule 3 
 enhanced disability premium as set out in Schedule 3 
 disabled earnings disregard as set out in Schedule 7 
 disability living allowance  
 personal independence payment 
 lower and higher rate Incapacity Benefit 

disabled person’s reduction under the Council Tax (Reductions for 
Disabilities) Regulations 1992   

 war disablement pension  
 war widow’s pension and war widower’s pension 

Page 62



250113 uprated 

 guaranteed income payment  
 
16b. 
 
Class D2: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable 
amount (with protection - carers) 
 
 
On any day class D2 consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29A) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable 

amount,  
 
(f)  who has made an application, and  
 
(g)  who is either in receipt of a carer’s allowance or their partner is in receipt 

of a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA.  
 
Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount 
 
17.  On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29B) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount 

calculated in accordance with paragraph 25 and Schedule 3; 
 
(f)  in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 
 

Page 63



250113 uprated 

(i)  amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
 
(ii)  amount B is 4 2/7 per cent of the difference between his income for 

the relevant week and his applicable amount, and 
 

(g)  who has made an application.  
 
 
17.1 
 
Class E1 - persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount (with protection) 
 
  On any day class E1 consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not 

absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29A) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount 

calculated; 
 
(f)  who is either entitled to one of the following themselves or a dependant in 

their household is entitled to one of the following: 
 
 disability premium as set out in Schedule 3 
 enhanced disability premium as set out in Schedule 3 
 disabled earnings disregard as set out in Schedule 7 
 disability living allowance  
 personal independence payment 
 lower and higher rate Incapacity Benefit 

disabled person’s reduction under the Council Tax (Reductions for 
Disabilities) Regulations 1992   

 war disablement pension  
 war widow’s pension and war widower’s pension 

 guaranteed income payment  
 

  (g)  in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 
 

(i)  amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
 
(ii)  amount B is 4 2/7 per cent of the difference between his income for 

the relevant week and his applicable amount, and 
 

Page 64



250113 uprated 

(h)  who has made an application. 
 
17.2  
 
Class E2 - persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount (with protection - carers) 
 
  On any day class E2 consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a)  who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of 
which he is a resident; 

 
(b)  who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from the dwelling), is 

not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
 
(c)  in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be 

calculated; (see paragraph 29A) 
 
(d)  who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme; 
 
(e)  whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount  
 
(f)  who is either in receipt of a Carer’s Allowance or their partner is in receipt 

of a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 
 
(g)  in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 
 

(i)  amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
 
(ii)  amount B is 4 2/7 per cent of the difference between his income for 

the relevant week and his applicable amount, and 
 

(h)  who has made an application. 
 
18.  Spare  
 
 
 
Periods of absence from a dwelling 
 
19. (1)  A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a 

period of temporary absence from that dwelling. 
 

(2)  In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means— 
 

(a)  a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first 
whole day on which a person resides in residential accommodation where 
and for so long as— 

 
(i)  the person resides in that accommodation; 
 

Page 65



250113 uprated 

(ii)  the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-
let; and 

 
(iii)  that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of 

absence from the dwelling of more than 52 weeks, where he has 
entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether 
it suits his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it 
proves not to suit his needs; 

 
(b)  a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day of absence from the dwelling, where and for so long as— 
 

(i)  the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
 

(ii)  the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-
let; and 

 
(iii)  that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

 
(c)  a period of absence not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day of that absence, where and for so long as— 
 

(i)  the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-

let; 
 
(iii)  the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and 
 
(iv)  the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in 

exceptional circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that 
period. 

 
(3)  This sub-paragraph applies to a person who— 

 
(a)  is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition 

of bail, to reside— 
 

(i)  in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), 
or 

 
(ii)  in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management 

Act 2007, or is detained in custody pending sentence upon 
conviction; 

 
(b)  is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 

 
(c)  is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, in the 

United Kingdom or elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved 
convalescence, in accommodation other than residential accommodation; 

 
(d)  is following, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, a training course; 

Page 66



250113 uprated 

 
(e)  is undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in the United 

Kingdom or elsewhere; 
 
(f)  is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily 

absent from the dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for 
the purpose of receiving medically approved care or medical treatment; 

 
(g)  is, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, receiving medically approved care 

provided in accommodation other than residential accommodation; 
 

(h)  is a student; 
 
(i)  is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a 

person to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies; or 
 

(j)  has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, 
or by a person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first 
mentioned. 

 
(4)  This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 

 
(a)  detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a 

sentence imposed by a court (other than a person who is detained in 
hospital under the provisions of the Mental Health Act 1983, or, in 
Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or in 
Northern Ireland under article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1986  

 
(b)  on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made 

under the provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 
1989. 

 
(5)  Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on 

temporary release— 
 

(a)  if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of 
temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, 
for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), as if he continues to be absent from 
the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

 
(b)  for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he 

remains in detention; 
 
(c)  if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a 

person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he 
is a resident. 

 
(6)  In this paragraph— 

“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner; 

Page 67



250113 uprated 

“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an 
in-patient in any hospital or similar institution; 

“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in— 
 

(a)  a care home; 
 
(b)  an independent hospital; 

 
(c)  an Abbeyfield Home; or 
 
(d)  an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal 

Charter or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social 
services authority; 

 
“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or 
partly by or on behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or 
approved by or on behalf of, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, 
Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government department or the Secretary of 
State. 

 
PART 5 

Classes of person excluded from this scheme 
 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme 
 
20.  The classes of person described in paragraphs 21 to 24 are not entitled to a 

reduction under this scheme. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great 
Britain 
 
21. (1)  The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person treated 

as not being in Great Britain. 
 

(2)  Except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be 
treated as not being in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

 
(3)  A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the 

Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person 
has a right to reside in one of those places. 

 
(4)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right 

which exists by virtue of, or in accordance with— 
 

(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations or Article 6 of Council Directive 
No.2004/38/EC;  

(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where 
the right exists under that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 
regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 

Page 68



250113 uprated 

(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those 
Regulations) of such a jobseeker; 

(ab) Article 45 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union (in 
a case where the person is seeking work in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland); or  

 
(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right 

exists under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in 
paragraph (4A) of that regulation or Article 20 of the Treaty on the 
Functioning of the European Union (in a case where the right to reside 
arises because a British citizen would otherwise be deprived of the genuine 
enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

 
(5)  A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is— 

 
(a)  a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations  

as a worker or a self-employed person; 
 
(b)  a family member of a person referred to in paragraph (a) within the 

meaning of regulation 7(1) (a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations; 
 

(c)  a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by 
virtue of regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 

 
(d)  a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the 

definition in Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees 
done at Geneva on 28th July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the 
Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees done at New York on 31st 
January 1967; 

 
(e)  person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, 

leave outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 
1971(b) where that leave is— 

(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession(c) 

which came into effect on 1st April 2012, or 
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 

Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005(d); 
  

(f)      a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;  
 

(g)  a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the 
meaning of section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and 
who is in the United Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or 
other removal by compulsion of law from another country to the United 
Kingdom. 

(h) in receipt of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

(i) a person who is treated as a worker for the purpose of the definition of 
“qualified person” in regulation 6(1) of the EEA Regulations pursuant to 

Page 69



250113 uprated 

regulation 5 of the Accession of Croatia (Immigration and Worker 
Authorisation) Regulations 2013(d) (right of residence of a Croatian 
who is an “accession State national subject to worker authorisation”)”. 

 
(6)  A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or 

member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 
 
(7)  A person mentioned in sub-paragraph 6 is posted overseas if the person is 

performing overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s 
forces and was, immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive 
postings, habitually resident in the United Kingdom. 

 
(8)  In this paragraph –  

 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration 
and Asylum Act 1999; 
 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the 
Crown. 
 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) 
Regulations 2006. 

 
“Her Majesty’s Forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006. 

 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control 
 
22. (1)  “Subject to paragraph (1A), Persons subject to immigration control are not 

entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 
 
  (1A) A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European 

Convention on Social and Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 
1953) or a state which has ratified the Council of Europe Social Charter (signed 
in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is lawfully present in the United 
Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the purpose of 
paragraph (1). 

 
 (2)  “Person subject to immigration control” has the meaning given in section 115(9) 

of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit 
 
23. – (1)  The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person in 

classes A to C whose capital exceeds £16,000 or any person who is in any 
other class whose capital exceeds £6,000.  

 
 (2)  Capital for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) is to be calculated in accordance 

with Part 10 of this scheme. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: students 
 

Page 70



250113 uprated 

24. (1)  The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to 
whom paragraph 75(1) applies.  

 
PART 6 

Applicable amounts  
 
Applicable amounts: pensioners  
 
25. (1)  The applicable amount for a pensioner (including pensioners in polygamous 

marriages by virtue of paragraph 5 of the scheme) for a week is the aggregate 
of such of the following amounts as apply in his case— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of his personal allowance, determined in accordance 

with paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 (personal allowance); 
 

(b)  an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his 
family, determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule (child 
or young person amounts); 

 
(c)  if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or 

young person, an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of 
that Schedule (family premium); 

 
(d)  the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined 

in accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums). 
 

(2)  In Schedule 2— 
 

“additional spouse” means a spouse of either party to a marriage which is a 
polygamous marriage who is additional to the party to the marriage; 
 
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of 
imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as 
receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) 
of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

 
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 
 
26. (1)  Subject to paragraph 27, the applicable amount for a week for a person who is 

not a pensioner is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply 
in his case— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an 

amount in respect of both of them, determined in accordance with 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 3; 

 
(b)  an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his 

family, determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule; 
 
(c)  if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or 

young person, an amount determined in accordance with Part 2 of that 
Schedule (family premium); 

Page 71



250113 uprated 

 
(d)  the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined 

in accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 
 

(e)  the amount of either the— 
 

(i)  work-related activity component; or 
 
(ii) support component,  
 
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that 
Schedule (the components)  

 
(f)  the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 

accordance with Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 
 

(2)  In Schedule 3— 
 
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is 
additional to the party to the marriage; 
 
“converted employment and support allowance” means an employment and 
support allowance which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled 
as a result of a conversion decision within the meaning of the Employment and 
Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 2008; 
 
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of 
imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as 
receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) 
of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

 
Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners 
 
27.  (1).  This paragraph applies where an applicant who is not a pensioner is a member 
  of a polygamous marriage. 
 

(2)  The applicable amount for a week of an applicant where this paragraph applies 
is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case— 
 
(a)  the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in 

accordance with paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 3 as if he and that partner 
were a couple; 

 
(b)  an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub-

paragraphs (3) and (1)(b) of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in respect of 
each of his other partners; 

 
(c)  an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule 

(main phase employment and support allowance) in respect of any child or 
young person for whom he or a partner of his is responsible and who is a 
member of the same household; 

 

Page 72



250113 uprated 

(d)  if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a 
child or young person who is a member of the same household, the 
amount specified in Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium); 

 
(e)  the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined 

in accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 
 

(f)  the amount of either the— 
 

(i)  work-related activity component; or 
 

(ii)  support component, 
 

which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that 
Schedule (the components); 

 
(g)  the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 

accordance with Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 
 
 
28.  Spare 
 

PART 7 
Maximum council tax reduction amount for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 

reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: Classes A to C pensioners  
 
29. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), the amount of a person’s maximum council 

tax reduction in respect of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B where— 
 

(a)  A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for 
which he is liable, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to 
that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and 

 
(b)  B is the number of days in that financial year, 
 
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 30 (non-dependant deductions: pensioners)  

 
(2)  In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any 

reduction in the amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, 
which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 
Act (other than a reduction under this scheme), is to be taken into account. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable 

for council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more 
other persons, in determining the maximum council tax reduction in his case in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A is to be divided by the 
number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

 

Page 73



250113 uprated 

(4)  Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a 
dwelling with only his partner, sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in his case. 

 
(5)  The reference in sub-paragraph (3) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly 

and severally liable for council tax, where the applicant is not a pensioner, does 
not include a student to whom paragraph 75(1) (entitlement of students to a 
reduction under this scheme) applies.  

 
(6)  In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular 

day, the financial year within which the day in question falls. 
 
Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: Classes D1, D2, E1 and E2: 
persons who are not pensioners 
 
29A. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), the amount of a person’s maximum council 

tax reduction in respect of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B where— 
 

(a)  A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for 
which he is liable, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to 
that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and 

 
(b)  B is the number of days in that financial year, 
 
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 31 (non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(2)  In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any 

reduction in the amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, 
which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 
Act (other than a reduction under this scheme), is to be taken into account. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable 

for council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more 
other persons, in determining the maximum council tax reduction in his case in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A is to be divided by the 
number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

 
(4)  Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a 

dwelling with only his partner, sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in his case. 
 

(5)  The reference in sub-paragraph (3) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly 
and severally liable for council tax, where the applicant is not a pensioner, does 
not include a student to whom paragraph 75(1) (entitlement of students to a 
reduction under this scheme) applies.  

 
(6)  In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular 

day, the financial year within which the day in question falls. 
 
Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: Classes D and E persons who 
are not pensioners  
 

Page 74



250113 uprated 

29B. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), the amount of a person’s maximum council 
tax reduction in respect of a day is 80 per cent of the amount A/B where— 

 
(a)  A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant 

financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for 
which he is liable, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to 
that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and 

 
(b)  B is the number of days in that financial year, 
 
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 31 (non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(2)  In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any 

reduction in the amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, 
which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 
Act (other than a reduction under this scheme), is to be taken into account. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable 

for council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more 
other persons, in determining the maximum council tax reduction in his case in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A is to be divided by the 
number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

 
(4)  Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a 

dwelling with only his partner, sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in his case. 
 

(5)  The reference in sub-paragraph (3) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly 
and severally liable for council tax does not include a student to whom 
paragraph 75(1) (entitlement of students to a reduction under this scheme) 
applies. 

 
(6)  In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular 

day, the financial year within which the day in question falls. 
 
Non-dependant deductions: pensioners  
 
30. (1)  Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant 

deductions for Classes A, B and C (pensioners) in respect of a day referred to 
in paragraph 29 are— 

 
(a)  in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, 

£11.25 x 1/7; 
 
(b)  in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) 

does not apply, £3.70 x 1/7. 
 

(2)  In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (1)(a) 
applies, where it is shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross 
weekly income is— 

 

Page 75



250113 uprated 

(a)  less than £188.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is that 
specified in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 

 
(b)  not less than £188.00 but less than £326.00, the deduction to be made 

under this paragraph is £7.45 x 1/7; 
 

(c)  not less than £326.00 but less than £406.00, the deduction to be made 
under this paragraph is £9.40 x 1/7. 

 
(3)  Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple 

or, as the case may be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for 
this paragraph, the amount that would fall to be deducted in respect of one 
member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than the amount (if any) 
that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, member, the 
higher amount is to be deducted. 

 
(4)  In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the 

case may be, a polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of 
that sub-paragraph, to the couple’s or, as the case may be, all members of the 
polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

 
(5)  Where in respect of a day— 

 
(a)  a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax 

in respect of that dwelling and that day; 
 
(b)  other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several 

liability for council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise 
than by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil 
partners); and 

 
(c)  the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or 

more of the liable persons,  
 

the deduction in respect of that non-dependant must be apportioned 
equally between those liable persons.  

 
(6)  No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an 

applicant’s dwelling if the applicant or his partner is— 
 

(a) blind or treated as blind and in consequence registered in a register 
compiled by a local authority under section 29 of the National Assistance 
Act 1948 (welfare services) or in Scotland, has been certified as blind and 
in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of 
a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) 
Act 1994.  A person who has ceased to be registered as blind on regaining 
his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as blind for a period  of 28 weeks 
following the date on which he ceased to be so registered.   

 
(b)  receiving in respect of himself— 

 
(i)  attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for— 

Page 76



250113 uprated 

 
(aa)  a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 

section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
 
(bb)  an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

 
(ii)  the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be 

receiving that component but for— 
 

(aa)  a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

 
(bb)  an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

 
(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would 

be receiving that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance 
with regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital 
in-patients). 

 
(d) An AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in 

accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation 
scheme which allows for a suspension because a person is undergoing 
medical treatment in a hospital or similar institution. 

 
(7)  No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if— 
 

(a)  although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his 
normal home is elsewhere; or 

 
(b)  he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth 

training established under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; 
or 

 
(c)  he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or 
 
(d)  he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a 

period in excess of 52 weeks, and for these purposes— 
 

(i)  “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6), and 
 
(ii) where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods 

separated by one or more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he 
is to be treated as having been a patient continuously for a period 
equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods. 

(e)    he is not residing with the applicant because he is a member of the regular 
    forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the  

 Armed Forces Act 2006(a)) who is absent, while on operations, from the 
 dwelling usually occupied as their home.” 

 
(8)  No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant— 

 

Page 77



250113 uprated 

(a)  who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

 
(b)  to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for 

purposes of discount) but this paragraph does not apply to a non-
dependant who is a student to whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers. 

 
(9)  In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non-

dependant’s weekly gross income— 
 

(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance, personal 
independence payment or an AFIP received by him; 

 
(b)  any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 

MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the 
Independent Living Fund (2006) which are paid as income in kind  (the 
reference to income in kind does not include a payment to a third party 
made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant) and   

 
(c)  the payments set out in sub-paragraph 10 
 

(10)  The payments set out in sub-paragraph (9) are –  
 

(a) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 
MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the 
Independent Living Fund (2006); 

 
(b)  any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered 

from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from 
a payment made  under or by any of the Trusts to which paragraph (a) 
refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

 
(i) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or 

where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with 
whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved 
or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time 
of that person’s death; 
 

(ii) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such 
a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 
(iii)  any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who 

was such a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 
 
(c)  any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person 

who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a 
qualifying person provided that the partner or former partner and that 
person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have 
formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, 

Page 78



250113 uprated 

if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death, 
which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which 
paragraph (a) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

 
(i) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 

person; 
 

(ii)  any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such 
a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 
(iii)  any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who 

was such a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 
 
(d)  any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a 

qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the 
Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers, where— 
(i) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not 

estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young 
person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 

 
(ii) the payment is made either— 

(aa)  to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 (bb) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a 

young person or a student who has not completed his full-time 
education and has no parent or step-parent,  

 
 to his guardian, but only for a period from the date of the payment until the 

end of two years from that person’s death; 
 
(e) any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia 

or who was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by 
any of the Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers, where— 

 
(i) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no 

partner or former partner from whom he was not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has 
not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 

 
(ii) the payment is made either— 

(aa)  to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(bb)  where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young 

person or a student who had not completed his full-time 
education and had no parent or stepparent, 

 
 to his guardian, but only for a period of two years from the relevant date; 
 
(f)  in the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred 

to in this sub-paragraph is made, any income which derives from any 
payment of income or capital made under or deriving from any of the 
Trusts. 

Page 79



250113 uprated 

 
 (11) The amounts and ranges  of earnings shown in this paragraph may be subject 

to uprating that is prescribed by the government and if so, the uprated amounts 
notified to the authority shall be deemed to apply to the authority scheme with 
effect from the relevant year commencing 1st April.     

 
Non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners  
 
30A. (1)  Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant 

deductions for Classes D, D1, D2, E, E1 and E2 (persons who are not 
pensioners) in respect of a day referred to in paragraphs 29A or 29B as 
applicable  are— 

 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, 

£19.80 x 1/7;  
 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in receipt of Job Seekers 

Allowance (Contribution Based) or Employment Support Allowance 
(Contribution Based), £6.60 x 1/7; 

 
(c) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in receipt of Job Seekers 

Allowance (Income Based), £6.60 x 1/7 
 
(d)  in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraphs 

(a), (b), or (c) do not apply, £6.60 x 1/7. 
 

(2)  In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (1)(a) 
applies, where it is shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross 
weekly income is— 

 
(a)  less than £183.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is that 

specified in sub-paragraph (1)(d); 
 
(b)  not less than £183.00 but less than £316.00, the deduction to be made 

under this paragraph is £13.10; 
 

(c)  not less than £316.00 but less than £394.00, the deduction to be made 
under this paragraph is £16.50. 

 
(3)  Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple 

or, as the case may be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for 
this paragraph, the amount that would fall to be deducted in respect of one 
member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than the amount (if any) 
that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, member, the 
higher amount is to be deducted. 

 
(4)  In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the 

case may be, a polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of 
that sub-paragraph, to the couple’s or, as the case may be, all members of the 
polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

 
(5)  Where in respect of a day— 

Page 80



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax 

in respect of that dwelling and that day; 
 
(b)  other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several 

liability for council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise 
than by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil 
partners); and 

 
(c)  the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or 

more of the liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant 
must be apportioned equally between those liable persons. 

 
(6)  No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an 

applicant’s dwelling if the applicant or his partner is— 
 

(a)  blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 
(additional condition for the disability premium); or 

 
(b)  receiving in respect of himself either — 

 
(i)  attendance allowance,— 
 
(ii)  the care component of the disability living allowance 
 
(iii)  the daily living component of personal independence payment,  

 
(7)  No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if— 

(a)  although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his 
normal home is elsewhere; or 

 
(b)  he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth 

training established under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; 
or 

 
(c)  he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or 
 
(d)  he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a 

period in excess of 52 weeks, and for these purposes— 
 

(i)  “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6) of this scheme, 
and 

 
(ii)  where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods 

separated by one or more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he 
is to be treated as having been a patient continuously for a period 
equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods. 

 
(8)  No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant— 

 

Page 81



250113 uprated 

(a)  who is on income support, state pension credit or an income-related 
employment and support allowance; or 

 
(b)  to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for 

purposes of discount) but this paragraph does not apply to a non-
dependant who is a student to whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers. 

 
(9)  In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non-

dependant’s weekly gross income— 
 

(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal 
independence payment received by him; 

 
(b)  any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 

MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the 
Independent Living Fund (2006) which, had his income fallen to be 
calculated under paragraph 54 (calculation of income other than earnings: 
persons who are not pensioners), would have been disregarded under 
paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (income in kind); and 

 
(c)  any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under 

paragraph 54, would have been disregarded under paragraph 41 of 
Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and certain other 
payments). 

 
PART 8 

Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility 
for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 

 
Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners  
 
31. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the alternative maximum council tax 

reduction in respect of a day where the conditions set out in paragraph 15 
(alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners) are fulfilled, is the 
amount determined in accordance with Schedule 4 (amount of alternative 
council tax reduction). 

 
(2)  Subject to sub-paragraph (3), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable 

for council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more 
other persons, in determining the alternative maximum council tax reduction in 
his case, the amount determined in accordance with Schedule 4 must be 
divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that 
tax. 

 
(3)  Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a 

dwelling with only his partner, solely by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act 
(liability of spouses and civil partners), sub-paragraph (2) does not apply in his 
case. 

 
PART 9 

Amount of reduction under this scheme 
 

Page 82



250113 uprated 

Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to E2 
 
32. (1)  Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, 

the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled is as follows.  
 

(2)  Where the person is within either class A, D1 or D2, that amount is the amount 
which is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case. 

 
(3)  Where the person is within class B, that amount is found by deducting amount B 

from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in 
paragraph 14(f).  

 
(3a)  Where the person is within either class E1 or E2, that amount is the amount 

found by deducting amount B from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount 
B” have the meanings given in paragraph 17.1 (g) for E1 and 17.2 (g) for E2 
respectively.  

 
(3b) Where the person is within class D, that amount is the amount which is the 

maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case.  
 
(3c)  Where the person is within class E, that amount is the is the amount found by 

deducting amount B from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have 
the meanings given in paragraph 17(f).   

 
(4)  Where the person is within class C, that amount is the amount which is the 

alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case. 

 
(5)  Sub-paragraph (6) applies where both— 

 
(a)  sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), and 
 
(b)  sub-paragraph (4), apply to a person. 
 

(6)  The amount of the reduction to which the person is entitled is whichever is the 
greater of— 

 
(a)  the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph 

(3), as the case may be, and 
 
(b)  the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (4). 

 
PART 10 

Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under 
this scheme and amount of reduction 

 
CHAPTER 1 

Income and capital: general 
 
Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 
 

Page 83



250113 uprated 

33. (1)  The income and capital of— 
 

(a)  an applicant; and 
 
(b)  any partner of that applicant, 
 
is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part. 

 
(2)  The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as 

income and capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the 
applicant applies equally to any partner of that applicant. 

 
(3)  Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married polygamously to 

two or more members of his household— 
 

(a)  the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging 
to each such member; and 

 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 

the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 
 
Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as 
applicant’s 
 
34. (1)  Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-

dependant and an applicant have entered into arrangements in order to take 
advantage of this scheme and the non-dependant has more income and capital 
than the applicant. 

 
(2)  Except where— 

 
(a)  the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or 
 
(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based 

jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit,  

 
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing income and capital 
belonging to that non-dependant and, in such a case, any income and capital 
which the applicant does possess is to be disregarded. 

 
(3)  Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a 

non-dependant under sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-
dependant must be calculated in accordance with the following provisions of 
this Part in like manner as for the applicant and, except where the context 
otherwise requires, any reference to the “applicant” is to be construed for the 
purposes of this Part as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit 
 
Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 

Page 84



250113 uprated 

 
35.  In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner and who is in receipt, or whose 

partner is in receipt, of a guarantee credit, the whole of his capital and income 
must be disregarded. 

 
Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: 
pensioners 
 
36. (1)  In determining the income and capital of an applicant who is a pensioner and 

who has, or whose partner has, an award of state pension credit comprising 
only the savings credit, subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the 
authority must use the calculation or estimate of the applicant's or as the case 
may be, the applicant's partner's income and capital made by the Secretary of 
State for the purpose of determining the award of state pension credit. 

 
(2)  Where the calculation or estimate provided by the Secretary of State includes 

the amount taken into account in that determination in respect of net income, 
the authority may only adjust that amount so far as necessary to take into 
account— 

 
(a)  the amount of any savings credit payable; 
 
(b)  in respect of any dependent children of the applicant, child care charges 

taken into account under paragraph 57(1)(c) (calculation of income on a 
weekly basis); 

 
(c)  the higher amount disregarded under this scheme in respect of— 

 
(i)  lone parent's earnings; or 
 
(ii)  payments of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which 

is made or due to be made by— 
 

(aa)  the applicant's former partner, or the applicant's partner's 
former partner; or 

 
(bb)  the parent of a child or young person where that child or young 

person is a member of the applicant's family except where that 
parent is the applicant or the applicant's partner; 

 
(d)  any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5 

(sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners) 
 
(e)  the income and capital of any partner of the applicant who is treated as a 

member of the applicant's household under paragraph 8, to the extent that 
it is not taken into account in determining the net income of the person 
claiming state pension credit; 

 
(f)  paragraph 34 (circumstances in which capital and income of a non-

dependant is to be treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that 
that provision applies in the applicant's case; 

 

Page 85



250113 uprated 

(g)  such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 
13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act; (power of billing authority to reduce amount of 
council tax payable) 

 
(h)  any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 6 of Schedule 5 

(exempt work). 
 

(3)  Paragraphs 39 to 46 (calculation of income: pensioners) and 57 to 61 
(calculation of income: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners) do not 
apply to the amount of the net income to be taken into account under sub-
paragraph (1), but do apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining 
any adjustments to that amount which the authority makes under sub-paragraph 
(2). 

 
(4)  If sub-paragraph (5) applies, the authority must calculate the applicant's capital 

in accordance with paragraphs 63, 65 to 68 and 70 (calculation of capital: 
pensioners). 

 
(5)  This sub-paragraph applies if— 

 
 (a)  the Secretary of State notifies the authority that the applicant's capital has 

been determined as being £16,000 or less or the authority determines his 
capital as being £16,000 or less; 

 
(b)  subsequent to that determination the applicant's capital rises to more than 

£16,000; and 
 
(c)  the increase occurs whilst there is in force an assessed income period 

within the meaning of sections 6 and 9 of the State Pension Credit Act 
2002. 

 
CHAPTER 3 

Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit 
 
Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an 
award of universal credit   
 
37. (1)  In determining the income of an applicant— 
 

(a)  who has, or 
 
(b)  whose partner has, or 

 
(c) who (jointly with his partner) has,  

 
an award of universal credit the authority must use the calculation or estimate of 
the income of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case 
may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the 
award of Universal Credit, or as appropriate, the amount of income provided to 
the authority by the applicant. 

 
(2)  In determining the capital of an applicant— 

Page 86



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  who has, or 
 
(b)  whose partner has, or 
 
(c)  who (jointly with his partner) has, 
 
an award of Universal Credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate 
of the capital of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the 
case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining 
the award of Universal Credit or, as appropriate, the amount of capital provided 
to the authority by the applicant. 
 

 
CHAPTER 4 

Income: other pensioners 
 
Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: 
pensioners 
 
38.  Where neither paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: 

pensioners) nor 36 (applicant in receipt of savings credit only: pensioners)  
applies in the applicant's case, his income and capital is to be calculated or 
estimated in accordance with paragraphs 39 to 46 and 57 to 62 (calculation of 
income) and Chapter 7 of this Part (calculation of capital). 

 
Meaning of “income”: pensioners 
 
39. (1)  For the purposes of classes A to C in this scheme, “income” means income of 

any of the following descriptions— 
 

(a)  earnings; 
 
(b)  working tax credit; 
 
(c)  retirement pension income within the meaning of the State Pension Credit 

Act 2002; 
 
(d)  income from annuity contracts (other than retirement pension income); 
 
(e)  a war disablement pension or war widow's or widower’s pension; 
 
(f)  a foreign war disablement pension or war widow's or widower's pension; 
 
(g)  a guaranteed income payment; 
 
(h)  a payment made under article 29(1)(c) of the Armed Forces and Reserve 

Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, in any case where article 
31(2)(c) applies; 

 
(i)  income from capital other than capital disregarded under Part 1 of 

Schedule 9; 

Page 87



250113 uprated 

 
(j)  social security benefits, other than retirement pension income or any of the 

following benefits— 
 

(i)  disability living allowance; 
 
(ii)  personal independence payment; 
 
(iii) an AFIP 

 
(iv)  attendance allowance payable under section 64 of the SSCBA 

(entitlement to attendance allowance); 
 
(v)  an increase of disablement pension under section 104 (increase for 

constant attendance) or 105 of that Act (increase for exceptionally 
severe disablement); 

 
(vi)  child benefit; 
 
(vii)  any guardian's allowance payable under section 77 of the SSCBA 

(guardian’s allowance); 
 

(viii)  any increase for a dependant, other than the applicant's partner, 
payable in accordance with Part 4 of that Act (increases for 
dependant’s); 

 
(ix)  any  
 

(aa) social fund payment made under Part 8 of the SSCBA (the 
social Fund), or  

(bb)  occasional assistance  
 
(x)  Christmas bonus payable under Part 10 of that Act (Christmas bonus 

for pensioners); 
 
(xi)  housing benefit; 

 
(xii)  council tax benefit; 
 
(xiii)  bereavement payment; 
 
(xiv)  statutory sick pay; 
 
(xv)  statutory maternity pay; 
 
(xvi) ordinary statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the 

SSCBA; 
 
(xvii) additional statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the 

SSCBA; 
 

Page 88



250113 uprated 

(xviii) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act 
(statutory adoption pay); 

 
(xix)  any benefit similar to those mentioned in the preceding provisions of 

this paragraph payable under legislation having effect in Northern 
Ireland; 

 
(k)  all foreign social security benefits which are similar to the social security 

benefits mentioned above; 
 

(l)  a payment made— 
 

(i)  under article 30 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (award for 
children who have reached the child’s age limit), in any case where 
article 30(1)(b) applies; or 

 
(ii)  under article 12(8) of that Order (unemployability allowances: 

children who have reached the child’s age limit) , in any case where 
sub-paragraph (b) of that article applies; 

 
(m)  a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any 

special provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or 
any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria; 

 
(n)  payments under a scheme made under the Pneumoconiosis etc. 

(Worker's Compensation) Act 1979; 
 
(o)  payments made towards the maintenance of the applicant by his spouse, 

civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner or towards the 
maintenance of the applicant's partner by his spouse, civil partner, former 
spouse or former civil partner, including payments made— 

 
(i)  under a court order; 
 
(ii)  under an agreement for maintenance; or 
 
(iii)  voluntarily; 

 
(p) payments due from any person in respect of board and lodging 

accommodation provided by the applicant; 
 
(q)  royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right 

to use, any copyright, design, patent or trade mark; 
 
(r)  any payment in respect of any— 
 

(i)  book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 
(ii)  work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; 
 

Page 89



250113 uprated 

(s)  any payment, other than a payment ordered by a court or made in 
settlement of a claim, made by or on behalf of a former employer of a 
person on account of the early retirement of that person on grounds of ill-
health or disability; 

 
(t)  any sum payable by way of pension out of money provided under— 

 
(i)  the Civil List Act 1837 
 
(ii)  the Civil List Act 1937 
 
(iii) the Civil List Act 1952 

 
(iv)  the Civil List Act 1972, or 
 
(v)  the Civil List Act 1975; 

 
(u)  any income in lieu of that specified in paragraphs (a) to (r); 
 
(v)  any payment of rent made to an applicant who— 
 

(i)  owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant 
of any property; 

 
(ii)  occupies part of the property; and 

 
(iii)  has an agreement with another person allowing that person to 

occupy that property on payment of rent; 
 

(w)  any payment made at regular intervals under an equity release scheme; 
 
(x)  PPF periodic payments within the meaning of section 17(1) of the State 

Pension Credit Act 2002. 
 

(2)  Where the payment of any social security benefit referred to in sub-paragraph 
(1) is subject to any deduction (other than an adjustment specified in sub-
paragraph (4)) the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is 
to be the amount before the deduction is made. 

 
(3)  Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit is subject to a 

deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child 
tax credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into 
account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working tax credit or 
child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction. 

 
(4)  The adjustments specified in this sub-paragraph are those made in accordance 

with— 
 

(a)  the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979; 
 
(b)  the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 1975; 
 

Page 90



250113 uprated 

(c)  section 30DD or section 30E of the SSCBA (reductions in incapacity 
benefit in respect of pensions and councillor's allowances); 

 
(d)  section 3 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (deductions from contributory 

employment and support allowance in respect of pensions and councillor's 
allowances) and regulations made under it. 

 
(5)  In sub-paragraph (1)(w), “equity release scheme” means a loan— 

 
(a)  made between a person (“the lender”) and the applicant; 
 
(b)  by means of which a sum of money is advanced by the lender to the 

applicant by way of payments at regular intervals; and 
 
(c)  which is secured on a dwelling in which the applicant owns an estate or 

interest and which he occupies as his home. 
 
Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 
 
40. (1)  Except in a case within sub-paragraph (2) or (4), for the purposes of calculating 

the weekly income of an applicant who is a pensioner, where the period in 
respect of which a payment is made— 

 
(a)  does not exceed a week, the whole of that payment is to be included in the 

applicant’s weekly income; 
 
(b)  exceeds a week, the amount to be included in the applicant’s weekly 

income is to be determined— 
 

(i)  in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of 
the payment by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

 
(ii)  in a case where that period is three months, by multiplying the 

amount of the payment by 4 and dividing the product by 52; 
 
(iii)  in a case where that period is a year, by dividing the amount of the 

payment by 52; 
 
(iv)  in any other case, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 7 and 

dividing the product by the number of days in the period in respect of 
which it is made. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (3) applies where— 

 
(a)  the applicant’s regular pattern of work is such that he does not work the 

same hours every week; or 
 
(b)  the amount of the applicant’s income fluctuates and has changed more 

than once. 
 

(3)  The weekly amount of that applicant’s income is to be determined— 
 

Page 91



250113 uprated 

(a)  if, in a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, there is a recognised 
cycle of work, by reference to his average weekly income over the period 
of the complete cycle (including, where the cycle involves periods in which 
the applicant does no work, those periods but disregarding any other 
absences); or 

 
(b)  in any other case, on the basis of— 

 
(i)  the last two payments if those payments are one month or more 

apart; 
 
(ii)  the last four payments if the last two payments are less than one 

month apart; or 
 
(iii)  calculating or estimating such other payments as may, in the 

particular circumstances of the case, enable the applicant’s average 
weekly income to be determined more accurately. 

 
(4)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) the last payments are the last 

payments before the date the application was made or treated as made. 
 
(5)  If the applicant is entitled to receive a payment to which sub-paragraph (6) 

applies, the amount of that payment is to be treated as if made in respect of a 
period of a year. 

 
(6) This sub-paragraph applies to— 
 

(a)  royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right 
to use, any copyright, design, patent or trade mark; 

 
(b)  any payment in respect of any— 

 
(i)  book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 
(ii)  work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; and 
 

(c)  any payment which is made on an occasional basis. 
 
(7)  The period under which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into 

account is to be the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
 
(8)  Where payments are made in a currency other than Sterling, the value of the 

payment is to be determined by taking the Sterling equivalent on the date the 
payment is made. 

 
(9)  The sums specified in Schedule 5 are to be disregarded in calculating— 

 
(a)  the applicant’s earnings; and 
 

Page 92



250113 uprated 

(b)  any amount to which sub-paragraph (6) applies where the applicant is the 
first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trademark, or an original 
contributor to the book or work referred to in sub-paragraph (6)(b). 

 
(10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9)(b), and for that purpose only, the 

amounts specified in sub-paragraph (6) is to be treated as though they were 
earnings. 

 
(11) Income specified in Schedule 6 is to be disregarded in the calculation of the 

applicant’s income. 
 
(12)  Schedule 9 (capital disregards: pensioners) has effect so that— 
 

(a)  the capital specified in Part 1 is disregarded for the purpose of determining 
an applicant’s income; and 

 
(b)  the capital specified in Part 2 is disregarded for the purpose of determining 

an applicant’s income under paragraph 71 (calculation of tariff income 
from capital: pensioners). 

 
(13)  In the case of any income taken into account for the purpose of calculating a 

person’s income any amount payable by way of tax is disregarded. 
 
Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
 
41. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an 

employed earner who is a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived 
from that employment and includes— 

 
(a)  any bonus or commission; 
 
(b)  any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an 

applicant on account of the termination of his employment by reason of 
redundancy; 

 
(c)  any payment in lieu of notice; 
 
(d)  any holiday pay; 
 
(d) any payment by way of a retainer; 
 
(f)  any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not 

wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the 
duties of the employment, including any payment made by the applicant’s 
employer in respect of— 

 
(i)  travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and 

place of employment; 
 
(ii)  expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the 

care of a member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from 
home; 

Page 93



250113 uprated 

 
(g)  the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been 

taken into account in the computation of a person’s earnings in 
accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social Security 
(Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

 
(h)  statutory sick pay and statutory maternity pay payable by the employer 

under the SSCBA; 
 
(i)  statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of that Act; 
 
(j)  statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act; 
 
(k)  any sums payable under a contract of service— 
 

(i)  for incapacity for work due to sickness or injury; or 
 
(ii)  by reason of pregnancy or confinement. 

 
(2)  Earnings does not include— 

 
(a)  subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
 
(b)  any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily 

incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment; 
 
(c)  any occupational pension; 
 
(d)  any lump sum payment made under the Iron and Steel Re-adaptation 

Benefits Scheme; 
 

(e)  any payment of compensation made pursuant to an award by an 
employment tribunal established under the Employment Tribunals Act 
1996 in respect of unfair dismissal or unlawful discrimination; 

 
(f)  any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s 

participation in a service user group. 
 

(3)  Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(g). 

 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
 
42. (1)  For the purposes of paragraph 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis), the 

earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner derived or likely to be derived from 
employment as an employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to 
paragraph 40(5) and Schedule 5 (sums to be disregarded from earnings: 
pensioners), be his net earnings. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-

paragraph (5) applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings 
of the applicant from that employment over the assessment period, less— 

Page 94



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 

 
(i)  income tax; 
 
(ii)  primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 

 
(b)  one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards 

an occupational pension scheme; 
 
(c)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) in 

respect of any qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 
 
(d)  where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any 

enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to 
statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, ordinary or additional statutory 
paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those 
earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any 
enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to 
primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 

 
(3)  In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable 

periodically as a contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
 

(4)  The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by 
multiplying the daily amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal 
to the number of days in the assessment period; and for the purposes of this 
paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to be determined— 

 
(a)  where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the 

amount of the qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 
365; 

 
(b)  in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by 

the number equal to the number of days in the period to which the 
qualifying contribution relates. 

 
(5)  Where the earnings of an applicant are determined under paragraph 40(2)(b) 

(calculation of weekly income: pensioners) his net earnings is to be calculated 
by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by 

applying to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is 
entitled under section sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 
(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the 
assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate 
of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible 
under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

 

Page 95



250113 uprated 

(b)  an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions 
that would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those 
earnings if such contributions were payable; and 

 
(c)  one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a 

contribution towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the 
earnings so estimated were actual earnings. 

 
Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 
 
43. (1)  Where the earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner consist of earnings from 

employment as a self-employed earner, the weekly amount of his earnings is to 
be determined by reference to his average weekly earnings from that 
employment— 

 
(a)  over a period of one year; or 

 
(b) where the applicant has recently become engaged in that employment or 

there has been a change which is likely to affect the normal pattern of 
business, over such other period (“computation period”) as may, in the 
particular case, enable the weekly amount of his earnings to be 
determined more accurately. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of determining the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant 

to whom sub-paragraph (1)(b) applies, his earnings over the computation period 
are to be divided by the number equal to the number of days in that period and 
the product multiplied by 7. 

 
(3)  The period over which the weekly amount of an applicant’s earnings is 

calculated in accordance with this paragraph is to be his assessment period. 
 
Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners 
 
44. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-

employed earner who is a pensioner, means the gross income of the 
employment. 

 
(2)  “Earnings” in the case of employment as a self-employed earner does not 

include— 
 

(a)  where an applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in 
that dwelling board and lodging accommodation for which payment is 
made, those payments; 

 
(b)  any payment made by a local authority to an applicant— 

 
(i)  with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements 

made under section 22C or 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or, as 
the case may be, section 26(1) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995; 
or 

 

Page 96



250113 uprated 

(ii)  with whom a local authority fosters a child under the Looked After 
Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 or who is a kinship carer under 
those Regulations; 

 
(c)  any payment made by a voluntary organisation in accordance with section 

59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation by 
voluntary organisations); 

 
(d)  any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person 

concerned”) who is not normally a member of the applicant’s household 
but is temporarily in his care, by— 

 
(i) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in 

respect of the person concerned 
 
(ii)  a voluntary organisation; 
 
(iii)  the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National 

Assistance Act 1948; 
 
(iv)  the National Health Service Commissioning Board or a clinical 

commissioning group established under section 14D of the National 
Health Service Act 2006; or 

 
(v)  a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National 

Health Service (Wales) Act 2006; 
 

(e)  any sports award. 
 
Notional income: pensioners 
 
45. (1)  An applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessing— 
 

(a)  subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any retirement pension 
income— 

 
(i)  for which no claim has been made; and 
 
(ii)  to which he might expect to be entitled if a claim for it were made; 
 

(b)  income from an occupational pension scheme which the applicant elected 
to defer. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply to the following where entitlement has 

been deferred— 
 

(a)  a Category A or Category B retirement pension payable under sections 43 
to 55 of the SSCBA; 

 
(b)  a shared additional pension payable under section 55A of the SSCBA; 
 

Page 97



250113 uprated 

(c)  graduated retirement benefit payable under sections 36 and 37 of the 
National Insurance Act 1965. 

 
(3)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), entitlement has been deferred— 

 
(a)  in the case of a Category A or Category B pension, in the circumstances 

specified in section 55(3) of the SSCBA; 
 
(b)  in the case of a shared additional pension, in the circumstances specified 

in section 55C(3) of the SSCBA; and 
 
(c)  in the case of graduated retirement benefit, in the circumstances specified 

in section 36(4) and (4A) of the National Insurance Act 1965. 
 

(4)  This sub-paragraph applies where a person who has attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit— 

 
(a)  is entitled to money purchase benefits under an occupational pension 

scheme or a personal pension scheme; 
 
(b)  fails to purchase an annuity with the funds available in that scheme; and 
 
(c)  either— 

 
(i)  defers in whole or in part the payment of any income which would 

have been payable to him by his pension fund holder, or 
 
(ii)  fails to take any necessary action to secure that the whole of any 

income which would be payable to him by his pension fund holder 
upon his applying for it, is so paid, or 

 
(iii) income withdrawal is not available to him under that scheme. 

 
 (5)  Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the amount of any income foregone is to be 

treated as possessed by that person, but only from the date on which it could be 
expected to be acquired were an application for it to be made. 

 
(6)  The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(i) or 

(ii) applies is to be the maximum amount of income which may be withdrawn 
from the fund and must be determined by the authority, taking account of 
information provided by the pension fund holder. 

 
(7)  The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(iii) 

applies is to be the income that the applicant could have received without 
purchasing an annuity had the funds held under the relevant scheme been held 
under a personal pension scheme or occupational pension scheme where 
income withdrawal was available and is to be determined in the manner 
specified in sub-paragraph (6). 

 
(8)  In sub-paragraph (4), “money purchase benefits” has the same meaning as in 

the Pension Schemes Act 1993. 
 

Page 98



250113 uprated 

(9)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (10) and (12), a person is to be treated as 
possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the purpose of 
securing entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s scheme or increasing 
the amount of the reduction. 

 
(10) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of 

pension or benefit where a person, having made an election in favour of that 
increase of pension or benefit under Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or under 
Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 
2005, changes that election in accordance with regulations made under 
Schedule 5 or 5A to that Act in favour of a lump sum. 

 
(11)  In sub-paragraph (10), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A 

to the SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated 
Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005. 

 
(12) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of any amount of income other 

than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant's 
participation in a service user group. 

 
(13)  Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the 

rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any 
year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant 
as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first 
Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects to apply, to the 
date on which the altered rate is to take effect. 

 
(14)  In the case of an applicant who has, or whose partner has, an award of state 

pension credit comprising only the savings credit, where the authority treats the 
applicant as possessing any benefit at the altered rate in accordance with sub-
paragraph (13), the authority must— 

 
(a)  determine the income and capital of that applicant in accordance with 

paragraph 36(1) (calculation of applicant's income in savings credit only 
cases: pensioners) where the calculation or estimate of that income and 
capital is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but 
not more than 14 days thereafter; and 

 
(b)  treat that applicant as possessing such income and capital at the altered 

rate by reference to the date selected by the relevant authority to apply in 
its area, for the purposes of establishing the period referred to in sub-
paragraph (13). 

 
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), a person is not to be regarded as 

depriving himself of income where— 
 

(a)  his rights to benefits under a registered pension scheme are extinguished 
and in consequence of this he receives a payment from the scheme, and 

 
(b)  that payment is a trivial commutation lump sum within the meaning given 

by paragraph 7 of Schedule 29 to the Finance Act 2004. 
 

Page 99



250113 uprated 

(16)  In sub-paragraph (15), “registered pension scheme” has the meaning given in 
section 150(2) of the Finance Act 2004. 

 
Income paid to third parties: pensioners 
 
46. (1)  Any payment of income, other than a payment specified in sub-paragraph (2) or 

(3), to a third party in respect of an applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated 
as possessed by the applicant. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made 

under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other 
periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made 
by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where— 

 
(a)  a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of 

whom the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that 
person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed 
on that person's estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 
1980; 

 
(b)  the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person 

acting on behalf of the creditors; and 
 
(c)  the person referred to in paragraph (a) and his partner does not possess, 

or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 
 

(3)  Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of any payment of income other 
than earnings, or earnings derived from employment as an employed earner, 
arising out of the applicant's participation in a service user group. 

 
CHAPTER 5 

Income: persons who are not pensioners 
 
Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
47. (1)  Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings 

from employment as an employed earner his average weekly earnings must be 
estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment— 

 
(a)  over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the 

application is made or treated as made and being a period of— 
 

(i)  5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
 
(ii)  2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

 
(b)  whether or not paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant’s 

earnings fluctuate, over such other period preceding the reduction week in 
which the application is made or treated as made as may, in any particular 
case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated more 
accurately. 

 

Page 100



250113 uprated 

(2)  Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period 
specified in sub-paragraph(1)(a)(i) or (ii)— 

 
(a)  if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that 

employment and those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly 
earnings from that employment his average weekly earnings must be 
estimated by reference to those earnings; 

 
(b)  in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant’s average 

weekly earnings and the relevant authority may require the claimant's 
employer to furnish an estimate of the claimant's likely weekly earnings 
pursuant to section 14A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 over 
such period as the relevant authority may require and the claimant's 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to that estimate. 

 
(3)  Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes the authority must 

estimate his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from 
the employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average 
weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must 
not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

 
(4)  For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings are to be calculated 

in accordance with paragraphs 51 and 52 (earnings of employed earners: 
persons who are not pensioners). 

 
Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
48. (1)  Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings 

from employment as a self-employed earner his average weekly earnings must 
be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment over such 
period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be 
estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any case exceed a 
year. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings must be calculated 

in accordance with paragraphs 53, 61 and 62 (earnings and net profit of self 
employed earners). 

 
Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
 
49. (1)  The income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of 

earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such 
period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income may be 
estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any case exceed 
52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph authorises an authority to disregard 
any such income other than that specified in Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in 
the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(2)  The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into 

account is to be the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
 

Page 101



250113 uprated 

(3)  For the purposes of this paragraph income other than earnings is to be 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 54 of this scheme (calculation of 
income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
50. (1)  For the purposes of paragraphs 47 (average weekly earnings of employed 

earners), 49 (average weekly income other than earnings) and 59 (calculation 
of average weekly income from tax credits), where the period in respect of 
which a payment is made— 

 
(a)  does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that 

payment; 
 
(b)  exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined— 

 
(i)  in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of 

the payment by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 
 
(ii)  in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the 

number equal to the number of days in the period to which it relates 
and multiplying the product by 7. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of paragraph 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed 

earners) the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by 
dividing his earnings over the assessment period by the number equal to the 
number of days in that period and multiplying the product by 7. 

 
Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
51. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an 

employed earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means any remuneration 
or profit derived from that employment and includes— 

 
(a)  any bonus or commission; 
 
(b)  any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an 

applicant on account of the termination of his employment by reason of 
redundancy; 

 
(c)  any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as 

compensation for the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents 
loss of income; 

 
(d)  any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination 

or interruption of the employment; 
 
(e)  any payment by way of a retainer; 
 
(f)  any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not 

wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the 

Page 102



250113 uprated 

duties of the employment, including any payment made by the applicant’s 
employer in respect of— 

 
(i)  travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and 

place of employment; 
 
(ii)  expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the 

care of a member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from 
home; 

 
(g)  any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair 
dismissal); 

 
(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of 

the Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, 
remuneration on suspension on medical or maternity grounds, complaints 
to employment tribunals); 

 
(i)  any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums 

to be earnings for social security purposes); 
 

(j)  any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or 
statutory adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland; 

 
(k)  any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who 

for the time being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave 
or is absent from work because he is ill; 

 
(l)  the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been 

taken into account in the computation of a person’s earnings in 
accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social Security 
(Contributions) Regulations 2001. 

 
(2)  Earnings does not include— 

 
(a)  subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
 
(b)  any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily 

incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment; 
 
(c)  any occupational pension; 
 
(d)  any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s 

participation in a service user group. 
 

(3)  Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher 
referred to in sub-paragraph(1)(l). 

 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 

Page 103



250113 uprated 

52. (1)  For the purposes of paragraph 47 (average weekly earnings of employed 
earners: persons who are not pensioners), the earnings of an applicant who is 
not a pensioner derived or likely to be derived from employment as an 
employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraph (2), 
be his net earnings. 

 
(2)  There is to be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where 

applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in 
the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(3)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-

paragraph (6) applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings 
of the applicant from that employment over the assessment period, less— 

 
(a)  any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 

 
(i)  income tax; 
 
(ii)  primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 
 

(b)  one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards 
an occupational pension scheme; 

 
(c)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in 

respect of any qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 
 
(e) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any 

enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to 
statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or 
statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 
any contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the SSCBA. 
 

(4)  In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable 
periodically as a contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

 
(5)  The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by 

multiplying the daily amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal 
to the number of days in the assessment period; and for the purposes of this 
paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to be determined— 

 
(a)  where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the 

amount of the qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 
365; 

 
(b)  in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by 

the number equal to the number of days in the period to which the 
qualifying contribution relates. 

 
(6)  Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 47(2)(b) 

average weekly earnings of employed earners: classes D, D1, D2, E, E1 and 

Page 104



250113 uprated 

E2) his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into account those earnings 
over the assessment period, less— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by 

applying to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is 
entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal 
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to 
be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this sub-
paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

 
(b)  an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions 

that would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those 
earnings if such contributions were payable; and 

 
(c)  one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a 

contribution towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the 
earnings so estimated were actual earnings. 

 
Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
53. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-

employed earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means the gross income 
of the employment. 

 
(2)  “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of 

Schedule 8 refers (payments in respect of a person accommodated with the 
applicant under arrangements made by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health authority, local 
authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
applicant’s care) nor does it include any sports award. 

 
(3)  This paragraph applies to— 

 
(a)  royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right 

to use, any copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 
 
(b)  any payment in respect of any— 

 
(i)  book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 
(ii)  work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the 
applicant is the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trade 
mark, or an original contributor to the book or work concerned. 

 
(4)  Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) 

applies, those earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such 
number of weeks as is equal to the number obtained (and any fraction is to be 
treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) by dividing the earnings by— 

 

Page 105



250113 uprated 

(a)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would 
have been entitled had the payment not been made, plus 

 
(b)  an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be 

disregarded from the payment under Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the 
calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners) as appropriate in 
the applicant’s case. 

 
Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
 
54 (1)  For the purposes of paragraph 49 (average weekly income other than earnings: 

persons who are not pensioners), the income of an applicant who is not a 
pensioner which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account must, 
subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), be his gross income and any capital 
treated as income under paragraph 55 (capital treated as income: persons who 
are not pensioners). 

 
(2)  There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income 

under sub-paragraph (1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 8. 
 

(3)  Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any 
deduction by way of recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-
paragraph (1) must be the gross amount payable. 

 
(4)  Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is 

receiving a contributory employment and support allowance and that benefit has 
been reduced under regulation 63 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, the amount of that benefit to be taken into account is the 
amount as if it had not been reduced. 

 
(5)  Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax 

Credits Act 2002 is subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an 
overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which arose in a previous 
tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be 
the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of 
that deduction. 

 
(6)  Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply where— 

 
(a)  a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and 
 
(b)  that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 

payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 
 

(7)  Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment 
to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (1) in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to 
be calculated by applying the formula— 

 
(A - (B x C)) / D 

 
where— 

Page 106



250113 uprated 

 
A =  the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have 

received had he remained a student until the last day of the academic 
term in which he abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course, less any 
deduction under paragraph 81(5) (costs of travel, books and equipment); 

 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately 

following that which includes the first day of that academic year to the 
reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or 
was dismissed from, his course; 

 
C =  the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the 

£10 disregard, which would have been taken into account as income 
under paragraph 81(2) (treatment of student loans) had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a 
person who was not entitled to a reduction under this scheme immediately 
before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had that person, 
at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 

 
D =  the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

 
(8)  Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the 

amount of a relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment 
period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person to whom 
sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula in sub-
paragraph (8) but as if— 

 
A =  the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or 

would have received, from the first day of the academic year to the day the 
person abandoned the course, or was dismissed from it, less any 
deduction under paragraph 81(5). 

 
(10)  In this paragraph— 

 
“academic year” and “student loan ” have the same meanings as in Part 11 
(students); 
 
“assessment period” means— 

 
(a)  in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period 

beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the 
reduction week which includes the last day of the last quarter for which an 
instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that person; 

 
(b)  in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments 

in a quarter, the period beginning with the reduction week which includes 
the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his 
course and ending with the reduction week which includes— 

 

Page 107



250113 uprated 

(i)  the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of 
the relevant payment would have been due had the payments 
continued; or 

 
(ii)  the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant 

payment was payable to that person, 
 
whichever of those dates is earlier; 
 
“quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year 
beginning on— 

 
(c)  1st January and ending on 31st March; 
 
(d)  1st April and ending on 30th June; 
 
(e)  1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
 
(f)  1st September and ending on 31st December; 

 
“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants referred to in paragraph 76(7) or both. 

 
(11)  For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into 

account under sub-paragraph (1)— 
 

(a)  any payment to which paragraph 41(2) or 51(2) (payments not earnings) 
applies; or 

 
(b)  in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 

of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by 
virtue of regulations made under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of 
such support provided in respect of essential living needs of the applicant 
and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

 
Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners 
 
55. (1)  Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which 

the application is made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent 
revision or supersession, must, if the aggregate of the instalments outstanding 
and the amount of the applicant’s capital otherwise calculated in accordance 
with Chapter 7 of this Part exceeds £6,000, be treated as income. 

 
(2)  Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income. 

 
(3)  Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be 

treated as income. 
 
(4)  Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment 

and Training Act 1973 is to be treated as income. 
 

Page 108



250113 uprated 

(5)  Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to 
the applicant in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that 
such payments are to be made, wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, 
any such periodic payments received by the applicant (but not a payment which 
is treated as capital by virtue of this Part), is to be treated as income. 

 
Notional income: persons who are not pensioners 
 
56. (1)  An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of 

which he has deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a 
reduction under a council tax reduction scheme or increasing the amount of the 
reduction. 

 
(2)  Except in the case of— 

 
(a)  a discretionary trust; 
 
(b)  a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
 
(c)  a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment 

made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant 
has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; 

 
(d)  any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: 

persons who are not pensioners) applies which is administered in the way 
referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); 

 
(e)  any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; 
 
(f)  rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and 

Training Act 1973; 
 

(g)  child tax credit; 
 
(h)  working tax credit, or 
 
(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies,  
 
any income which would become available to the applicant upon application 
being made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as 
possessed by the applicant but only from the date on which it could be expected 
to be acquired were an application made. 

 
(3)  Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-

paragraph (4), made— 
 

(a)  to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is 
a payment of an occupational pension, a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by 
the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

Page 109



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of 

the family (but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is 
not a payment referred to in paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used 
for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is 
liable; 

 
(c)  to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party 

(but not in respect of another member of that family) must be treated as 
possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of 
the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used by or on 
behalf of any member of the family. 

 
(4)  Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made— 

 
(a)  under or by the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) 

Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the 
Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or 
the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

 
(b)  pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary 

coal); 
 

(c)  pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect 
of a person’s participation— 

 
(i)  in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of 

the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 
 
(ii)  in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those 

Regulations; 
 
(iii)  in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of 

those Regulations; 
 
(iv)  in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 

17A(7) of those Regulations; or 
 
(v)  in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 

Regulations; 
 

(d)  in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot 
Scheme; 

 
(e)  in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity 

Scheme; 
 
(f)  in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and 

Enterprise Scheme; 

Page 110



250113 uprated 

 
(g)  under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other 

periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment 
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where— 

 
(i)  a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in 

respect of whom the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the 
estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor 
has been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the 
Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

 
(ii)  the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person 

acting on behalf of the creditors; and 
 
(iii)  the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his 

family does not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other 
income apart from that payment. 

 
(5)  Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the 

rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any 
year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant 
as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first 
Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects, to the date on 
which the altered rate is to take effect. 

 
(6)  Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where— 

 
(a)  an applicant performs a service for another person; and 
 
(b)  that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for 

a comparable employment in the area, the authority must treat the 
applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as is reasonable for that 
employment unless the applicant satisfies the authority that the means of 
that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

 
(7)  Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply— 

 
(a)  to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or 

who is a volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is 
reasonable for him to provide those services free of charge; or 

 
(b)  in a case where the service is performed in connection with— 

 
(i)  the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme 

in accordance with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Regulations 1996, other than where the service is performed in 
connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense Activity 
Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or 

 
(ii)  the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an 

employment or training programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of 
those Regulations for which a training allowance is not payable or, 

Page 111



250113 uprated 

where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the 
person participating in that programme; or 

 
(c)  to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the 

Secretary of State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of 
State) before the placement starts. 

 
(8)  In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience 

which is not undertaken in expectation of payment. 
 

(9)  Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub-
paragraphs (1) to (8), the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the 
purposes of calculating the amount of that income as if a payment had actually 
been made and as if it were actual income which he does possess. 

 
(10)  Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph 

(6) the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the 
amount of those earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if 
they were actual earnings which he does possess except that paragraph 42(2) 
or 52(3) (calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners and 
persons who are not pensioners, respectively) do not apply and his net earnings 
are to be calculated by taking into account those earnings which he is treated 
as possessing, less— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by 

applying to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is 
entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal 
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to 
be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this sub-
paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

 
(b)  an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions 

that would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those 
earnings if such contributions were payable; and 

 
(c)  one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 

towards an occupational or personal pension scheme. 
 

(11)  Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of 
income other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of 
the applicant’s participation in a service user group. 

 
CHAPTER 6 

Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
 
Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
 
57. (1)  Subject to paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an 

applicant is to be calculated on a weekly basis— 

Page 112



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income 

in accordance with this Part;  
 
(b)  by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated— 

 
(i)  if the applicant is a pensioner, under paragraph 71 (tariff income: 

pensioners); 
 
(ii)  if the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, under paragraph 

72 (tariff income: persons who are not pensioners); and 
 

(c)  deducting from the sum of paragraphs (a) and (b) any relevant child care 
charges to which paragraph 58 (treatment of child care charges) applies 
from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income or, in a 
case where the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are met, from those 
earnings plus whichever credit specified in paragraph (b) of that sub-
paragraph is appropriate, up to a maximum deduction in respect of the 
applicant’s family of whichever of the sums specified in sub-paragraph (3) 
applies in his case. 

 
(2)  The conditions of this paragraph are that— 

 
(a)  the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are 

less than the lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever 
of the deductions specified in sub-paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his 
case; and 

 
(b)  that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his 

partner, is in receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 
 

(3)  The maximum deduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be— 
 

(a)  where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom 
relevant child care charges are paid, £175.00 per week; 

 
(b)  where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of 

whom relevant child care charges are paid, £300 per week. 
 

Treatment of child care charges 
 
58. (1)  This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this 

paragraph)  is incurring relevant child care charges and— 
 

(a)  is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 
 
(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; 

or 
 
(c)  is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative 

work and the other— 
 

Page 113



250113 uprated 

(i)  is incapacitated; 
 
(ii)  is an in-patient in hospital; or 
 
(iii)  is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in 

custody awaiting trial or sentence). 
 

(2)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a 
person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies must be treated as engaged in 
remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 weeks during which he— 

 
(a)  is paid statutory sick pay; 
 
(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A 

to 30E of the SSCBA; 
 
(c)  is paid an employment and support allowance; 
 
(d)  is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under 

regulation 4ZA of, and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income 
Support (General) Regulations 1987; or 

 
(e)  is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 

capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) 
Regulations 1975. 

 
(3)  This sub-paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work 

immediately before— 
 

(a)  the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory 
sick pay, short-term incapacity benefit, an employment and support 
allowance or income support on the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

 
(b)  the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the 

case may be. 
 

(4)  In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks 
begins on the day on which the person is first paid income support or on the first 
day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

 
(5)  Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-

paragraphs (6) and (7) apply, and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (10). 

 
(6)  The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided— 

 
(a)  in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in 

respect of the period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on 
the day preceding the first Monday in September following that child’s 
fifteenth birthday; or 

 

Page 114



250113 uprated 

(b)  in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect 
of the period beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the 
day preceding the first Monday in September following that person’s 
sixteenth birthday. 

 
(7)  The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care 

providers listed in sub-paragraph (8) and are not paid— 
 

 (a)  in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
 
(b)  by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of 

any child for whom either or any of them is responsible in accordance with 
paragraph 7 (circumstances in which a person is treated as responsible or 
not responsible for another); or 

 
(c)  in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the 

child’s home. 
 

(8)  The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided— 
 

(a)  out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local 
authority— 

 
(i)  for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning 

on their eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following their fifteenth birthday; or 

 
(ii)  for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on 

their eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following their sixteenth birthday; or 

 
(b)  by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New 

Category of Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; or 
 

(c)  by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010; or 

 
(d)  by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children 

and Families (Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person 
provides is in a school or establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 
of the Child Minding and Day Care Exceptions (Wales) Order 2010; or 

 
(e)  by— 

 
(i)  persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform 

(Scotland) Act 2010; or 
 
(ii)  local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act,  
 
where the care provided is child minding or day care of children within the 
meaning of that Act; or 

 

Page 115



250113 uprated 

(f)  by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of 
the Tax Credits Act 2002; or 

 
(g)  by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the 

Childcare Act 2006; or 
 
(h)  by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 

in circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of 
Part 3 of that Act does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

 
(i)  by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 

in circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of 
Part 3 of that Act does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

 
(j)  by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare 

Act 2006 in circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning 
of “childcare” for the purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of 
that subsection; or 

 
(k)  by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services (England) 

Regulations 2002, the Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the 
Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 in relation to a child 
other than one whom the foster parent is fostering or kinship carer is 
looking after; or 

 
(l)  by a provider of personal care within the meaning of paragraph 1 of 

Schedule 1 to the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) 
Regulations 2010 and being a regulated activity prescribed by those 
Regulations: or  

 
(m)  by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s 

home. 
 

(9)  In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

 
(10)  Relevant child care charges are to be estimated over such period, not 

exceeding a year, as is appropriate in order that the average weekly charge 
may be estimated accurately having regard to information as to the amount of 
that charge provided by the child minder or person providing the care. 

 
(11)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is 

incapacitated where— 
 

(a)  the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged 
not less than 80; 

 
(b)  the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged 

less than 80, and— 
 

Page 116



250113 uprated 

(i)  the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 
(additional condition for the disability premium) is treated as applying 
in his case; and 

 
(ii)  he satisfies that condition or would satisfy it but for his being treated 

as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance 
with regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

 
(c)  the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount 

includes a disability premium on account of the other member’s incapacity 
or the support component or the work-related activity component on 
account of his having limited capability for work; 

 
(d)  the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount would 

include a disability premium on account of the other member’s incapacity 
but for that other member being treated as capable of work by virtue of a 
determination made in accordance with regulations made under section 
171E of the SSCBA; 

 
(e)  the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or 

the work related activity component on account of the other member 
having limited capability for work but for that other member being treated 
as not having limited capability for work by virtue of a determination made 
in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008; 

 
(f)  he is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or 

has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the 
provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA 
(incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and 
for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of 
not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

 
(g)  he is, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or 

been treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days and for this purpose any two or more 
separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period; 

 
(h)  there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 

allowances— 
 

(i)  long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the 
higher rate under Schedule 4 to the SSCBA; 

 
(ii)  attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
 
(iii)  severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA; 
 
(iv)  disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 

 

Page 117



250113 uprated 

(v)  personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012; 

 
(vi)  an AFIP applicable only in the cases of classes A, B , or C 
 
(vii)  increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA; 
 
 (viii) a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or 

under an industrial injuries scheme which is analogous to an 
allowance or increase of disablement pension under sub-paragraph 
(ii), (iv), (v) or (vi) above; 

 
(vix)  main phase employment and support allowance; 

 
(i)  a pension or allowance to which sub-paragraph (vi) or (vii) of paragraph 

(h) above refers was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased 
to be payable in consequence of his becoming a patient, which in this 
paragraph means a person (other than a person who is serving a 
sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who 
is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of 
regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) 
Regulations 2005; 

 
(j)  an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living 

allowance under section 71 of that Act would be payable to that person but 
for— 

 
(i)  a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 

113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
 
(ii)  an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 

 
(k)  the daily living component of personal independence payment would be 

payable to that person but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-
patients); 

 
(l)  In the cases of classes A, B or C an AFIP would be payable to that person 

but for any suspension of payment in accordance with any terms of the 
armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allow for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in hospital 
or a similar institution: 

 
(m)  paragraph (h), (i), (j) or (k) would apply to him if the legislative provisions 

referred to in those paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding 
enactment having effect in Northern Ireland; or 

 
(n)  he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the 

Secretary of State or a clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 1 to the National Health Service Act 2006 or under section 46 of 
the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the 
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern 

Page 118



250113 uprated 

Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

 
(12)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(f) applies to 

the person, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or 
to be treated as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph is, on his again 
becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at the end of that 
period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable, or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
(13)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(g) applies to 

the person, if he then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be 
treated as having, limited capability for work, that paragraph is, on his again 
having, or being treated as having, limited capability for work at the end of that 
period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he has, or is treated 
as having, limited capability for work. 

 
(14)  For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is 

a person— 
 

(a)  to whom an attendance allowance or the care component of disability 
allowance is payable or would be payable but for— 

 
(i)  a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 

113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
 

(ii)  an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
 

(b)  to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is 
payable or would be payable but for a suspension of benefit in accordance 
with regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital 
in-patients); 

 
(c)  who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the 

National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been 
certified as blind and in consequence he is registered as blind in a register 
maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

 
(d)  who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period 

beginning 28 weeks before the first Monday in September following that 
person’s fifteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that person’s 
sixteenth birthday. 

 
(15)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity 

leave or adoption leave is to be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative 
work for the period specified in sub-paragraph (15) (“the relevant period”) 
provided that— 

 
(a)  in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or 

adoption leave began she was in remunerative work; 
 

Page 119



250113 uprated 

(b)  the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of 
sub-paragraph (5); and 

 
(c)  he is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the 

SSCBA, statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of 
that Act, (additional statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZEA or 
171ZEB of that Act), statutory adoption pay by of section 171ZL of that 
Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of that Act or qualifying support. 

 
(16)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day 

on which the person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences 
and ends on— 

 
(a)  the date that leave ends; 
 
(b)  if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 

entitlement to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity 
pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay, or statutory adoption 
pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

 
(c)  if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 

entitlement to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory 
maternity pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care 
element of the working tax credit ends, 

 
whichever occurs first. 

(17)  In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16)— 
 

(a)  “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled 
by virtue of paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987; and 

 
(b)  “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working 

tax credit prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child 
care element). 

 
Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 
 
59. (1)  This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 
 

(2)  Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken 
into account is the period set out in sub-paragraph (3). 

 
(3)  Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is— 
 

(a)  a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which 
the instalment is paid; 

 
(b)  a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the 

instalment is due to be paid; 
 

Page 120



250113 uprated 

(c)  a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before 
the day on which the instalment is due to be paid; 

 
(d)  a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on 

which the instalment is due to be paid. 
 

(4)  For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working 
tax credit. 

 
Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 
 
60.  In calculating the applicant’s income the authority may disregard any legislative 

change— 
 

(a)  in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
 
(b)  in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
 
(c)  in the rates of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA or in 

the lower earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions 
under that Act, the lower or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions 
under that Act or the amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small 
earnings exception in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

 
(d)  in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate 

of Category A,B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any 
graduated pension payable under the SSCBA; 

 
(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit,  

 
for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction 
week immediately following the date from which the change is effective. 

 
Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 
 
61. (1)  For the purposes of paragraphs 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed 

earners: persons who are not pensioners) and 57 (calculation of income on a 
weekly basis) the earnings of an applicant to be taken into account must be— 

 
(a)  in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on 

his own account, the net profit derived from that employment; 
 
(b)  in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose 

employment is carried on in partnership, his share of the net profit derived 
from that employment, less— 

 
(i)  an amount in respect of income tax and of social security 

contributions payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance 
with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions of self-
employed earners); and 

 

Page 121



250113 uprated 

(ii)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 
(11) in respect of any qualifying premium; 

 
(c)  in the case of a self-employed earner who is not a pensioner whose 

employment is carried on in partnership or is that of a share fisherman 
within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) Regulations 
1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less— 

 
(i)  an amount in respect of income tax and of social security 

contributions payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance 
with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-
employed earners); and 

 
(ii)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 

(11) in respect of any qualifying premium. 
 

(2)  There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant who is not a 
pensioner, any sum, where applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of 
Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are 
not pensioners). 

 
(3)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, 

except where sub-paragraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account 
the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less— 

 
(a)  subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively 

incurred in that period for the purposes of that employment; 
 
(b)  an amount in respect of— 

 
(i)  income tax; and 
 

(ii) social security contributions payable under the SSCBA  
calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and 
contributions for self employed earners); and 

 
(c)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) 

in respect of any qualifying premium. 
 

(4)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to 
be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment over the 
assessment period less, subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses 
wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the purposes of the 
employment. 

 
(5)  Subject to sub-paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph 

(3)(a) or (4), in respect of— 
 

(a)  any capital expenditure; 
 
(b)  the depreciation of any capital asset; 
 

Page 122



250113 uprated 

(c)  any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or 
expansion of the employment; 

 
(d)  any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
 
(e)  the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the 

employment; 
 
(f)  any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and 
 
(g)  in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad 

debts proved to be such, but this paragraph does not apply to any 
expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 

 
(6)  A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the 

repayment of capital on any loan used for— 
 

(a)  the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or 
 
(b)  the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum 

is payable under an insurance policy for its repair. 
 

(7)  The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of any expenses 
under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and 
the amount of the expense that it has been reasonably incurred. 

 
(8)  For the avoidance of doubt— 

 
(a)  a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in 

respect of any sum unless it has been expended for the purposes of the 
business; 

 
(b)  a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of— 

 
(i)  the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax 

received in the assessment period; 
 
(ii)  any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset 

except to the extent that any sum is payable under an insurance 
policy for its repair; 

 
(iii)  any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the 

employment. 
 

(9)  Where an applicant is engaged in employment as a child minder the net profit of 
the employment is to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less— 

 
(a)  an amount in respect of— 

 
(i)  income tax; and 
 

Page 123



250113 uprated 

(ii)  social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for 
self employed earners); and 

 
(b)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) 

in respect of any qualifying premium. 
 

(10)  For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a 
self employed earner and he is also engaged in one or more other 
employments as a self-employed or employed earner any loss incurred in any 
one of his employments must not be offset against his earnings in any other of 
his employments. 

 
(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by 

multiplying the daily amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to 
the number of days in the assessment period; and for the purposes of this 
paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying premium must be determined— 

 
(a)  where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the 

amount of the qualifying premium by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
 
(b)  in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the 

number equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying 
premium relates. 

 
(12)  In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable 

periodically in respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or 
after the date of application. 

 
Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
 
62. (1)  The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 

61(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) or (9)(a)(i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) 
must be calculated— 

 
(a)  on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and 
 
(b)  as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate of tax 

applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which 
the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 
2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances. 

 
(2)  But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 

basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal reliefs 
deductible under this paragraph must be calculated on a pro rata basis. 

 
(3)  The amount to be deducted in respect of social security contributions under 

paragraph 60(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of— 
 

(a)  the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the 
case may be, 11(3) of the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment 
period except where the applicant’s chargeable income is less than the 

Page 124



250113 uprated 

amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small earnings exception) for 
the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year must be 
reduced pro rata; and 

 
(b)  the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under 

section 15 of the SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the 
Income Tax Acts) at the percentage rate applicable to the assessment 
period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds the lower limit 
but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the 
tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period 
is less than a year, those limits must be reduced pro rata. 

 
(4)  In this paragraph “chargeable income” means— 

 
(a) except where paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the 

employment less any expenses deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, 
as the case may be, (5) of paragraph 61; 

 
(b)  in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of 

that employment. 
 

CHAPTER 7 
Capital 

 
Calculation of capital 
 
63. (1)  The capital of an applicant to be taken into account must be, subject to sub-

paragraph (2), the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part 
and (in the case of persons who are not pensioners) any income treated as 
capital under paragraph 64 (income treated as capital: persons who are not 
pensioners). 

 
(2)  There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under 

sub-paragraph (1), any capital, where applicable, specified in— 
 

(a)  Schedule 9, in relation to pensioners; 
 
(b)  Schedule 10, in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 

 
(3)  In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as 

including any payment made to him by way of arrears of— 
 

(a)  child tax credit; 
 
(b)  working tax credit; 
 
(c)  state pension credit, 
 
if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a 
reduction under this scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid. 
 

Page 125



250113 uprated 

(4)  The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an 
applicant who is not a pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant. 

 
Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners 
 
64. (1)  This paragraph applies in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 
 

(2)  Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 
(sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners) applies and paid at intervals of at least one year is to be treated as 
capital. 

 
(3)  Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or 

emoluments chargeable to income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated 
as capital. 

 
(4)  Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 41(1)(d) or 51(1)(d) 

(earnings of employed earners) is to be treated as capital. 
 

(5)  Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 
11, 17, 30 to 33, 50 or 51 of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are 
not pensioners), any income derived from capital is to be treated as capital but 
only from the date it is normally due to be credited to the applicant’s account. 

 
(6)  In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or 

any loan made by the applicant’s employer is to be treated as capital. 
 

(7)  Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at 
regular intervals, other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, 
the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the London Bombings 
Charitable Relief Fund, is to be treated as capital. 

 
(8)  There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity 

carried on by a person in respect of which assistance is received under the self-
employment route, but only in so far as those receipts were payable into a 
special account during the period in which that person was receiving such 
assistance. 

 
(9)  Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump 

sum must be treated as capital. 
 

(10)  Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital. 
 
 
Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
 
65.  Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated 

at its current market or surrender value less— 
 

(a)  where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and 
 

Page 126



250113 uprated 

(b)  the amount of any encumbrance secured on it. 
 
Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
 
66.  Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom 

must be calculated— 
 

(a)  in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer 
to the United Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or 
surrender value in that country, at that value; 

 
(b)  in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would 

realise if sold in the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, less, where there 
would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

 
Notional capital 
 
67. (1)  An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived 

himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the 
amount of that reduction except to the extent that that capital is reduced in 
accordance with paragraph 68 (diminishing notional capital rule). 

 
(2)  A person who is a pensioner who disposes of capital for the purpose of— 

 
(a)  reducing or paying a debt owed by the applicant; or 
 
(b)  purchasing goods or services if the expenditure was reasonable in the 

circumstances of the applicant’s case, is to be regarded as not depriving 
himself of it. 

 
(3)  Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
 
(4)  Except in the case of— 
 

(a)  a discretionary trust; or 
 
(b)  a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 

or 
 
(c)  any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital 

disregarded under Schedule 9; or 
 
(d)  a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment 

made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
 
(e)  any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: 

persons who are not pensioners) applies which is administered in the way 
referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); or 

 
(f)  any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; or 
 

Page 127



250113 uprated 

(g)  child tax credit; or 
 

(h)  working tax credit, 
 

any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application 
being made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as 
possessed by him but only from the date on which it could be expected to be 
acquired were an application made. 

 
(5)  Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in sub-

paragraph (6), made— 
 

(a)  to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is 
a payment of an occupational pension, a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by 
the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

 
(b)  to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of 

the family (but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is 
not a payment referred to in paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used 
for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is 
liable; 

 
(c)  to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party 

(but not in respect of another member of the family) must be treated as 
possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of 
the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used by or on 
behalf of any member of the family. 

 
(6)  Sub-paragraph (5) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made— 

 
(a)  under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 

the Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 

 
(b)  pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect 

of a person’s participation— 
 

(i)  in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of 
the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

 
(ii)  in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those 

Regulations; 
 
(iii)  in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of 

those Regulations; 
 

Page 128



250113 uprated 

(iv)  in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 
17A(7) of those Regulations; or 

 
(v)  in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 

Regulations; 
 

(c)  in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot 
Scheme; 

 
(d)  in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity 

Scheme; 
 
(e)  in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and 

Enterprise Scheme; 
 
(f)  under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other 

periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment 
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where— 

 
(i)  a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in 

respect of whom the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the 
estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor 
has been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the 
Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

 
(ii)  the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person 

acting on behalf of the creditors; and 
 
(iii)  the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his 

family does not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other 
income apart from that payment. 

 
(7)  Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to 

that of a sole owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be 
treated as if he were such sole owner or partner and in such a case— 

 
(a)  the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 

63 (calculation of capital) be disregarded; and 
 
(b)  he must, subject to sub-paragraph (8), be treated as possessing an 

amount of capital equal to the value or, as the case may be, his share of 
the value of the capital of that company and the foregoing provisions of 
this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating that amount as if it were 
actual capital which he does possess. 

 
(8)  For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business 

of the company, the amount which he is treated as possessing under sub-
paragraph (7) is to be disregarded. 

 
(9)  Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-

paragraphs (1), (4) or (5) the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the 

Page 129



250113 uprated 

purposes of calculating its amount as if it were actual capital which he does 
possess. 

 
Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 
 
68. (1)  Where an applicant who is a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under 

paragraph 67(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as 
possessing— 

 
(a)  in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 

 
(i)  the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-

paragraph (2) are satisfied; or 
 
(ii)  a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those 

conditions,  
 
 is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 

 
(b)  in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not 

apply but where— 
 
(i)  that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
 
(ii)  that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph 

(4) is satisfied,   
 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

 
(2)  This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week where the applicant satisfies 

the conditions that— 
 

(a)  he is in receipt of a reduction under this scheme; and 
 
(b)  but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in 

council tax under this scheme in that week. 
 

(3)  In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the 
amount of capital he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(1)(a) must be equal to the aggregate of— 

 
(a)  an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to 

which sub-paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
 

(b)  where the applicant has also claimed state pension credit, the amount of 
any state pension credit or any additional amount of state pension credit to 
which he would have been entitled in respect of the reduction week to 
which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 21(1) of 
the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (notional capital); 

 
(c)  where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any 

housing benefit or any additional amount of housing benefit to which he 

Page 130



250113 uprated 

would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction 
week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 
47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

 
(d)  where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount 

of an income based jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers 
but for the application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 
Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

 
(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support 

allowance, the amount of an income-related employment and support 
allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the reduction 
week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 
115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional 
capital). 

 
(4)  Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the 

condition is that the applicant is a pensioner and would have been entitled to a 
reduction in council tax under this scheme in the relevant week but for 
paragraph 67(1). 

 
(5)  In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated 

as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) is equal to the 
aggregate of— 

 
(a)  the amount of the reduction in council tax to which the applicant would 

have been entitled in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1); 
 

(b)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 21 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002, have been entitled to state pension credit in respect of 
the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 1(2) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; 

 
(c)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit 

(Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 
Regulations 2006, have been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional 
amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week which includes 
the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to— 

 
(i)  in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which 

he would have been entitled; or 
 
(ii)  in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of 

housing benefit to which he would have been entitled; 
 

(d)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 
Regulations 1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 

Page 131



250113 uprated 

1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of 
the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and 

 
(e)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and 

Support Allowance Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-
related employment and support allowance in respect of the benefit week, 
within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), 
which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he 
would have been entitled. 

 
(6)  But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-

paragraph (5) (“the relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount 
that is to be taken into account under that paragraph is to be determined by— 

 
(a)  dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in 

that part week, and 
 
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

 
(7)  The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under 

that sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further application for a reduction in 
council tax and the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a 
case— 

 
(a)  paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words 

“relevant week” there were substituted the words “relevant subsequent 
week”; and 

 
(b)  subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from 

the first week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 
(8)  The conditions are that— 

 
(a)  a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 

 
(i)  the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction 

in council tax in respect of which he was first treated as possessing 
the capital in question under paragraph 67(1); 

 
(ii)  in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in 

accordance with sub-paragraph (11), the date on which he last made 
an application which resulted in the weekly amount being re-
determined, or 

 
(iii)  the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme 
 
whichever last occurred, and  

 
(b)  the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under 

this scheme but for paragraph 67(1). 
 

Page 132



250113 uprated 

(9)  The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (7) must not have 
effect if it is less than the amount which applied in that case immediately before 
the re-determination and in such a case the higher amount must continue to 
have effect. 

 
(10)  For the purposes of this paragraph— 

 
“part-week”— 

 
(a)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a 

period of less than a week for which a reduction in council tax under this 
scheme is allowed; 

 
(b)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a 

period of less than a week for which housing benefit is payable; 
 
(c)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), 

means— 
 

(i)  a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which 
income support, an income-related employment and support 
allowance or, as the case may be, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable; and 

 
(ii)  any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
 

“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in 
question of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of 
paragraph 67(1)— 

 
(a)  was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement 

to a reduction; or 
 

(b)  was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of 
determining or redetermining his entitlement to a reduction on that 
subsequent occasion and that determination or re-determination resulted 
in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction; 

 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to 
paragraphs (a) and (b) of this definition, the later or latest such reduction week 
or, as the case may be, the later or latest such part-week is the relevant week; 

 
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which 
includes the day on which the further application or, if more than one further 
application has been made, the last such application was made. 

 
 
Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners 
 
69. (1)  Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is treated as possessing capital 

under paragraph 67(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as 
possessing— 

Page 133



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 

 
(i)  the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-

paragraph (2) are satisfied; or 
 
(ii)  a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those 

conditions,  
 
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 

 
(b)  in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not 

apply but where— 
 

(i)  that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
 
(ii)  that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph 

(4) is satisfied,  
 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

 
(2)  This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week (or, in the case of persons who 

are not pensioners, part-week) where the applicant satisfies the conditions 
that— 

 
(a)  he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
 
(b)  but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in 

council tax under this scheme in that week. 
 

(3)  In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the 
amount of capital he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(1)(a) is equal to the aggregate of— 

 
(a)  an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to 

which sub-paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
 

(b)  where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any 
housing benefit or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would 
have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to 
which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 49(1) of 
the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

 
(c)  where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of 

income support to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but 
for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987 (notional capital); 

 
(d)  where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount 

of an income based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-

Page 134



250113 uprated 

paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

 
(e)  where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support 

allowance, the amount of an income-related employment and support 
allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or 
part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the 
application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

  
(4)  Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the 

condition is that the applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled 
to a reduction in council tax in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1). 

 
(5)  In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated 

as possessing must be equal to the aggregate of— 
 

(a)  the amount of council tax benefit  and / or reduction to which the applicant 
would have been entitled in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1);  

 
(b)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit 

Regulations 2006, have been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional 
amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week which includes 
the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to— 

 
(i)  in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which 

he would have been entitled; or 
 
(ii)  in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of 

housing benefit to which he would have been entitled; 
 

(c)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, have been entitled to income support in 
respect of the benefit (reduction)week, within the meaning of regulation 
2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of 
the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; 

 
(d)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance 

Regulations 1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance in respect of the benefit (reduction) week, within the meaning of 
regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the 
last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been 
entitled; and 

 
(e)  if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and 

Support Allowance Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-
related employment and support allowance in respect of the benefit 
(reduction) week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount to which he would have been entitled. 

 

Page 135



250113 uprated 

(6)  But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-
paragraph (5) (“the relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount 
that is to be taken into account under that paragraph is to be determined by— 

 
(a)  dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in 

that part week, and 
  
(b)  multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

 
(7)  The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under 

the appropriate sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further application and 
the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 

 
(a)  paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words 

“relevant week” there were substituted the words “relevant subsequent 
week”; and 

 
(b)  subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from 

the first week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 
 

(8)  The conditions are that— 
 

(a)  a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 
 

(i)  the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction 
under this scheme in respect of which he was first treated as 
possessing the capital in question under paragraph 67(1); 

 
(ii)  in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in 

accordance with sub-paragraph (7), the date on which he last made 
an application under this scheme which resulted in the weekly 
amount being re-determined, or 

 
(iii)  the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under 

this scheme  
 
whichever last occurred; and 

(b)  the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under 
this scheme but for paragraph 67(1). 

 
(9)  The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have 

effect if it is less than the amount which applied in that case immediately before 
the re-determination and in such a case the higher amount must continue to 
have effect. 

 
(10)  For the purposes of this paragraph— 

 
“part-week”— 

 
(a)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a 

period of less than a week for which a reduction in council tax under this 
scheme is allowed; 

Page 136



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a 

period of less than a week for which housing benefit is payable; 
 
(c)  in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), 

means— 
 

(i)  a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which 
income support, an income-related employment and support 
allowance or, as the case may be, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable; and 

 
(ii)  any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
 

“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in 
question of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of 
paragraph 67(1)— 

 
(a)  was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement 

to a reduction;   
 
or 
 
(b)  was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of 

determining or redetermining his entitlement to a reduction on that 
subsequent occasion and that determination or re-determination resulted 
in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction, 

 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to 
paragraphs (a) and (b) of this definition, the later or latest such reduction week 
or, as the case may be, the later or latest such part-week is the relevant week; 

 
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which 
includes the day on which the further application or, if more than one further 
application has been made, the last such application was made. 

 
Capital jointly held 
 
70.  Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under 

paragraph 67(7)  (notional capital), where an applicant and one or more 
persons are beneficially entitled in possession to any capital asset they must be 
treated in the absence of evidence to the contrary, as if each of them were 
entitled in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share 
and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of 
calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as 
if it were actual capital which the applicant does possess. 

 
Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 
 
71.  The capital of an applicant who is a pensioner calculated in accordance with 

this Part is to be treated as if it were a weekly income of— 
 

Page 137



250113 uprated 

(a)  £1 for each £500 in excess of £10,000 but not exceeding £16,000 and 
 
(b)  £1 for any excess which is not a complete £500. 
 

Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 
 
72.   There shall be no tariff income applicable where an applicant is not a pensioner. 
 

PART 11 
Students 

 
CHAPTER 1 
General 

 
Interpretation 
 
73. (1)  In this Part— 
 

“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 
1st April, 1st July or 1st September according to whether the course in question 
begins in the winter, the spring, the summer or the autumn respectively but if 
students are required to begin attending the course during August or September 
and to continue attending through the autumn, the academic year of the course 
is to be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 

 
“access funds” means— 

 
(a)  grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 

1992 for the purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid 
to students; 

 
(b)  grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education 

(Scotland) Act 1980; 
 
(c)  grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern 

Ireland) Order 1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 
5 of the Further Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 in each case 
being grants, or grants, loans or other payments as the case may be, for 
the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties; 

 
(d)  discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are 

made available to students in further education by institutions out of funds 
provided by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 
2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding under sections 100 and 101 
of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or 

 
(e)  Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 

 
“college of further education” means a college of further education within the 
meaning of Part 1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

 
“contribution” means— 

Page 138



250113 uprated 

 
(a)  any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which 

the Secretary of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority 
takes into account in ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or 
student loan; or 

 
(b)  any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or 

bursary in Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish 
Ministers or education authority takes into account being sums which the 
Scottish Ministers or education authority considers that it is reasonable for 
the following persons to contribute towards the holder’s expenses— 

 
(i)  the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
 
(ii)  the holder’s parents; 
 
(iii)  the holder’s parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living 

with the holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil 
partner of that parent; or 

 
(iv)  the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 
 

“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich 
course and whether or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
 
“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under 
a Deed of Covenant by his parent; 

 
“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as 
defined in section 579 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local 
education authority as defined in section 123 of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973, an education and library board established under Article 3 
of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any body which is 
a research council for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or 
any analogous government department, authority, board or body, of the 
Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great Britain; 

 
“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which— 

 
(a)  is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 

of the Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the 
Welsh Ministers or a full-time course of study which is not funded in whole 
or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of further education or a 
full-time course of study which is a course of higher education and is 
funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

 
(b)  is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of 

the Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the 
Welsh Ministers if it involves more than 16 guided learning hours per week 
for the student in question, according to the number of guided learning 
hours per week for that student set out— 

 

Page 139



250113 uprated 

(i)  in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under 
section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills 
Funding, in the student’s learning agreement signed on behalf of the 
establishment which is funded by either of those persons for the 
delivery of that course; or 

 
(ii)  in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document 

signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council 
for the delivery of that course; or 

 
(c)  is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish 

Ministers at a college of further education and involves— 
 

(i)  more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-
based programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching 
staff according to the number of hours set out in a document signed 
on behalf of the college; or 

 
(ii)  16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 

programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and 
additional hours using structured learning packages supported by the 
teaching staff where the combined total of hours exceeds 21 hours 
per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document 
signed on behalf of the college; 

 
“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of 
study and includes a student on a sandwich course; 

 
“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of 
educational grant or award and includes any scholarship, studentship, 
exhibition, allowance or bursary but does not include a payment from access 
funds or any payment to which paragraph 16 of Schedule 8 or paragraph 55 of 
Schedule 10 (allowances and payments for courses of study) applies; 

 
“grant income” means— 

 
(a)  any income by way of a grant; 
 
(b)  any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

 
“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the 
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

 
“last day of the course” means— 

 
(a)  in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that 

course falls or the date on which the final examination relating to that 
course is completed, whichever is the later; 

 
(b)  in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic 

term falls in respect of the course in which the student is enrolled; 
 

Page 140



250113 uprated 

“period of study” means— 
 

(a)  in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning 
with the start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 

 
(b)  in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as 

the case may be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final 
year of the course, the period beginning with the start of the course or, as 
the case may be, that year’s start and ending with either— 

 
(i)  the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case 

where the student’s grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to 
his studying throughout the year or, if he does not have a grant or 
loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate had he 
had one; or 

 
(ii)  in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer 

vacation appropriate to his course; 
 

(c)  in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period 
beginning with that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

 
“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a 
sandwich course; 

 
“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of 
Parts 2 and 4 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

 
“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the 
Education (Student Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education 
(Student Loans) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education 
(Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 

 
“standard maintenance grant” means— 

 
(a)  except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student 

attending or undertaking a course of study at the University of London or 
an establishment within the area comprising the City of London and the 
Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified for the time being in 
paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003 (“the 2003 Regulations”) for such a student; 

 
(b)  except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his 

parent’s home, the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 
 
(c)  in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the 

Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the amount of money specified as 
“standard maintenance allowance” for the relevant year appropriate for the 
student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide issued by the 
Student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case 
of a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education 
authority; 

Page 141



250113 uprated 

 
(d)  in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to 

the 2003 Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 
 

“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training 
allowance, who is attending or undertaking— 

 
(a)  a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
 
(b)  a qualifying course; 
 
“student loan” means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any 
regulations made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998, section 73 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and includes, in 
Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under regulation 4(1)(c) of the 
Students’ Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a 

person must be regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a 
full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course— 

 
(a)  subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of a person attending or 

undertaking a part of a modular course which would be a full-time course 
of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on the day 
on which that part of the course starts and ending— 

 
(i)  on the last day on which he is registered with the educational 

establishment as attending or undertaking that part as a full-time 
course of study; or 

 
(ii)  on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is 

dismissed from it; 
 

(b)  in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which 
he starts attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of 
the course or on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is 
dismissed from it. 

 
(3)  For the purposes of paragraph (a) of sub-paragraph (2), the period referred to in 

that paragraph includes— 
 

(a)  where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to 
complete a module relating to a period when he was attending or 
undertaking a part of the course as a fulltime course of study, any period 
in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course for the purpose of 
retaking those examinations or that module; 

 
(b)  any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or 

immediately following that period except where the person has registered 
with the educational establishment to attend or undertake the final module 

Page 142



250113 uprated 

in the course and the vacation immediately follows the last day on which 
he is required to attend or undertake the course. 

 
(4)  In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists 

of two or more modules, the successful completion of a specified number of 
which is required before a person is considered by the educational 
establishment to have completed the course. 

 
Treatment of students 
 
74.  This scheme has effect in relation to students who are not pensioners subject to 

the following provisions of this Part. 
 
Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under this 
scheme 
 
75. (1)  The students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this 

scheme are subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (7) –  
 

(a) full time students, and  
 

(b) students who are persons treated as not being in Great Britain. 
 

(2)  Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a student— 
 

(a)  who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance  

 
(b)  who is a lone parent; 

 
(c)  whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the 

disability premium or severe disability premium; 
 
(d)  whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his 

being treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in 
accordance with regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

 
(e)  who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or 

has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the 
provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA 
(incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and 
for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of 
not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

 
(f)  who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, 

or been treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 for a 
continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose any two 
or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days 
must be treated as one continuous period; 

 

Page 143



250113 uprated 

(g)  who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is 
treated as responsible for a child or young person; 

 
(h)  who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or 

voluntary organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in 
Scotland, boarded out within the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) 
Act 1968; 

 
(i)  who is— 

 
(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher 

education,  
(ii) aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not 

a course of higher education, or 
(ii)  a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 

of the SSCBA (child and qualifying young person); 
 

(j)  in respect of whom— 
 

(i)  a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 
9 of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003; 

 
(ii)  an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted 

which includes a sum under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the 
Students’ Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case 
may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Education 
Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, in respect of 
expenses incurred; 

 
(iii)  a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 

or under or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998; 

 
(iv)  a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education 

(Student Support) Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the 
Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 

 
(v)  a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 

9 of Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 1999 or a payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the 
Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986,  

 
on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

 
(3)  Sub-paragraph 2(i)(ii) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course 

during which the applicant attained the age of 21 
 

(4)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a 
full-time student, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be 
incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph must, on 
his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at the end 

Page 144



250113 uprated 

of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
(5)  In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a 

reference to a course of any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the 
Education Reform Act 1988 . 

 
(6)  A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (2)(i) applies must be treated as 

satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the 
supplementary requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may 
be. 

 
(7)  Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a full-time student for the period 

specified in sub-paragraph (8) if— 
 

(a)  at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant 
educational establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course 
because he is— 

 
(i)  engaged in caring for another person; or 
 
(iii)  ill; 

 
(b)  he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as 

the case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 
 

(c)  he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period 
specified in sub-paragraph (8). 

 
(8)  The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not 

exceeding one year, beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in 
caring for that person or, as the case may be, the day on which he recovered 
from that illness and ending on the day before— 

 
(a)  the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
 
(b)  the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that 

he may resume attending or undertaking the course,  
 
whichever first occurs. 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Income 
 
Calculation of grant income 
 
76. (1)  The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account in assessing 

his income must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), be the whole of his 
grant income. 

 
(2) There must be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment— 

 

Page 145



250113 uprated 

(a)  intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
 
(b)  in respect of the student’s disability; 
 
(c)  intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time 

residential study away from the student’s educational establishment; 
 
(d)  on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at 

which he resides during his course; 
 
(e)  on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside 

the United Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
 
(f)  intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
 
(g)  intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on 

the course; 
 

(h)  intended for the child care costs of a child dependant; 
 
(i)  of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the 

Children Act 1989. 
 

(3)  Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing 
such a loan, there must be excluded from the student’s grant income— 

 
(a)  the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
 
(b)  the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and 

equipment, 
 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

 
(4)  There must also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for 

dependants known as the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to 
regulations made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998. 

 
(5)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student’s grant income must be 

apportioned— 
 

(a)  subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period 
of study, equally between the weeks in that period beginning with the 
reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately 
follows, the first day of the period of study and ending with the reduction 
week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the 
last day of the period of study; 

 
(b)  in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with 

the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately 
follows, the first day of the period for which it is payable and ending with 

Page 146



250113 uprated 

the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

 
(6)  Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health 

Services and Public Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of 
instruction to officers of hospital authorities) and any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 must be apportioned equally over the 
period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in 
the year, 53. 

 
(7)  In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have 

acquired a student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any 
amount intended for the maintenance of dependants to which neither sub-
paragraph (6) nor paragraph 80(2) (other amounts to be disregarded) applies, 
must be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is apportioned 
or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

 
(8)  In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within 

the period of study must be excluded and the student’s grant income must be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the 
reduction week, the first day of which immediately follows the last day of the 
period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

 
Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 
 
77. (1)  Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of 

study and a contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant 
income to be taken into account for that period and any summer vacation 
immediately following must be the whole amount of the covenant income less, 
subject to sub-paragraph (3), the amount of the contribution. 

 
(2)  The weekly amount of the student’s covenant must be determined— 

 
(a)  by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account 

under sub-paragraph (1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances; and 

 
(b)  by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount. 

 
(3)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as 

increased by the amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under 
paragraph 76(2)(g) falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel 
expenditure). 

 
Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 
 
78. (1)  Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his 

covenant income must be calculated as follows— 
 

Page 147



250113 uprated 

(a)  any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2)(a) to 
(e) (calculation of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course must be disregarded; 

 
(b)  any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance 

grant, which is not so disregarded, must be apportioned equally between 
the weeks of the period of study; 

 
(c)  there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount 

which would have been disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (3) had 
the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

 
(d)  the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in 

the circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 must be 
disregarded. 

 
(2)  Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution 

has been assessed, the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated 
in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of sub-paragraph (1), except 
that— 

 
(a)  the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the 

amount of such grant income less an amount equal to the amount of any 
sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(a) to (e); and  

 
(b)  the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated 

by an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under 
paragraph 76(2)(f) and (g) and (3). 

 
Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 
 
79. No part of a student's covenant income or grant income is to be disregarded 

under paragraph 19 of Schedule 8 (disregard of certain charitable and 
voluntary, etc, payments). 

 
Other amounts to be disregarded 
 
80. (1)  For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant 

income and loans treated as income in accordance with paragraph 81 
(treatment of student loans), any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 76(2) (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result 
of his attendance on the course must be disregarded. 

 
(2)  But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary 

expenditure exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded 
under paragraph 76(2) or (3), 77(3), 78(1)(a) or (c) or 81(5) (calculation of grant 
income, covenant income and treatment of student loans) on like expenditure. 

 
Treatment of student loans 
 
81. (1)  A student loan is to be treated as income. 
 

Page 148



250113 uprated 

(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as 
income— 

 
(a)  in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, 

a loan which is payable in respect of that period is to be apportioned 
equally between the weeks in the period beginning with— 

 
(i)  except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction 

week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, 
the first day of the single academic year; 

 
(ii)  where the student is required to start attending the course in August 

or where the course is less than an academic year’s duration, the 
reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately 
follows, the first day of the course,  

 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, 
or immediately precedes, the last day of the course; 

 
(b)  in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st 

September, a loan which is payable in respect of that academic year is to 
be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period— 

 
(i)  beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year, and 
 
(ii)  ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with 

or immediately precedes, the last day of that academic year, 
 

but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter during 
which, in the opinion of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken 
and for the purposes of this paragraph, “quarter” has the same meaning 
as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) Regulations 2005; 

 
(c)  in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a 

single year’s duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final 
academic year is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with— 

 
(i)  except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction 

week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, 
the first day of that academic year; 

 
(ii)  where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction 

week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, 
the earlier of 1st September or the first day of the autumn term, 

 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, 
or immediately precedes, the last day of the course; 

 
(d)  in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the 

weeks in the period beginning with the earlier of— 

Page 149



250113 uprated 

 
(i)  the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
 
(ii)  the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or 

immediately follows the first day of the autumn term, 
 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, 
or immediately precedes, the last day of June, 

 
and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned £10 is to be 
disregarded. 

 
(3)  A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an 

academic year where— 
 

(a)  a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
 
(b)  he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable 

steps to do so. 
 

(4)  Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph 
(3), the amount of the student loan to be taken into account as income must be, 
subject to sub-paragraph (5)— 

 
(a)  in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an 

academic year, a sum equal to— 
 

(i)  the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that 
year by taking reasonable steps to do so; and 

 
(ii)  any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

 
(b)  in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of 

an academic year, the maximum student loan that would be made to the 
student if— 

 
(i)  he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he 

is able to acquire in respect of that year; and 
 
(ii)  no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a 

means test. 
 

(5)  There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under 
sub-paragraph (4)— 

 
(a)  the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
 
(b)  the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and 

equipment, 
 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 
 

Page 150



250113 uprated 

(6)  A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant 
to regulations made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education 
Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 shall be 
disregarded as income. 

 
Treatment of payments from access funds 
 
82. (1)  This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to 

which paragraph 85(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies. 
 

(2)  A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) 
applies, must be disregarded as income. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 8 

(disregards in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are 
not pensioners) — 

 
(a)  any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item 

of food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single 
applicant or, as the case may be, of the applicant or any other member of 
his family, and 

 
(b)  any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or 

water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, must be 
disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week. 

 
(4)  Where a payment from access funds is made— 

 
(a)  on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first 

occurs, but before receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and 
that payment is intended for the purpose of bridging the period until receipt 
of the student loan; or 

 
(b)  before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person 

becoming a student, 
 

that payment must be disregarded as income. 
 
Disregard of contribution 
 
83.  Where the applicant or his partner is a student and, for the purposes of 

assessing a contribution to the student’s grant or student loan, the other 
partner’s income has been taken into account, an amount equal to that 
contribution must be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that other 
partner’s income. 

 
Further disregard of student’s income 
 
84.  Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for 

the purposes of assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount 
taken into account must be disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

Page 151



250113 uprated 

 
Income treated as capital 
 
85. (1)  Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant 

income must be treated as capital. 
 

(2)  An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as 
capital. 

 
(3)  An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and 

used for an item other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel 
or rent, or which is used for an item other than any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable, must be disregarded as capital but 
only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

 
 
 
Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
 
86.  In calculating a student’s income the authority must disregard any change in the 

standard maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation 
appropriate to the student’s course, if that vacation does not form part of his 
period of study from the date on which the change occurred to the end of that 
vacation. 

 
PART 12 

Extended reductions 
 

CHAPTER 1 
Extended reductions: pensioners 

 
Extended reductions: pensioners 
 
87. Paragraphs 88 to 93 apply in relation to applicants who are pensioners. 
 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
 
88. (1)  Except in the case of an applicant who is in receipt of state pension credit, an 

applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within any of classes A to C is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) where— 

 
(a)  the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying 

contributory benefit; 
 
(b)  entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the 

applicant or the applicant's partner— 
 

(i)  commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
 
(iv)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 
 

Page 152



250113 uprated 

(v)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment,  
 

and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings 
or increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

 
(c)  the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt 

of a qualifying contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying 
contributory benefits for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before 
the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit 
ceased; and 

 
(d)  the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in 

receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in 
which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, was entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit. 

 
(2)  An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by 

virtue of falling within any of classes A to C where— 
 

(a)  the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
because the applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was 
resident; 

 
(b)  the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week 

in which entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the 
preceding week; and 

 
(c)  entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the 

circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
 
Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
 
89. (1)  Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 

benefits), the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction 
week immediately following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the 
applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2)  For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner 

ceases to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately 
following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 

 
(a)  at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 
(b)  on the date on which the applicant who is receiving the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that 
occurs first. 

 
Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
 

Page 153



250113 uprated 

90. (1)  For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 
reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) the applicant is entitled to is the 
greater of— 

 
(a)  the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled by 

virtue of falling within any of classes A to C in the last reduction week 
before the applicant or the applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a 
qualifying contributory benefit; 

 
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would 

be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C for any reduction 
week during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 88 (extended 
reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners) did not apply to 
the applicant; or 

 
(c)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner 

would be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C if 
paragraph 88 did not apply to the applicant. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 

 
(3)  Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) under this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes 
an application for a reduction under this scheme, the authority must not award a 
reduction in pursuance of that application during the extended reduction period. 

 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 
 
91. (1)  This paragraph applies— 
 

(a)  to a mover ; and 
 
(b)  from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2)  The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) awarded 

from the Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the 
extended reduction period shall be the amount of reduction under this scheme 
which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, 
or the mover's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit.  

 
(3)  Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a 

second authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may 
take the form of a payment from this authority to— 

 
(a)  the second authority; or 
 
(b)  the mover directly. 

 
Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and 
entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes A to C 
 

Page 154



250113 uprated 

92. (1)  Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the 
applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the 
circumstances listed in paragraph 88(1)(b), that reduction does not cease to 
have effect until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
(2)  Part 13 (when entitlement begins and change of circumstances) does not apply 

to any extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in 
accordance with paragraph 90(1)(a) or paragraph 91(2) (amount of extended 
reduction — movers: pensioners). 

 
Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners 
 
93. (1)  This paragraph applies where— 
 

(a)  the applicant is entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
 
(b)  sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied; and 
 
(c)  either— 

 
(i)  the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit 

or, if his entitlement to income-based jobseeker's allowance or 
income-related employment and support allowance continued 
beyond that age, has attained the age of 65; or 

 
(ii)  the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit. 

 
(2)  This sub-paragraph is only satisfied if the Secretary of State has certified to the 

authority that the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit or 
that— 

 
(a)  the applicant's award of— 

 
(i)  income support has terminated because the applicant has attained 

the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
 
(ii)  income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment 

and support allowance has terminated because the applicant has 
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or the age of 65; 
and 

 
(b)  the applicant has claimed or is treated as having claimed or is required to 

make a claim for state pension credit. 
 

(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), in a case to which this paragraph applies, a 
person continues to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for the period 
of 4 weeks beginning on the day following the day the applicant's entitlement to 
income support or, as the case may be, income-based jobseeker's allowance, 
income-related employment and support allowance, ceased, if and for so long 
as the applicant otherwise satisfies the conditions for entitlement to a reduction 
under this scheme. 

 

Page 155



250113 uprated 

(4)  Where a reduction under this scheme is awarded for the period of 4 weeks in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (3) above, and the last day of that period falls 
on a day other than the last day of a reduction week, then a reduction under this 
scheme must continue to be awarded until the end of the reduction week in 
which the last day of that period falls. 

 
(5)  Throughout the period of 4 weeks specified in sub-paragraph (3) and any 

further period specified in sub-paragraph (4)— 
 

(a)  the whole of the income and capital of the applicant is to be disregarded; 
 

(b)  the maximum council tax reduction amount of the applicant is to be that 
which was applicable in his case immediately before that period 
commenced. 

 
(6)  The maximum reduction is to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 29(1) 

if, since the date it was last calculated— 
 

(a)  the applicant's council tax liability has increased; or 
 
(b)  a change in the deduction under paragraph 29 falls to be made. 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
94. Paragraphs 95 to 104 apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
95. (1)  An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme (by virtue of falling 

within classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 is entitled to an extended reduction where— 
 

(a)  the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income-
related benefit; 

 
(b)  entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the 

applicant or the applicant’s partner— 
 

(i)  commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
 
(ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 
 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings 
or increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

 
(c)  the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt 

of a qualifying income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a 
combination of those benefits for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks 

Page 156



250113 uprated 

before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying income-related 
benefit ceased. 

 
(2)  For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner 

is to be treated as having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-
related benefit or jobseeker’s allowance during any period of less than five 
weeks in respect of which the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not 
entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the applicant’s partner 
was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an 
employment zone programme. 

 
(3)  For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner 

is entitled to and in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they must be 
treated as being entitled to and in receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

 
(4)  An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by 

virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 where— 
 

(a)  the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
because the applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was 
resident; 

 
(b)  the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week 

in which entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in 
the preceding week; and 

 
(c)  entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the 

circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
 

(5)  This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s 
entitlement to income support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987 (remunerative work: housing costs) applied to that 
applicant. 

 
Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners 
 
96. (1)  Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction 

period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the 
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be 
entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 
(2)  For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner 

ceases to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day 
immediately following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3)  The extended reduction period ends— 

 
(a)  at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 
(b)  on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is 

payable has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 

Page 157



250113 uprated 

Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners 
 
97. (1)  For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 

reduction to which an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of— 
 

(a)  the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 in the 
last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant’s partner ceased 
to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit; 

 
(b)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would 

be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 for 
any reduction week during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 95 
(extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners) did not apply to 
the applicant; or 

 
(c)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner 

would be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, 
E2, if paragraph 95 did not apply to the applicant. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
(3)  Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph 

and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a reduction under this 
scheme, no amount of reduction under this scheme is to be awarded by the 
authority during the extended reduction period. 

 
Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners 
 
98. (1)  This paragraph applies— 
 

(a)  to a mover; and 
 
(b)  from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2)  The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which 

this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the 
amount of reduction under this scheme to which the mover would have been 
entitled had they, or their partner, not ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit. 

 
(3)  Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a 

second authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may 
take the form of a payment from this authority to— 

 
(a)  the second authority; or 
 
(b)  the mover directly. 

 
Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of 
classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 
 

Page 158



250113 uprated 

99. (1)  Where an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme would have 
ended when the applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 95(1)(b), that entitlement does 
not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
(2)  Paragraphs 106 and 107 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in 

accordance with paragraph 95(1)(a) or 98(2) (amount of extended reduction—
movers: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 
 
100. (1)  An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme (by virtue of falling 

within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2) shall be entitled to an extended 
reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where— 

 
(a)  the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying 

contributory benefit; 
 
(b)  entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the 

applicant or the applicant’s partner— 
 

(i)  commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
 
(ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 
 
(iii)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
 

and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 
increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

 
(f) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt 

of a qualifying contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying 
contributory benefits for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before 
the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit 
ceased; and 

 
(d)  the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in 

receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in 
which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit. 

 
(2)  An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by 

virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 where— 
 

(a)  the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
because the applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was 
resident; 

 
(b)  the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the 

week in which entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, 
or in the preceding week; and 

Page 159



250113 uprated 

 
(c)  entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the 

circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
 
Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons 
who are not pensioners 
 
101. (1)  Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 

benefits), the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction 
week immediately following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the 
applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2)  For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner 

ceases to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately 
following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3)  The extended reduction period ends— 

 
(a)  at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 
(b)  on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that 
occurs first. 

 
Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are 
not pensioners 
 
102. (1)  For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 

reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the 
greater of— 

 
(a)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was 

entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 in the 
last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant’s partner ceased 
to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

 
(b)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would 

be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, E2 for 
any reduction week during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 100 
(extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are 
not pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 

 
(c)  the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner 

would be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D, D1, D2, E, E1, 
E2, if paragraph 100 did not apply to the applicant. 

 
(2)  Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 

 
(3)  Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) under this paragraph and the applicant’s partner makes 
an application for a reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction shall  
be allowed by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

Page 160



250113 uprated 

 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are 
not pensioners 
 
103. (1)  This paragraph applies— 
 

(a)  to a mover; and 
 
(b)  from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2)  The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable 

from the Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the 
extended reduction period is to be the amount of reduction under this scheme 
which was awarded to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, 
or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(3)  Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a 

second authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may 
take the form of a payment from this authority to— 

 
(a)  that second authority; or 
 
(b)  the mover directly. 

 
Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and 
entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes  D,D1,D2,E,E1,E2 
 
104. (1)  Where an applicant’s reduction under this scheme would have ended when the 

applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the 
circumstances listed in paragraph 100(1)(b), that reduction does not cease until 
the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
(2)  Paragraphs 106 and 107 (dates on which entitlement begins and change of 

circumstances take effect) do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 102(1)(a) or 103(2) 
(amount of extended reduction—movers: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
CHAPTER 3 

Extended reductions: movers in the authority’s area 
 

Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area 
 
105. Where— 
 

(a)  an application is made to the authority (“the current authority”) for a 
reduction under this scheme, and 

 
(b)  the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended 

reduction from— 
 

(i)  another billing authority in England; or  
 

Page 161



250113 uprated 

(ii)  a billing authority in Wales; 
 

 
the authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled 
under this scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

 
PART 13 

When entitlement begins and change of circumstances 
 
Date on which entitlement begins 
 
106. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any person by whom or in respect of whom an 

application for a reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise 
entitled to that reduction is so entitled from the reduction week following the 
date on which that application is made or is treated as made. 

 
(2)  Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and 

becomes liable for the first time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a 
dwelling of which he is a resident in the reduction week in which his application 
is made or is treated as made, he is so entitled from that reduction week. 

 
Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 
 
107. (1) Except in cases where paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, 

etc.) applies and subject to the following provisions of this paragraph and (in the 
case of applicants who are pensioners) paragraph 108 (change of circumstance 
where state pension credit is in payment), a change of circumstances which 
affects entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (“change 
of circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week 
following the date on which the change actually occurs. 

 
(2)  Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit 

Acts, the date on which the change actually occurs is the day immediately 
following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change 

in the amount of council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it 
actually occurs. 

 
(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is 

liable to pay in respect of council tax in consequence of regulations under 
section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts of council tax) or changes in the 
discount to which a dwelling may be subject under section 11 or 11A of that Act 
(discounts), it takes effect from the day on which the change in amount has 
effect. 

 
(5)  Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, 

the change takes effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 
 

(6)  Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or 
their separation, it takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 

 

Page 162



250113 uprated 

(7)  If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week 
would, but for this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in 
accordance with sub-paragraphs (1) to (6) they take effect from the day to 
which the appropriate sub-paragraph from (3) to (6) above refers, or, where 
more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 

 
(8)  Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the 

amount of income, other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit 
under the SSCBA, is paid in respect  of a past period and there was no 
entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the change of 
circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to 
be taken into account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 
(9)  Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (8), where the change of circumstances is 

the payment of income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the 
change of circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, 
had it been timeously paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, 
would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 
(10)  Sub-paragraph (11) applies if— 

 
(a)  the applicant or his partner has attained the age of 65; and 
 
(b)  either— 

 
(i)  a non-dependant took up residence in the applicant’s dwelling; or 
 
(ii)  there has been a change of circumstances in respect of a non-

dependant so that the amount of the deduction which falls to be 
made under paragraph 30 increased. 

 
(11)  Where this sub-paragraph applies, the change of circumstances referred to in 

sub-paragraph (10)(b) takes effect from the effective date. 
 
(12)  In sub-paragraph (11), but subject to sub-paragraph (13), “the effective date” 

means— 
 

(a)  where more than one change of a kind referred to in sub-paragraph 
(10)(b) relating to the same non-dependant has occurred since— 

 
(i)  the date on which the applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this 

scheme first began; or 
 
(ii)  the date which was the last effective date in respect of such a 

change,  
 
whichever is the later, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on 
which the first such change occurred; 
 

Page 163



250113 uprated 

where paragraph (a) does not apply, the date which falls 26 weeks after 
the date on which the change referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) 
occurred. 

 
(13)  If in any particular case the date determined under sub-paragraph (12) is not 

the first day of a reduction week, the effective date in that case is to be the first 
day of the next reduction week to commence after the date determined under 
that sub-paragraph. 

 
(14) Where the change of circumstances is an amendment to the authority scheme 

rules, it shall take effect from the 1st April of the financial year following that in 
which the change to the scheme is determined by the Council.  

 
 
 
 

Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 
 
108. (1)  Sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) apply where— 
 

(a)  the applicant is in receipt of state pension credit; 
 
(b)  the amount of state pension credit awarded to him is changed in 

consequence of a change in the applicant's circumstances or the 
correction of an official error; and 

 
(c)  the change in the amount of state pension credit payable to the applicant 

results in a change in the amount of a reduction he receives under this 
scheme. 

 
(2)  Where the change of circumstance is that an increase in the amount of state 

pension credit payable to the applicant results in— 
 

(a)  an increase in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change 
takes effect from the first day of the reduction week in which state pension 
credit becomes payable at the increased rate; or 

 
(b)  a decrease in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change 

takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next following the date 
on which— 

 
(i)  the local authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of 

the increase in the amount of state pension credit; or 
 
(ii)  state pension credit is increased,  
 
whichever is the later. 

 
(3)  Where the change of circumstance (“the relevant change”) is that the applicant's 

state pension credit has been reduced and in consequence the reduction the 
applicant receives under this scheme reduces— 

 

Page 164



250113 uprated 

(a)  in a case where the applicant's state pension credit has been reduced 
because the applicant failed to notify the Secretary of State timeously of a 
change of circumstances, the relevant change takes effect from the first 
day of the reduction week from which state pension credit was reduced; or 

 
(b)  in any other case the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the 

reduction week next following the date on which— 
 

(i)  the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the 
reduction in the amount of state pension credit; or 

 
(ii)  state pension credit is reduced, 
 
whichever is the later. 

 
(4)  Where the change of circumstance is that state pension credit is reduced and in 

consequence of the change, the amount of a reduction he receives under this 
scheme is increased, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction 
week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the reduced rate. 

 
(5)  Where a change of circumstance occurs in that an award of state pension credit 

has been made to the applicant or his partner and this would result in a 
decrease in the amount of reduction he receives under this scheme, the change 
takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next following the date on 
which— 

 
(a)  the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the award 

of state pension credit; or 
 
(b)  entitlement to state pension credit begins, 
 
whichever is the later. 

 
(6)  Where, in the case of an applicant who, or whose partner, is or has been 

awarded statecpension credit comprising only the savings credit, there is— 
 

(a)  a change of circumstances of a kind described in any of sub-paragraphs 
(2) to (5) which results from a relevant calculation or estimate; and 

 
(b)  a change of circumstances which is a relevant determination, each of 

which results in a change in the amount of reduction the applicant receives 
under this scheme, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-
paragraph (b) takes effect from the day specified in sub-paragraph (2), (3), 
(4) or (5) as the case may be, in relation to the change referred to in 
paragraph (a). 

 
(7)  Where a change of circumstance occurs in that a guarantee credit has been 

awarded to the applicant or his partner and this would result in an increase in 
the amount of a reduction the applicant receives under this scheme, the change 
takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next following the date in 
respect of which the guarantee credit is first payable. 

 

Page 165



250113 uprated 

(8)  Where a change of circumstances would, but for this sub-paragraph, take effect 
under the preceding provisions of this paragraph within the 4 week period 
specified in paragraph 93 (continuing reductions where state pension credit 
claimed), that change takes effect on the first day of the first reduction week to 
commence after the expiry of the 4 week period. 

 
(9)  In this paragraph— 

 
“official error” means an error made by— 

 
(a)  the authority or a person— 

 
(i)  authorised to carry out any function of the authority relating to this 

scheme; or 
 
(ii)  providing services relating to this scheme directly or indirectly to the 

authority; or 
 

(b)  an officer of— 
 

(i)  the Department for Work and Pensions; or 
 

(ii)  the Commissioners of Inland Revenue,  
 
acting as such,  
 
but excludes any error caused wholly or partly by any person or body not 
specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this definition and any error of law 
which is shown to have been an error only by virtue of a subsequent 
decision of the court; 
 

“relevant calculation or estimate” means the calculation or estimate made by the 
Secretary of State of the applicant's or, as the case may be, the applicant's 
partner's income and capital for the purposes of the award of state pension 
credit; 

 
“relevant determination” means a change in the determination by the authority 
of the applicant's income and capital using the relevant calculation or estimate, 
in accordance with paragraph 36(1). 

 
PART 14 

Applications (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances) 
 
Making an application 
 
109. (1)  In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is 

to be made by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default 
of agreement, by such one of them as the authority determines  

 
(2)  Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is 

unable for the time being to act, and— 
 

Page 166



250113 uprated 

(a)  a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to 
claim, or as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

 
(b)  in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any 

guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) 
Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit 
on his behalf; or 

 
(c)  an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may 

be, receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers 
of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise,  

 
that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make 
an application on behalf of that person. 

 
(3)  Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is 

unable for the time being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, 
the authority may, upon written application made to them by a person who, if a 
natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person to exercise on behalf 
of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might be 
entitled under this scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums 
payable to him. 
 

(4)  Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for 
the time being unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a 
person to act on his behalf under regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims 
and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to act), the authority may if 
that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them under sub-
paragraph (3). 

 
(5)  Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or 

treated a person as an appointee under sub-paragraph (4)— 
 

(a)  it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
 
(b)  the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks 

notice in writing to the authority of his intention to do so; 
 
(c)  any such appointment must terminate when the authority is notified of the 

appointment of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 
 

(6)  Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the 
time being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-
paragraph (2) above or by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed 
under this paragraph and the receipt of any such person so appointed shall be a 
good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

 
(7) The authority must— 

 
(a)  inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by 

paragraph 115(1)(a); 

Page 167



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to 

comply with that duty; and  
 
(c)  set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 

reduction or its amount. 
 
Date on which an application is made 
 
110. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is— 
 

(a)  in a case where— 
 

(i)  an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit 
has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 

 
(ii)  the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one 

month of the date on which the claim for that state pension credit 
which comprises a guarantee credit was received at the appropriate 
DWP office, 

 
the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee 
credit arising from that claim; 

 
(b) in a case where— 

 
(i)  an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee 

credit, 
 
(ii)  the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in 

respect of the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
 
(iii)  the application to the authority is received at the designated office 

within one month of the date of the change, 
 

the date on which the change takes place; 
 

(c)  in a case where— 
 

(i)  an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance 
or an income-related employment and support allowance or an 
award of universal credit has been made to the applicant or his 
partner, and 

 
(ii)  the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one 

month of the date on which the claim for that income support, 
jobseeker's allowance, employment and support allowance or 
universal credit was received, 

 
the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit arising from that claim; 

Page 168



250113 uprated 

 
(d)  in a case where— 

 
(i)  an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an 

income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance or has an award of universal 
credit, 

 
(ii)  the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in 

respect of the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
 
(iii)  the application to the authority is received at the designated office 

within one month of the date of the change, 
 
the date on which the change takes place; 

 
(e)  in a case where— 

 
(i)  the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date 

of his death or their separation, entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, and 

 
(ii)  where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this 

scheme within one month of the date of the death or the separation, 
 
the date of the death or separation; 

 
(f)  except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a 

properly completed application is received within one month (or such 
longer period as the authority considers reasonable) of the date on which 
an application form was issued to the applicant following the applicant first 
notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification; 

 
(g)  in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the 

designated office. 
 

(2)  For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded 
an income based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and 
support allowance is to be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days 
which immediately precede the first day in that award and on which he would, 
but for regulations made under— 

 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of 

Schedule 1 to the Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, 

paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

 

Page 169



250113 uprated 

(3)  Where the defect referred to in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to this scheme 
(applications by telephone)— 

 
(a)  is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority 

considers reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the 
authority must treat the application as if it had been duly made in the first 
instance; 

 
(b)  is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority 

considers reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the 
authority must treat the application as if it had been duly made in the first 
instance where it considers it has sufficient information to decide on the 
application. 

 
(4)  The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in 

the first instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-
paragraph (5)(a), (b) or  

 
(c)  are satisfied. 

 
(5)  The conditions are that— 

 
(a)  where paragraph 4(a) of Schedule 1 (incomplete form) applies, the 

authority receives at its designated office the properly completed 
application or the information requested to complete it or the evidence 
within one month of the request, or such longer period as the authority 
may consider reasonable; or 

 
(b)  where paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 1 (application not on approved form or 

further information requested by authority) applies— 
 

(i)  the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the designated 
office properly completed within one month of it having been sent to 
him; or, as the case may be, 

 
(ii)  the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was 

requested under paragraph 4 of that Schedule within one month of 
the request, or, in either case, within such longer period as the 
authority may consider reasonable; or 

 
(c)  where the authority has requested further information, the authority 

receives at its designated office the properly completed application or the 
information requested to complete it within one month of the request or 
within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 

 
(6)  Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in 

Great Britain, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the 
authority but it is anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 
weeks (the relevant period), he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at 
any time in that period in respect of that tax and, provided that liability arises 
within the relevant period, the authority is to treat the application as having been 
made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 

Page 170



250113 uprated 

 
(7)  Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in 

Great Britain, where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme in the reduction week immediately following the date of his application 
but the authority is of the opinion that unless there is a change of circumstances 
he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a period beginning not 
later than— 

 
(a) in the case of an application made by  

(i) a pensioner,  
(ii)  a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained the age 

which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension 
credit,  

 
the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is 
made.  
 
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the 

thirteenth reduction week following the date on which the application is 
made, 

 
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week 
immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and 
award a reduction accordingly. 

 
(8) In this paragraph, “appropriate DWP office” means an office for the Department 

for Work and Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is 
normally open to the public for the receipt of claims for income support, a 
jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance. 

 
(9) For the purposes of this scheme, an existing claim and entitlement to Council 

Tax Benefit on 31st March 2013 must be treated as being a valid application for 
the purposes of the authority’s Council Tax Reduction scheme.  This sub-
paragraph is subject to any regulations that are laid before Parliament and 
come into force in relation to transitional  arrangements.   

 
(10) For the purposes of this scheme, an existing claim for Council Tax Benefit that 

has not been determined at 31st March 2013 must be treated as being a valid 
application for the purposes of the authority’s Council Tax Reduction scheme. 
This sub-paragraph is subject to any regulations that are laid before Parliament 
and come into force in relation to transitional  arrangements.   

 
Back-dating of applications: pensioners 
 
111. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the time for the making of an application under 

this scheme by a pensioner is as regards any day on which, apart from 
satisfying the condition of making an application, the applicant is entitled to such 
a reduction, that day and the period of three months immediately following it. 

 
(2)  In any case where paragraph 110(1)(a) applies, sub-paragraph (1) does not 

entitle a person to apply for a reduction under this scheme in respect of any day 
earlier than three months before the date on which the claim for state pension 

Page 171



250113 uprated 

credit is made (or treated as made by virtue of any provision of the Social 
Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987). 

 
Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners 
 
112. (1)  Where an applicant who is a person who is not a pensioner— 
 

(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which he 
subsequently requests should include) a period before the application is 
made; and 

 
(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or 

subsequently requested that the application should include a past period), 
the applicant had continuous good cause for failing to make an application 
(or request that the application should include that period), the application 
is to be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2). 

 
(2)  That date is the latest of— 

 
(a)  the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
 
(b)  the day 6 months before the date the application was made; 
 
(c)  the day 6 months before the date when the applicant requested that the 

application should include a past period. 
 
Information and evidence 
 
113. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a 

reduction under this scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to 
himself and to any other person in respect of whom he is making the 
application. 

 
(2)  This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 

 
(a) the application is accompanied by— 

(i)  a statement of the person’s national insurance number and 
information or evidence establishing that that number has been 
allocated to the person; or 

(ii)  information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the 
national insurance number that has been allocated to the person; or 

 
(b)  the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be 

allocated to him and the application for the reduction is accompanied by— 
(i)  evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so 

allocated; and 
(ii)  the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 

 
(3)  Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply— 

(a)  in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application 
for a reduction is made;  

Page 172



250113 uprated 

 
(b)  to a person who— 

(i) is a person who is a partner of a person or non-dependant resident in 
the dwelling with the person making an application for a reduction 
under this scheme; 

 
(ii)  is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of 

this scheme; 
 
(iii)  is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 

115(9)(a) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 
 
(iv)  has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

 
(4)  Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person 

to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded, must furnish such 
certificates, documents, information and evidence in connection with the 
application or the award, or any question arising out of the application or the 
award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in order to determine 
that person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme and must do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so 
or such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

 
(5)  Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, 

documents, information or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-
paragraph (7) applies. 

 
(6)  Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (4), the authority must— 

 
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under this scheme 

has been awarded of his duty under paragraph 115 (duty to notify change 
of circumstances) to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; 
and 

 
(b)  without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 115, 

indicate to him either orally or by notice or by reference to some other 
document available to him on application and without charge, the kind of 
change of circumstances which is to be notified. 

 
(7)  This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 

 
(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen 

Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the 
London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund;  

 
(b)  a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 

(payments made under certain trusts and certain other payments), other 
than a payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

 
(c)  a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 30(9)(b) or (c) (payment 

made under certain trusts etc.) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 

Page 173



250113 uprated 

(payments made under certain trusts etc.) other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006). 

 
(8)  Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has 

been awarded or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit and is a member of, or a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, 
a personal pension scheme, he must where the authority so requires furnish the 
following information— 

 
(a)  the name and address of the pension fund holder, 
 
(b)  such other information including any reference or policy number as is 

needed to enable the personal pension scheme to be identified. 
 
 

Amendment and withdrawal of application 
 
114. (1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a 

decision has been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the 
designated office of the authority. 

 
(2)  Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of 

Schedule 1, the amendment may also be made by telephone. 
 
(3)  Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) or (2) is to be 

treated as if it had been amended in the first instance. 
 
(4)  A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the 

designated office of the authority at any time before a decision has been made 
on it. 

 
(5)  Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of 

Schedule 1, the withdrawal may also be made by telephone. 
 
(6)  Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) has 

effect when it is received. 
 

(7)  Where a person by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person 
must (if required to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or 
withdrawal by notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 

 
Duty to notify changes of circumstances 
 
115. (1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (3) and (9), the applicant (or any person acting on 

his behalf) must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of 
circumstances at any time— 

 
(a)  between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
 
(b)  after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is 

entitled to a reduction under this scheme) including at any time while the 
applicant is in receipt of such a reduction. 

Page 174



250113 uprated 

 
(2)  The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of 

circumstances which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be 
expected to know might affect his entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction 
under this scheme (a “relevant change of circumstances”) by giving notice to 
the authority— 

 
(a)  in writing; or 
 
(b)  by telephone— 
 

(i)  where the authority has published a telephone number for that 
purpose or for the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 1 unless the 
authority determines that in any particular case or class of case 
notification may not be given by telephone; or 

 
(ii)  in any case or class of case where the authority determines that 

notice may be given by telephone; or 
 

(c)  by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular 
case. 

 
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs or 
as soon as reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 

 
(3)  The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to 

notifying— 
 

(a)  changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
 
(b)  changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
 
(c)  in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in 

circumstances which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of 
the reduction under this scheme to which he is entitled, other than the 
cessation of that entitlement to the benefit.  

 
(4)  For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income 

support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance or universal credit.  

 
(5)  Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-

paragraph (1) to notify the authority of any change in the composition of his 
family arising from the fact that a person who was a member of his family is now 
no longer such a person because he has ceased to be a child or young person. 

 
(6)  The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) includes in the case of a 

person falling within class C (pensioners: alternative maximum council tax 
reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur in the 
number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any 
such adult ceases to be in receipt of state pension credit, the date when this 
occurs; 

Page 175



250113 uprated 

 
(7)  A person who has been awarded a reduction under this scheme who is also on 

state pension credit must report— 
 

(a)  changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependant normally 
residing with the applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides; 

 
(b)  any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 13 

weeks. 
 

(8)  In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (7), a 
person whose state pension credit comprises only the savings credit must also 
report— 

 
(a)  changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in 

the amount of reduction under this scheme allowed in his case, but not 
changes in the age of the child; 

 
(b) any change in the amount of the applicant's capital to be taken into 

account which does or may take the amount of his capital to more than 
£16,000;  

 
(c)  any change in the income or capital of— 

 
(i)  a non-dependant whose income and capital are treated as belonging 

to the applicant in accordance with paragraph 34 (circumstances in 
which income of a non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's); or 

 
(ii)  a person to whom paragraph 36(2)(e) (partner treated as member of 

the household under paragraph 8) refers,  
 

and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependant stops 
living or begins or resumes living with the applicant. 

 
(9)  A person who is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme and on 

state pension credit need only report to the authority the changes specified in 
sub-paragraphs (7) and (8). 

 
PART 15 

Decisions by authority 
 
Decision by authority 
 
116.  The authority is to make a decision on an application for a reduction under this 

scheme within 14 days of paragraphs 110 and 113 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 
being satisfied, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

 
Notification of decision 
 
117. (1)  The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it 

under this scheme— 
 

Page 176



250113 uprated 

(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter; 

 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably 

practicable thereafter. 
 

(2)  Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph 
(1) must include a statement— 

 
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(b); 
 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to 

comply with that duty; and 
 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to 

the reduction or its amount. 
 

(3) Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-
paragraph (1) must include a statement as to how the entitlement will be 
discharged. 

 
(4) In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person 

affected of the procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the 
person to the provisions of the scheme relating to the procedure for making an 
appeal. 

 
(5) A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of 

decision may, within one month of the date of the notification of that decision 
request in writing the authority to provide a written statement setting out the 
reasons for its decision on any matter set out in the notice. 

 
(6) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the 

person requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

 
(7) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person 

affected by a decision of the authority under this scheme where the rights, 
duties or obligations of that person are affected by that decision and the person 
falls within sub-paragraph (8). 

 
(8) This sub-paragraph applies to— 

(a) the applicant; 
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a 

dwelling and is unable for the time being to act— 
 

(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or 
as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

 
(ii)  in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed 

under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power 
to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on the person’s 
behalf; or 

Page 177



250113 uprated 

 
(ii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case 

may be, receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under 
the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney 
Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

 
(c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 109(3). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 16 
Circumstances in which a payment may be made 

 
Payment where there is a joint and several liability 
 
118. (1) Where – 
 

(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of his 
liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a 
financial year,  

 
(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the 

council tax: and  
 
(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the 

amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers would be 
inappropriate,  

 
it may make payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, 
rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must 

be made to the person who is entitled to the reduction.  
 
(3) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this 

scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person 
acting pursuant to an appointment under paragraph 109(3) (persons appointed 
to act for a person unable to act) or is treated as having been so appointed by 
virtue of paragraph 109 (5), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that 
person. 

 
Excess Reduction - Meaning of excess reduction  
 
119. “Excess reduction” means any amount which has been allowed by way of a 

council tax reduction under this scheme and to which there was no entitlement 
under these rules  and includes any excess which arises by reason of-- 

 

Page 178



250113 uprated 

(a) a reduction in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect of council tax 
in consequence of-- 
(i) regulations made under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduction in the 

amount of a person's council tax); or 
(ii) any discount or reduction to which that tax is subject by virtue of 

section 11, 11A or 13A, of that Act; 
 

(b) a substitution under section 31 of the 1992 Act (substituted amounts) 
of a lesser amount for an amount of council tax previously set by the 
authority under section 30 (amount set for council tax). 

 
 
 
 
Recoverable excess reduction  
 
120. (1) Any excess reduction, except a reduction to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, 

shall be recoverable. 
 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraphs (4) and (5) and excepting any excess reduction 
arising in consequence of a reduction in tax or substitution to which paragraph 
119 refers, this paragraph applies to an excess reduction allowed in 
consequence of an official error, where the applicant or a person acting on his 
behalf or any other person to whom the excess reduction is allowed could not, 
at the time the reduction was allowed or upon the receipt of any notice relating 
to the allowance of that reduction, reasonably have been expected to realise 
that it was an excess reduction. 

 
(3) In paragraph (2), "excess reduction allowed in consequence of an official error" 

means an overpayment caused by a mistake made whether in the form of an 
act or omission by-- 
(a) the authority; 
(b) an officer or person acting for the authority; 
(c) the Department for Work and Pensions; or 
(d) the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, acting as 

such; or a person providing services to the Department or to the 
Commissioners referred to in (c), 

 
where the claimant, a person acting on his behalf or any other person to whom 
the payment is made, did not cause or materially contribute to that mistake, act 
or omission. 

 
(4) Sub-paragraph (2) shall not apply with respect to excess reduction to which 

paragraph 119 (a) and (b) refers. 
 
(5) Where in consequence of an official error a person has been awarded an 

excess reduction, any excess reduction which remains credited to him by the 
authority shall be recoverable. 

 
Authority by which recovery may be made 
 
121.  The authority may recover a recoverable excess reduction. 

Page 179



250113 uprated 

 
Persons from whom recovery may be sought 
 
122.  A recoverable excess reduction is to be due from the applicant or the person to 

whom the excess reduction was allowed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 1 Paragraph 11 
Procedural matters 

 
PART 1 

 
Procedure for an application for a reduction under this scheme 

 
Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme 
 
1. Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
 
2. An application may be made— 

(a) in writing, 
 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this 

Schedule, or 
 
(c)  where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of 

receiving such applications, by telephone. 
 
3. (1)  An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office 

of the authority on a properly completed form. 
 

(2)  The form shall be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
 
4. Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
 

(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not 
accepted by the authority as being properly completed; or 

 
(c) it was made in writing but not on the form supplied for the purpose and the 

authority does not accept the application as being in a written form which is 
sufficient in the circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency 
of the written information and evidence, 

 
the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the 
applicant to complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-

Page 180



250113 uprated 

paragraph (b) applies, supply the applicant with the approved form or request 
further information and evidence. 
 

(2)  An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if 
completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any 
instructions to provide information and evidence in connection with the 
application. 

 
5. (1)  If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority 

must provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct 
the defect. 

 
(2)  An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant 

does not provide all the information the authority requires.  
 
6.  In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by 

telephone is only valid if the person making the application approves a written 
statement of his circumstances provided by the authority. 

 
7. (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the 

person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
 

(2)  An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide 
all the information the authority requests during the telephone call.  

 
PART 2 

Procedure for making an appeal 
 
Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority 
 
8.  A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority which affects –  
 

(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme 
(b) the amount of any reduction under this scheme 

 
may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on 
which, he is aggrieved. 
 
9. The authority must— 
 

(a)  consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
 
(b)  notify the aggrieved person in writing— 

 
(i)  that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
 
(ii)  that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the 

steps taken. 
 
10. Where, following notification under paragraph 9(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still 

aggrieved, or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance 

Page 181



250113 uprated 

with paragraph 9(b) within two months of the service of his notice, he may 
appeal to a valuation tribunal under section 16 of the 1992 Act. 

 
PART 3 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 
 
Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) 
of the 1992 Act 
 
11.  (1)  An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 

1992 Act may be made— 
 

(a)  in writing,  
(b)  or by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of 

this Schedule  
 

or. 
 

(c)  where the authority has published a telephone number for the purposes of 
receiving such applications, by telephone. 

 
(2)  Where –  

 
(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1) (c) in relation 

to a class in which liability is to be reduced; and  
(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme,  
 

that person’s application for a reduction under this scheme may also be treated as 
an application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 

 
(3)  An application made under sub-paragraph 1 shall provide such details as are 

reasonable and necessary to enable the Council to properly consider the 
application. 

 
(4)  Such details for the purposes of sub-paragraph 3 above shall include but not be 

limited to the reason for the application, the circumstances and context in which 
the application is made and the period for which the application is made. 

 
PART 4 

Electronic communication 
 
Interpretation 
 
12. In this Part of this Schedule— 
 

“information” includes an application, certificate, notice or other evidence; 
 

“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of 
the authority for the sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

 
Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

Page 182



250113 uprated 

 
13. (1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 

applications for, and awards of, reductions under this scheme where 
authorisation has been given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
the authority and the matters contained in sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) are 
satisfied.  

. 
(2)  A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in 

connection with the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions 
specified in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) are satisfied. 

 
(3)  The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an 

electronic communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of 
the Chief Executive of the authority. 

 
(4)  The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of— 

 
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
 
(b) electronic communication; 
 
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 
communication; and 
 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 
 
(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic 
communication is in a form supplied for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
 
(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic 
form as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 
 
(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 
 
(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the 
Chief Executive of the authority for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
 
Use of intermediaries 
 
14. The authority may use intermediaries in connection with— 
 
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, and may require 
other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 
 
Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 
 
15.—(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to 
be treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of this 
scheme, on the day the conditions imposed— 

Page 183



250113 uprated 

 
(a) by this Part; and 
 
(b) by or under an enactment, 
 
are satisfied. 
 
(2) The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
(3) Information must not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
delivered. 
 
 
Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 
16. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 
 
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 
official computer system; or 
 
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic 
communication from an official computer system, the sender or recipient, as the case may 
be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name is recorded as such on that official 
computer system. 
 
Proof of delivery of information 
17.—(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use 
of an electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this must be 
presumed to have been the case where— 
 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this must be 
presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
(3) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time 
and date of receipt must be presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 
 
Proof of content of information 
 
18. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content must be presumed 
to be that recorded on an official computer system. 
 

Page 184



250113 uprated 

 
 

SCHEDULE 2 Paragraph 25 
Applicable amounts: pensioners 

 
PART 1 

Personal allowances 
 
Personal allowance 

1.The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple 
specified in column (1) is the amount specified for the purposes of paragraph 
25(1)(a).  The amounts shown in this Schedule may be subject to uprating that 
is prescribed by the government and if so, the uprated amounts notified to the 
authority shall be deemed to apply to the authority scheme with effect from the 
relevant year commencing 1st April.     

 
 
Column (1)        Column (2) 
Person, couple or polygamous marriage    Amount 
 
 (1) Single applicant or lone parent— (1)     
 
(a) aged under 65;       (a) £148.35; 
 
(b) aged 65 or over.       (b) £165.15. 
 
 (2) Couple—        (2) 
 
(a) both members aged under 65;     (a) £226.50  
 
(b) one or both members aged 65 or over.   (b) £247.20 
 
(3) If the applicant is a member of a    (3) 
polygamous marriage and none of the 
members of the marriage has attained the 
age of 65— 
 
(a) for the applicant and the other party to   (a) £226.50 
the marriage; 
 
(b) for each additional spouse who is a    (b) £82.50 
member of the same household as the 
applicant. 
 
(4) If the applicant is a member of a    (4) 
polygamous marriage and one or more 
members of the marriage are aged 65 or 
over— 
 
(a) for the applicant and the other party to   (a) £247.20 
the marriage; 
 

Page 185



250113 uprated 

(b) for each additional spouse who is a    (b) £82.05 
member of the same household as the 
applicant. 
 
Child or young person amounts 
2.—(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in 
column (1) are the amounts, for the relevant period specified in column (1), specified for 
the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(b). 
Column (1)        Column (2) 
 
Child or young person      Amount 
 
Person in respect of the period— 
 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth   (a) £66.33 
and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that 
person’s sixteenth birthday; 
 
(b) beginning on the first Monday in    (b) £66.33 
September following that person’s 
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day 
preceding that person’s twentieth birthday. 
 
(2) In column (1) of the table “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which 
first occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 

PART 2 
Family premium 

Family premium 
3. The amount for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(c) in respect of a family of which at 
least one member is a child or young person is £17.40. 
 

PART 3 
Premiums 

 
4. The premiums specified in Part 4 are for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(d) applicable 
to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in this Part in respect of that premium. 
 
5.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a 
premium is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in 
receipt of any benefit for— 
 

(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) 
Regulations 1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provision of 
those Regulations, he would be in receipt of that benefit; and 
 
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction 
provided or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973, or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highland and Islands Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 

Page 186



250113 uprated 

(Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training 
allowance. 

 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 9 of this Schedule, a person is 
to be treated as being in receipt of a carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) 
only if and for so long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been 
claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability 
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at 
either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an 
AFIP. 
 
Severe disability premium 
6.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a 
severely disabled person if, and only if— 
 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having 
no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 or an AFIP and 
 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance in respect of caring for 
him; 
 
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of 
disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance 
with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal 
independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP; 
 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, each other member of that marriage is in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 
 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over 
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, 
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance in respect of caring 
for only one of the couple or, if he is a member of a polygamous marriage, for one or more 
but not all the members of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is entitled to 
and in receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member of a couple or 
any of the members of the marriage. 

Page 187



250113 uprated 

 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-
paragraph (4), that partner is to be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) as if he 
were not a partner of the applicant. 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a person is blind if he is registered in a register 
compiled by a local authority under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 
(welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is 
registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994. 
 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a person who has ceased to be registered as 
blind on regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as blind and as satisfying the 
additional condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the 
date on which he ceased to be so registered. 
 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account shall be taken 
of— 
 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the 
SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either 
rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP; or 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraphs (4) 
and (5). 
 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person shall be treated— 
 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the 
SSCBA, if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in 
receipt; 
 
(b) as being in receipt of the daily living component of personal independence payment 
paid at the rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 if he 
would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt, 
notwithstanding section 86 of that Act and regulations made thereunder; 
 
(c) as being in receipt of an AFIP if he would be so in receipt but for a suspension of 
payment in accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation 
scheme because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution;  
 
(d) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the person 
for whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so 
entitled and in receipt. 
 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b)— 
 

Page 188



250113 uprated 

(a) no account is to be taken of an award of carer’s allowance to the extent that payment 
of such an award is back-dated for a period before the date on which the award is first 
paid; and 
 
(b) references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s allowance shall include reference to 
a person who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the application of a 
restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit). 
 
Enhanced disability premium 
 
7.—(1) The condition is— 
 
(a) that the care component of disability living allowance is, or would, but for a suspension 
of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for 
an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation, be payable at the highest rate 
prescribed under section 73(2) of that Act, or   
 
(b) (as the case may be) that the daily living component of personal independence 
payment is, or would, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 be payable at the enhanced rate prescribed in 
accordance with section 78 (2) of that Act 
 
in respect of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family.  
 
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death 
of a child or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child 
benefit in respect of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death 
of child or qualifying young person). 
 
Disabled child premium 
 
8. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his 
is responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 
 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance, personal independence payment or is no 
longer in receipt of such allowance or payment because he is a patient, provided that the 
child or young person continues to be a member of the family; or 
 
(b) is blind within the meaning of paragraph 6(4) or treated as blind in accordance with 
paragraph 6(5); or 
 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement 
after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to 
child benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom 
a disabled child premium was included in the applicant’s applicable amount immediately 
before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in the applicant’s 
applicable amount because of that child or young person’s death. 
 
Carer premium 
 
9.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a 
carer’s allowance. 

Page 189



250113 uprated 

 
(2) Where a carer premium has been awarded but— 
 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 
(b) the person in respect of whom the premium was awarded ceases to be entitled, or 
ceases to be treated as entitled, to a carer’s allowance, 
 
this paragraph is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the relevant 
date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 
 
(a) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(a), the Sunday following the death of the person in 
respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded (or beginning with the date 
of death if the date occurred on a Sunday); 
 
(b) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(b), the date on which that person who was entitled 
to a carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to it. 
 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, a person is to be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of a carer’s allowance for any period not covered by an award but in respect of 
which a payment is made in lieu of an award. 
 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
 
10.For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under 
paragraphs 6 to 9, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the 
non-payment of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a 
payment of that benefit. 
 
Person in receipt of benefit 
 
11.For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in 
receipt of any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded 
only for any period in respect of which that benefit is paid. 
 

 
PART 4 

Amounts of premium specified in Part 3 
 
Provision Amount 
12.—(1) Severe Disability Premium—     (a) £61.10 
(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 6(2)(a); 
 
(b) where the applicant satisfies the     (b)  
condition in paragraph 6(2)(b)— 
 
(i) in a case where there is someone     (i) £61.10 
in receipt of a carer’s allowance 
or if he or any partner satisfies 
that condition only by virtue of 

Page 190



250113 uprated 

paragraph 6(7); 
 
(ii) in a case where there is no-one in     (ii) £122.20 
receipt of such an allowance. 
. 
(2) Enhanced disability premium.  (2) £24.08 in respect of each 

child or young person in 
respect of whom  the 
conditions specified in 
paragraph 7 are satisfied 

 
(3) Disabled Child Premium.  (3) £59.50 in respect of each 

child or young person in 
respect of whom the 
condition specified in 
paragraph 8 is satisfied 

 
 
(4) Carer Premium.  (4) £34.20 in respect of each 

person who satisfies the 
condition specified in 
paragraph 9. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 191



250113 uprated 

 
SCHEDULE 3 Paragraph 25 

Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 
 

PART 1 
Personal allowances 

 
1. The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple 
specified in column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 
26(1)(a) and 27(1)(a) and (b)— 
 
Column (1)       Column (2) 
Person or couple      Amount 
 (1) A single applicant who— (1) 
 
(a) is entitled to main phase employment 
and support allowance;     (a) £71.00; 
 
(b) is aged not less than 25;     (b) £71.00; 
 
(c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25.   (c) £56.25. 
 
(2) Lone parent.       (2) £71.00. 
 
(3) Couple.        (3) £111.45. 
 
2. For the purposes of paragraph 1 of this Schedule an applicant is entitled to main phase 
employment and support allowance if— 
 
(a) paragraph 18 of this Schedule is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
 
(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance. 
 
3.—(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in 
column (1) are, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for 
the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(b) and 27(1)(c) of this scheme— 
 
Column (1)       Column (2) 
Child or Young person     Amount  
 
Person in respect of the period— 
 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth 
and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that 
person’s sixteenth birthday;    £64.99 
 
(b) beginning on the first Monday in 
September following that person’s 
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day 
preceding that person’s twentieth birthday.  £64.99 
 

Page 192



250113 uprated 

 
(2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means 
the Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 

PART 2 
Family premium 

 
4.—(1) The amount for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(c) and 27(1)(d) in respect of a 
family of which at least one member is a child or young person shall be— 
 
(a) where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (2) applies, £22.20; 
 
(b) in any other case, £17.40. 
 
(2) The amount in sub-paragraph (1)(a) is applicable to a lone parent— 
 
(a) who was entitled to council tax benefit on 5th April 1998 and whose applicable amount 
on that date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 1 to the 
Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit) Regulations 2006 as in force on that date; or 
 
(b) on becoming entitled to council tax benefit where that lone parent— 
 
(i) had been treated as entitled to that benefit in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) as at 
the day before the date of claim for that benefit; and 
(ii) was entitled to housing benefit as at the date of claim for council tax benefit or 
would have been entitled to housing benefit as at that date had that day not fallen 
during a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006, and in respect of whom, all of the conditions specified in sub-paragraph 
(3) have continued to apply. 
 
(3) The conditions specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) are that, in respect of 
the period commencing on 6th April 1998— 
(a) the applicant has not ceased to be entitled, or has not ceased to be treated as entitled, 
to— 
 
(i) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013), and 
(ii) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st April 
2013); 
 
(b) the applicant has not ceased to be a lone parent; 
 
(c) where the applicant was entitled to income support or to an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance on 5th April 1998, he has continuously, since that date, been entitled to income 
support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income-related employment and 
support allowance or a combination of those benefits; 
 
(d) where the applicant was not entitled to income support or to an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance on 5th April 1998, he has not become entitled to income support, an 
income based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance; and 
 

Page 193



250113 uprated 

(e) a premium under paragraph 9 or a component under paragraph 21 or 22 has not 
become applicable to the applicant. 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2)(b)(i) and (3)(a), an applicant is to be treated as 
entitled to council tax benefit during any period where he was not, or had ceased to be, so 
entitled and— 
 
(a) throughout that period, he had been awarded housing benefit and his applicable 
amount included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (lone parent rate of family premium); or 
 
(b) he would have been awarded housing benefit during that period had that period not 
been a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 and his applicable amount throughout that period would have included the amount 
applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to those Regulations. 
 

PART 3 
Premiums 

 
5. Except as provided in paragraph 6 of this Schedule, the premiums specified in Part 4 
are for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(d) and 27(1)(e) (premiums) applicable to an 
applicant who satisfies the condition specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 in respect of that 
premium. 
 
6. Subject to paragraph 7, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more 
than one premium in this Part of this Schedule, only one premium is applicable to him and, 
if they are different amounts, the higher or highest amount applies.  
 
7. The following premiums, namely— 
(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies; 
(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12 applies; 
(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13 applies; and 
(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14 applies, 
 
may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule. 
 
8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a 
premium is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in 
receipt of any benefit for— 
 
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 
1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those 
Regulations, he would be in receipt of that benefit; and 
 
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided 
or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 for any 
period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 
 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14 of this Schedule, a person 
is to be treated as being in receipt of carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) 

Page 194



250113 uprated 

only if and for so long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been 
claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability 
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable 
under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
Disability premium 
 
9. The condition is that— 
 
(a) where the applicant is a single applicant or a lone parent, he has not attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition specified in paragraph 
10 is satisfied; or 
 
(b) where the applicant has a partner, either— 
 
(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 
additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by him; or 
(ii) his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 
additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his partner. 
 
Additional condition for the disability premium  
 
10.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8, the additional condition referred to 
in paragraph 9 is that either— 
 
(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner— 
 
(i) is in receipt of one or more of the following benefits: attendance allowance, 
disability living allowance, personal independence payment, the disability element or 
the severe disability element of working tax credit as specified in regulation 20(1)(b) 
and (f) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 
2000, mobility supplement, long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the 
SSCBA or severe disablement allowance under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of 
long-term incapacity benefit or severe disablement allowance, only where it is paid 
in respect of him; or 
 
(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA when 
entitlement to that benefit ceased on account of the payment of a retirement pension 
under that Act and the applicant has since remained continuously entitled to council 
tax benefit and, if the long-term incapacity benefit was payable to his partner, the 
partner is still a member of the family; or 
 
(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but payment of 
benefit has been suspended in accordance with regulations made under section 
113(2) of the SSCBA or otherwise abated as a consequence of the applicant or his 
partner becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) (treatment of 
child care charges); or 
 
(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that benefit has 
been suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 as a 
consequence of the applicant becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 

Page 195



250113 uprated 

58(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 
 
(v) is provided by the Secretary of State with an invalid carriage or other vehicle under 
section 5(2) of the National Health Service Act 1977 (other services) or, in Scotland, 
under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 (provision of 
services by Scottish Ministers) or receives payments by way of grant from the 
Secretary of State under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the Act of 1977 (additional 
provisions as to vehicles) or, in Scotland, by Scottish Ministers under section 46 of 
the Act of 1978; or 
 
(vi) is blind and in consequence registered in a register compiled by a local authority 
under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in 
Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register 
maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
 
(b) the applicant— 
 
(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and 
 
(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period 
of not less than— 
 
(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 
30B(4) of the SSCBA, 196 days; 
 
(bb) in any other case, 364 days. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vi), a person who has ceased to be 
registered as blind on regaining his eyesight shall nevertheless be treated as blind and as 
satisfying the additional condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks 
following the date on which he ceased to be so registered. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to 
an applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, if 
he then ceases, for a period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as incapable of work or to be 
incapable of work he is, on again becoming so incapable of work, immediately thereafter to  
be treated as satisfying the condition in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to 
an applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, 
he is to continue to be treated as satisfying that condition for any period spent by him in 
undertaking a course of training provided under section 2 of the Employment and Training 
Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any 
period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 
 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of incapacity 
are separated by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods are to be treated as one 
continuous period. 
 

Page 196



250113 uprated 

(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt of 
long-term incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term 
incapacity benefit at a rate equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of the 
Act (short-term incapacity benefit for a person who is terminally ill), or who would be or 
would have been in receipt of short-term incapacity benefit at such a rate but for the fact 
that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit already payable to him is or was equal to or 
greater than the long-term rate. 
 
(7) In the case of an applicant who is a welfare to work beneficiary (a person to whom 
regulation 13A(1) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995 
applies, and who again becomes incapable of work for the purposes of Part 12A of the 
SSCBA)— 
 

(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and 
 

(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5), 
shall in each case is to be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks. 

 
(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated as having, 
limited capability for work. 
 
Severe disability premium 
 
11.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a 
severely disabled person if, and only if— 
 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having 
no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; and 
 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the 
SSCBA in respect of caring for him; 
 

(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(c)  

(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of 
disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance 
with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal 
independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012; and 
 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 

Page 197



250113 uprated 

(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over 
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, 
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance in respect of caring 
for only one of a couple or, in the case of a polygamous marriage, for one or more but not 
all the partners of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is entitled to and in 
receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member of a couple or any 
partner of a polygamous marriage. 
 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 
10(1)(a)(v) and (2), that partner shall be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a partner of the applicant. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken 
of— 
 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue of the 
care component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA; or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable 
at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; or 
 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) 
and (2). 
 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated— 
 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the 
SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at 
either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, if he would, but for his being a 
patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt; 
 
(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the person 
for whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so 
entitled and in receipt. 
 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account is to be taken of an 
award of carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is back-dated for a 
period before the date on which the award is first paid. 
 
(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s 
allowance include references to a person who would have been in receipt of that 
allowance but for the application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social 
Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions provisions). 
 
Enhanced disability premium 
 
12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that— 
 
(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as having, 
limited capability for work-related activity; or 
 
(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the highest 

Page 198



250113 uprated 

rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of benefit in 
accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an 
abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation be payable at the highest rate prescribed 
under section 72(3) of the SSCBA in respect of— 
 
(i) the applicant; or 
 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, 
 
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
 
(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be payable 
at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a suspension of benefit 
in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in respect of— 
 
(i) the applicant; or 
 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, 
 
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit. 
 
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death 
of a child or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child 
benefit in respect of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death 
of child or qualifying young person). 
 
(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is— 
 
(a) an applicant who— 
 
(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and 
(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(j) of this scheme (treatment of child 
care charges) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or 
 
(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient 
within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(j) and has been for a period of more than 52 
weeks. 
 
Disabled child premium 
 
13. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his 
is responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 
 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no 
longer in receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child or 
young person continues to be a member of the family; or 
 
(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10; or 
 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement 
after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to 
child benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom 

Page 199



250113 uprated 

a disabled child premium was included in the applicant’s applicable amount immediately 
before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in the applicant’s 
applicable amount because of that child or young person’s death. 
 
Carer premium 
 
14.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to 
a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 
 
(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but— 
 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 
 
(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been awarded 
ceases to be entitled to a carer’s allowance,  
 
the condition for the award of the premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight 
weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) shall be— 
 
(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the person in 
respect of whose care a carer’s allowance has been awarded or the date of death if the 
death occurred on a Sunday; 
 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a carer’s 
allowance ceases to be entitled to that allowance. 
 
(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to 
that allowance and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for the award of the 
carer premiumis to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the date on 
which— 
 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or  
 
(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceased to 
be entitled to that allowance. 
 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
15. For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under 
paragraphs 10 to 14, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the 
non-payment of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a 
payment of that benefit. 
 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
 
16. For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in 
receipt of any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded 
only for any period in respect of which that benefit is paid. 
 
 
 

Page 200



250113 uprated 

PART 4 
Amounts of Premiums Specified in Part 3 

 
Premium        Amount 
 
17.—(1) Disability Premium— 

(1) 
(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(a);    (a) £30.35; 
 
(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(b).    (b) £43.25. 
 
(2) Severe Disability Premium—     (2) 
 
(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 11(2)(a); 

(a) £58.20; 
 
(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 11(2)(b)— 
 
(i) in a case where there is someone 
in receipt of a carer’s allowance 
or if he or any partner satisfies 
that condition only by virtue of 
paragraph 11(5); 

(b)(i) £58.20; 
 
(ii) (ii) in a case where there is no-one 
in receipt of such an allowance. 

(b)(ii) £116.40. 
 
 
(3) Disabled Child Premium.  (3) £56.63 in respect of each child 

or young person in respect of whom 
the condition specified in paragraph 
13 of Part 3 of this Schedule is 
satisfied. 

 
(4) Carer Premium.  (4) £32.60 in respect of each person 

who satisfies the condition specified 
in paragraph 14. 

 
(5) Enhanced disability premium (5) 

(a) £22.89 in respect of each child 
or young person in respect of whom 
the conditions specified in 
paragraph 12 are satisfied; 
 
(b) £14.80 in respect of each person 
who is neither— 

Page 201



250113 uprated 

(i) a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in respect of 
whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 12 are satisfied; 

 
(c) £21.30 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 12 
are satisfied in respect of a member 
of that couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

 
PART 5 

The components 
 
18. Subject to paragraph 20 the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the 
components in paragraph 21 or 22 if— 
 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner has made a claim for employment and support 
allowance; 
 
(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or 
is to be treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for work-related 
activity; and 
 
(c) either— 
 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has 
ended; or 
 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before 
entitlement to the support component or the work related activity component arises 
does not apply) applies.  
 
19. Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the 
components in paragraphs 21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a 
converted employment and support allowance. 
 
20.—(1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is 
entitled to the disability premium under paragraphs 9 and 10. 
(2) Where the applicant and the applicant’s partner each satisfies paragraph 21 or 22, the 
component to be included in the applicant’s applicable amount is that which relates to the 
applicant. 
 
The work-related activity component 
 
21. The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component if the Secretary of State 
has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, 
limited capability for work. 

Page 202



250113 uprated 

 
The support component 
 
22. The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has 
decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, 
limited capability for work-related activity. 

 
PART 6 

Amount of Components 
 
23. The amount of the work-related activity component is £28.15. 
 
24. The amount of the support component is £34.05. 
 

PART 7 
Transitional Addition 

 
25.—(1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with 
paragraph 28 where the applicant or the applicant’s partner (“the relevant person”)— 
 
(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or 
 
(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council 
Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2010)and— 
 
(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2010) and 
 
(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance, 
unless the amount of the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 28 
would be nil. 
 
(2) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 
any of the following— 
 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29;  
 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of reduction under this scheme; 
 
(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), as 
the case may be; 
 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income 
support;  
 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
26.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 

Page 203



250113 uprated 

(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the termination of 
the applicant’s award of reduction, under— 
 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(b); 
(ii) sub-paragraph (3)(b); or 
(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b); 
 
(b) within 12 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant again 
becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
 
(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related; 
 
(d) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income 
support.  
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on 
which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a 
transitional addition of the amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had 
the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the 
effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by virtue of 
paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil. 
 
(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 
any of the following— 
 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c); 
 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income 
support;   
 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
27.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
 
(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant 
person ceasing to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under— 
 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(c); 
(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or 
(iii) sub-paragraph (3)(c); 
 

Page 204



250113 uprated 

(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
and support allowance which is not income-related; 
 
(c) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the Employment 
and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies to the relevant person;  
 
(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s 
partner is entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or income support.  
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day that the 
relevant person’s entitlement to employment and support allowance takes effect for the 
purposes of a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the amount of the 
transitional addition that would have applied had the applicant’s entitlement to a 
transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening 
change of circumstances would have had by virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of 
the transitional addition would be nil. 
 
(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 
any of the following— 
 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income 
support 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 

PART 8 
Amount of Transitional Addition 

 
28.—(1) Subject to paragraph 29 of this Schedule, the amount of the transitional addition 
is the amount by which Amount A exceeds Amount B. 
 
(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the Employment and 
Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 Regulations”) is made in respect of 
the relevant person— 
 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that decision took 
effect had that decision not been made; and 
 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision. 
 
(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in 
regulation 5(2)(b) of the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability for 
work by virtue of regulation 30 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008 as modified by the 2010 Regulations— 

Page 205



250113 uprated 

 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant person 
was first treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person had not been 
so treated; and 
 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant 
person being so treated. 
 
(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such 
amounts as may apply in the applicant’s case in accordance with paragraph 26(1)(a) to (e) 
or paragraph 27(1)(a) to (f) (applicable amounts). 
  
29.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which 
leads to an increase in the applicant’s basic amount, the transitional addition that applies 
immediately before the change of circumstances must be reduced by the amount by which 
Amount C exceeds Amount D. 
 
(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional addition 
that applies immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional addition 
must be reduced to nil. 
 
(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase. 
 
(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase. 
 
 

SCHEDULE 4    Paragraph 31 
 

Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners 
 
1.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, the alternative maximum council tax reduction in 
respect of a day for the purpose of paragraph 31 (alternative maximum council tax 
reduction: pensioners) is determined in accordance with the following Table and in this 
Table— 
 
(a) “second adult” means any person or persons residing with the applicant to whom 
paragraph 15(2) class C applies; and 
 
(b) “persons to whom paragraph 75(1) of this scheme applies” includes any person to 
whom that paragraph would apply were they, and their partner if they had one, below the 
qualifying age for state pension credit.  
 
(2) In this Schedule “council tax due in respect of that day” means the council tax payable 
under section 10 of the 1992 Act less— 
 
(a) any reductions made in consequence of any enactment in, or under, the 1992 Act 
(other than a reduction under this scheme); and 
 
(b) in a case to which sub-paragraph (c) in column (1) of the table below applies, the 
amount of any discount which may be appropriate to the dwelling under the 1992 Act. 
 
(1)          (2) 

Page 206



250113 uprated 

Second adult      Alternative maximum council tax reduction 
(a) Where the second adult or all second adults 
are in receipt of income support, an income 
related employment and support allowance or 
state pension credit or are persons on an (a) 25 per cent of the council tax due in 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance;  respect of that day; 
 
(b) where the gross income of the second adult  (b) 
or, where there is more than one second adult, 
their aggregate gross income disregarding any 
income of persons on income support, an 
income-related employment and support 
allowance, state pension credit or an income  
based jobseeker’s allowance— 
 
(i) is less than £185.00 per week;  (i) 15 per cent of the council tax due in 

respect of that day; 
 
(ii) is not less than £185.00 per week but less  
than £241.00 per week;  (ii) 7.5 per cent of the council tax due in 

respect of that day; 
 
 
(c) where the dwelling would be wholly   (c) 100 per cent of the council tax due in 
occupied by one or more persons to whom  respect of that day. 
paragraph 75(1) of this scheme applies but for 
the presence of one or more second adults who 
are in receipt of income support, state pension 
credit, an income-related employment and 
support allowance or are persons on an income  
based jobseeker’s allowance.  
 
2. In determining a second adult’s gross income for the purposes of this Schedule, the 
following must be disregarded from that income— 
 
(a) any attendance allowance, any disability living allowance or any personal 
independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP; 
 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, 
are paid as income in kind (the reference to “income in kind” does not include a payment 
to a third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant); and 
 
(c) the payments set out in sub-paragraph 2A below. 
 
2A. The payments mentioned in sub-paragraph 2(c) are –  
(a) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006);  
 

Page 207



250113 uprated 

(b) any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made  
under or by any of the Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers and which is made to or for 
the benefit of— 

 
(i) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 

person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has 
formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that 
person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person’s 
death; 

 
(ii) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 

member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
 
(iii) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such 

a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 
 
(c) any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person 

who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a 
qualifying person provided that the partner or former partner and that 
person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have 
formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, 
if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death, 
which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which 
paragraph (a) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

 
(i) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 
(ii) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 

member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
 
(iii) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such 

a member and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 
 
(d) any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a 

qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the 
Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers, where— 

 
(i) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged 

or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not 
been dissolved, nor any child or young person who is or had been a 
member of that person’s family; and 

 
(ii) the payment is made either— 
(aa) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 
(bb) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or 

a student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent 
or step-parent, to his guardian, but only for a period from the date of the 
payment until the end of two years from that person’s death; 

 

Page 208



250113 uprated 

(e) any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or 
who was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by 
any of the Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers, where— 

 
(i) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or 

former partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom 
he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any 
child or young person who was or had been a member of his family; and 

 
(ii) the payment is made either— 
(aa) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 
(bb) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a 

student who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent 
or stepparent,  

 
to his guardian, but only for a period of two years from the relevant date; 
 
(f) in the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in 

this sub-paragraph is made, any income which derives from any payment 
of income or capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
3. Where there are two or more second adults residing with the applicant for a reduction 
under this scheme and any such second adult falls to be disregarded for the purposes of 
discount in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, his income is to be disregarded in 
determining the amount of any alternative maximum council tax reduction, unless that 
second adult is a member of a couple and his partner does not fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount. 
 
4. The amounts and ranges shown in this Schedule may be subject to uprating that is 
prescribed by the government and if so, the uprated amounts notified to the authority shall 
be deemed to apply to the authority scheme with effect from the relevant year 
commencing 1st April.     
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 5    Paragraph 40 
 

Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners 
 
1. Where two or more of paragraphs 2 to 5 apply in any particular case the overall 
maximum sum which falls to be disregarded in that case under those paragraphs is 
restricted to— 
 
(a) £25 in the case of a lone parent; 
 
(b) £20 in any other case. 
 
2. In a case where an applicant is a lone parent, £25 of earnings. 
 
3.—(1) In a case of earnings from any employment or employments to which sub-
paragraph (2) applies, £20. 

Page 209



250113 uprated 

 
(2) This paragraph applies to employment— 
 
(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which 
section 4 of that Act applies; 
 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service 
established under section 1A of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(a); 
 
(c) as an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
 
(d) in the manning or launching of a lifeboat if the employment is part-time; 
 
(e) as a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the 
Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 
 
(3) If— 
 
(a) any of the earnings of the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner, or both of them, 
are disregarded under sub-paragraph (1); and 
  
(b) either of them has, or both of them have, other earnings, so much of those other 
earnings as would not, in the aggregate with the earnings disregarded under that sub-
paragraph, exceed £20. 
 
4.—(1) If the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner is a carer, or both are carers, £20 
of any earnings received from his or their employment. 
 
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of 
his, their earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount 
to be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 
 
(3) In this paragraph the applicant or his partner is a carer if paragraph 14 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 (amount applicable for carers) is satisfied in respect of him. 
 
5.—(1) £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner— 
 
(a) is in receipt of— 
 
(i) long-term incapacity benefit under section 30A of the SSCBA; 
(ii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of that Act; 
(iii) attendance allowance under sections 64 of that Act; 
(iv) disability living allowance;  
(v) personal independence payment; 
(vi) an AFIP; 
(vii) any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement 
by virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries 
(Civilians) Scheme 1983; 
(viii) the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit under 

Page 210



250113 uprated 

Schedule 2 to the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 
2002; or 
(vix) main phase employment and support allowance; or 
 
(b) is or are registered as blind in a register compiled by a local authority under section 29 
of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified 
as blind and in consequence is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a 
council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
 
(c) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work), and has been 
incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less 
than— 
(i) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 30B(4) 
of the Act, 196 days; 
(ii) in any other case, 364 days; or 
 
(d) has, or is treated as having, limited capacity for work within the meaning of section 1(4) 
of the Welfare Reform Act 1997 or limited capability for work-related activity within the 
meaning of section 2(5) of that Act and either— 
 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has 
ended; or 
 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before 
entitlement to the support component or the work-related activity component arising 
does not apply) applies. 
 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, 
his partner has, within a period of 8 weeks ending on the day in respect of which the 
applicant or his partner attains the qualifying age for state pension credit, had an award of 
housing benefit or council tax benefit or been in receipt of a reduction under this scheme 
and— 
 
(a) £20 was disregarded in respect of earnings taken into account in that award; and 
 
(b) the person whose earnings qualified for the disregard continues in employment after 
the termination of that award. 
 
(3) The disregard of £20 specified in sub-paragraph (2) applies so long as there is no 
break, other than a break which does not exceed 8 weeks, in a person's— 
 
(a) entitlement to housing benefit; or 
(b) receipt of a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme; or 
(c) employment, 
 
following the first day in respect of which that benefit is awarded under this scheme. 
 
(4) £20 is the maximum amount which may be disregarded under this paragraph, 
notwithstanding that, where the applicant has a partner, both the applicant and his partner 
satisfy the requirements of this paragraph. 

Page 211



250113 uprated 

 
6.—(1) Where— 
 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as 
defined in sub-paragraph (6); and 
 
(c) paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) 4 does not apply,  
 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 1 to 5 and 8 do not apply; but in any case 
where the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the 
amount specified in paragraph 2, then paragraph 2 applies instead of this paragraph. 
 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members 
applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one 
member of a couple (“A”) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except 
to the extent provided in sub-paragraph (4). 
 
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there is also to be disregarded 
so much of B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 
 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 
for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
 
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008;  
or (as the case may be); or 
 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an 
applicant or a member of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial 
whether that person or their partner is also undertaking other work. 
 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 
provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 
 

Page 212



250113 uprated 

7. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under 
paragraph 18 or 19 of Schedule 6 had the applicant's income which does not consist of 
earnings been sufficient to entitle him to the full amount disregarded thereunder. 
 
8. Except where the applicant or his partner qualifies for a £20 disregard under the 
preceding provisions of this Schedule— 
 
(a) £5 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has no partner has earnings; 
 
(b) £10 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has a partner has earnings. 
 
9. Any earnings, other than earnings referred to in paragraph 40(9)(b), derived from 
employment which ended before the day in respect of which the applicant first satisfies the 
conditions for entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 
 
10.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the 
conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of 
the amounts set out in sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be 
disregarded under this Schedule is to be increased by £17.10. 
 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
 
(a) the applicant, or if he has a partner, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to 
whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002 applies; or 
 
(b) the applicant— 
 
(i) is, or any partner of his is, aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 30 hours per week; or 
 

(iii) if he is a member of a couple— 
(iv)  

(aa) at least one member of that couple is engaged in remunerative work for on 
average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 2; or 
 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 
hours per week; or 
 
(iv) is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, engaged in remunerative work for on 
average not less than 16 hours per week and paragraph 5(1) above is satisfied in 
respect of that person. 
 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
 
(a) any amount disregarded under this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c) 
(deductions from income of certain child care charges); and 
(c) £17.10. 

Page 213



250113 uprated 

 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or 
not a person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference 
to 16 hours in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph was a reference to 30 hours. 
 
11. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking 
charge or commission payable in converting to that payment into Sterling. 
 

SCHEDULE 6     Paragraph 40 
 
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners 
 
1. In addition to any sum which falls to be disregarded in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 
6, £10 of any of the following— 
 
 
(a) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 
power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 
 
(b) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to 
less than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 39(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed 
Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, so much of that 
pension or payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed income 
payment disregarded, exceed £10; 
 
(c) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 
is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
 
(d) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is 
analogous to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (c) to (d) 
above; 
 
(e) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision 
made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic 
of Austria. 
 
1A. In addition to any sum which falls to be disregarded in accordance with paragraphs 2 
to 6, 100% of any of the following— 
 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 
under paragraph 2 or 3); 
 
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
 
2. The whole of any amount included in a pension to which paragraph 1 relates in respect 
of— 
 
(a) the applicant's need for constant attendance; 
 
(b) the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement. 

Page 214



250113 uprated 

 
3. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by 
virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) 
Scheme 1983 or any payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a 
supplement. 
 
4. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses 
and surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State 
for Defence to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order.  
 
5. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the 
Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil 
partners), the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 
 
6.—(1) Any payment which is— 
 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil 
partner of a person— 
 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
 
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 
 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th 
December 1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 
14th January 1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 
 
7. £15 of any widowed parent's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 
39A of the SSCBA. 
 
8. £15 of any widowed mother's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 
37 of the SSCBA. 
 
9. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 
board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for whom such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 
 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent. of such 
payments; or 
 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent. of the 
excess over £20. 
 
10. If the applicant— 

Page 215



250113 uprated 

(a) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; 
and 
 
(b) occupies a part of that property; and 
 
(c) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy another part of 
that property on payment of rent and— 
 
(i) the amount paid by that person is less than £20 per week, the whole of that amount; 
or (ii) the amount paid is £20 or more per week, £20. 
 
11. Where an applicant receives income under an annuity purchased with a loan, which 
satisfies the following conditions— 
 
(a) that the loan was made as part of a scheme under which not less than 90 per cent. of 
the proceeds of the loan were applied to the purchase by the person to whom it was made 
of an annuity ending with his life or with the life of the survivor of two or more persons (in 
this paragraph referred to as “the annuitants”) who include the person to whom the loan 
was made; 
 
(b) that at the time the loan was made the person to whom it was made or each of the 
annuitants had attained the age of 65; 
 
(c) that the loan was secured on a dwelling in Great Britain and the person to whom the 
loan was made or one of the annuitants owns an estate or interest in that dwelling; 
 
(d) that the person to whom the loan was made or one of the annuitants occupies the 
dwelling on which it was secured as his home at the time the interest is paid; and 
 
(e) that the interest payable on the loan is paid by the person to whom the loan was made 
or by one of the annuitants, the amount, calculated on a weekly basis, equal to— 
 
(i) where, or insofar as, section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
(mortgage interest payable under deduction of tax) applies to the payments of 
interest on the loan, the interest which is payable after deduction of a sum equal to 
income tax on such payments at the applicable percentage of income tax within the 
meaning of section 369(1A) of that Act; 
 
(ii) in any other case, the interest which is payable on the loan without deduction of such 
a sum. 
 
12.—(1) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, made to 
the applicant by Trustees in exercise of a discretion exercisable by them. 
 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to payments made to the applicant by Trustees in exercise 
of a discretion exercisable by them for the purpose of— 
 
(a) obtaining food, ordinary clothing or footwear or household fuel; 
 
(b) the payment of rent, council tax or water charges for which that applicant or his partner 
is liable; 
 

Page 216



250113 uprated 

(c) meeting housing costs of a kind specified in Schedule 2 to the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002. 
 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, £20 or— 
 
(a) if the payment is less than £20, the whole payment; 
 
(b) if, in the applicant's case, £10 is disregarded in accordance with paragraph 1(a) to (g), 
£10 or the whole payment if it is less than £10; or 
 
(c) if, in the applicant's case, £15 is disregarded under paragraph 7 or paragraph 8 and— 
 
(i) he has no disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), £5 or the whole payment if it is less 
than £5; 
 
(ii) he has a disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), nil. 
 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, “ordinary clothing or footwear” means clothing or 
footwear for normal daily use, but does not include school uniforms, or clothing and 
footwear used solely for sporting activities. 
 
13. Any increase in pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and Air 
Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 paid in respect of a 
dependent other than the pensioner's partner. 
 
14. Any payment ordered by a court to be made to the applicant or the applicant's partner 
in consequence of any accident, injury or disease suffered by the person or a child of the 
person to or in respect of whom the payments are made. 
 
15. Periodic payments made to the applicant or the applicant's partner under an 
agreement entered into in settlement of a claim made by the applicant or, as the case may 
be, the applicant's partner for an injury suffered by him. 
 
16. Any income which is payable outside the United Kingdom for such period during which 
there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 
 
17. Any banking charges or commission payable in converting to Sterling payments of 
income made in a currency other than Sterling. 
 
18. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a 
course at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United 
Kingdom, which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 
 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 1 or 2 of 
the Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that 
student's award; 
 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance 
under that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by 
section 73 of that Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
 

Page 217



250113 uprated 

(c) the student's student loan, an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental 
contribution, but only in respect of the period for which that contribution is assessed as 
being payable. 
 
19.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced 
education who either— 
  
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 
awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980,  
 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 18, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student's term. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount is to be equal to— 
 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
 
(b) £57.35 less the weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or 
payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
 
20.—(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family 
premium, £15 of any payment of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which 
is made or due to be made by the applicant's spouse, civil partner, former spouse or 
former civil partner or the applicant's partner's spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or 
former civil partner. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), where more than one maintenance payment 
falls to be taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and 
treated as if they were a single payment. 
 
21. Except in a case which falls under paragraph 10 of Schedule 5, where the applicant is 
a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any 
amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 
 
22. Where the total value of any capital specified in Part 2 (capital disregarded only for the 
purposes of determining deemed income) of Schedule 9 does not exceed £10,000, any 
income actually derived from such capital. 
 
23. Except in the case of income from capital specified in Part 2 of Schedule 9, any actual 
income from capital.  
 
24. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 
2003, was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance but ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of 
regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in 
force at that date, the whole of his income. 

Page 218



250113 uprated 

 
SCHEDULE 7    Paragraph 53 

 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

 
1. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an 
employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so 
engaged— 
 
(a) where— 
(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
 
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so entitled 
solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions,  
 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a period 
commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the employment was 
terminated; 
 
(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the 
employment has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid 
or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
 
(i) any payment of the nature described in— 
 
(aa) paragraph 51(1)(e) (retainer), or 
 
(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); and 
 
(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in— 
 
(aa) paragraph 51(1)(g) or (i) (compensation etc. relating to employment), or 
 
(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments and 
suspension from work: complaints to employment tribunals), 
including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an 
employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 
 
(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme— 
 
(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
 
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 
 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) 
(statutory sick pay, etc). 
 
2. In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under 
this scheme— 
 

Page 219



250113 uprated 

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 
employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 
 
(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment has 
been terminated,  
 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature described in 
paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or remuneration of the 
nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) (statutory sick pay, 
etc). 
 
3. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time 
employment as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, 
would have been so engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of 
the cessation of his employment, any earnings derived from that employment except 
earnings to which paragraph 53(3) and (4) of this scheme (earnings of self-employed 
earners) apply. 
 
4.—(1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding paragraph 33 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of 
members of an applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies 
to an applicant it does not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the 
earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than 
£20. 
 
(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by 
way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity component 
or support component under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not 
pensioners) 
. 
(3) This paragraph applies where— 
 
(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount 
by way of the disability premium under Schedule 3; and 
 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at least 
one is engaged in employment. 
 
5. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £35. 
 
6.—(1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant 
and, subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who 
are not pensioners), £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the 
preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in accordance with 
paragraph 14(2) of that Schedule as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 
 

Page 220



250113 uprated 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of 
his, their earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount 
to be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 
 
7. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a 
couple and whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other 
member of the couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment— 
 
(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not 
when aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20; 
 
(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings 
from such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount 
disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 
 
8. In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of 
a couple and a member of that couple is in employment, £20; but, notwithstanding 
paragraph 33 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it must not 
apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant 
which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 
 
9.—(1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of 
earnings derived from one or more employments as— 
 
(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 
of that Act applies; 
 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 
of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an 
amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act;  
 
(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
 
(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the 
Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001;  
 
but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of 
members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to 
an applicant it must not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph 
(2). 
 
(2) If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment— 
 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate with 
the amount of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20; 
 
(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 

Page 221



250113 uprated 

employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant’s earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 
 
10. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 
9(1), but his earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and 
he is also engaged in any other employment, so much of his earnings from that other 
employment, up to £15 if he is a single applicant, or up to £20 if he has a partner, as would 
not in aggregate with the amount of his earnings disregarded under paragraph 9 exceed 
£20. 
 
11. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £15. 
 
12.—(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as 
defined in sub-paragraph (6); and 
 
(c) paragraph 14 does not apply,  
 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case where 
the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph. 
 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of 
members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies 
to one member of a couple (“A”) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) 
except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph (4). 
 
(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there must also be disregarded 
so much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 
 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 
for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
 
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
 

Page 222



250113 uprated 

(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008; or (as the case may be) 
 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member 
of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or 
their partner is also undertaking other work. 
 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 
provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 
 
13. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under 
paragraph 23 or 24 of Schedule 8 had the applicant’s income which does not consist of 
earnings been sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 
 
14. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or Universal Credit, his earnings. 
 
15. Any earnings derived from employment which are payable in a country outside the 
United Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to 
the United Kingdom of those earnings. 
 
16. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking 
charge or commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 
 
17. Any earnings of a child or young person. 
 
18.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the 
conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of 
the amounts set out in sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be 
disregarded under paragraphs 4 to 12 must be increased by £17.10. 
 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
 
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is a 
person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and 
Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 applies; or 
 
(b) the applicant— 
 
(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 
least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours 
per week; or 
 
(ii) is a member of a couple and— 
 
(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for on 
average not less than 16 hours per week; and 

Page 223



250113 uprated 

 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 3; or 
 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 
hours per week; or 
 
(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and— 
 
(aa) the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium under 
paragraph 9, the work-related activity component under paragraph 21 or the 
support component under paragraph 22 of Schedule 3 respectively; 
 
(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple satisfies 
the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in paragraph (aa) above and is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or 
 
(c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 
18(3) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 
(eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or would apply if an application for working tax 
credit were to be made in his case. 
 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
 
(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under 
paragraphs 4 to 12; 
 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c); 
and 
 
(c) £17.10. 
 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or 
not a person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference 
to 16 hours in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 30 hours. 
 
19. In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is 
engaged on average for less than 16 hours a week. 
 

SCHEDULE 8   Paragraph 54 
 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners 
 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other 
expenses incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the 
Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme. 
 

Page 224



250113 uprated 

2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity 
Scheme. 
3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and 
Enterprise Scheme. 
 
4. Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under 
regulation 30 (calculation of income other than earnings). 
 
5. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who 
is— 
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
 
(b) a volunteer, 
if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be 
treated as possessing any earnings under paragraph 55(5) (notional income: persons who 
are not pensioners). 
 
6. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a 
service user group. 
 
7. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses 
wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the 
employment. 
 
8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance, or Universal Credit, the whole of his 
income. 
 
9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of 
the applicant’s income. 
 
10. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 
2003, was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance but ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of 
regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999(148) 
as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 
 
11. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment. 
 
12. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of— 
 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance; 
(e) universal credit. 
 
13. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

Page 225



250113 uprated 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by 
virtue of 
any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) 
Scheme 1983 
or any payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 
 
14. Any attendance allowance. 
 
15. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or 
any analogous payment. 
 
16.—(1) Any payment— 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of school 
expenses; grant of scholarships etc.); 
 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 
(power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
 
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
. 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 
the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to 
education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education 
Act 2002. 
 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made 
pursuant to— 
 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in 
receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any 
provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
17. Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of 
the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 
18.—(1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the 
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment— 
 

Page 226



250113 uprated 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance;  
 
(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or 
section 2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 
 
(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the 
items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a 
Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been completed. 
 
(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the 
applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or 
water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 
 
19.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments— 
 
(a) a charitable payment; 
 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
 
(c) a payment (not falling within paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose funds are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; 
 
(d) a payment under an annuity purchased— 
 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; or 
 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, 
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 
 
(e) a payment (not falling within paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any agreement 
or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any personal injury to 
the applicant. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made by— 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the applicant’s 
family; or 
 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of 
the 
applicant’s family. 
 
20. Subject to 40, £10 of any of the following, namely— 
 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 
under paragraph 13 or 14); 
 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 

Page 227



250113 uprated 

 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 
power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 
 
(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to 
less than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 31(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed 
Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005, so much of that 
pension or payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed income 
payment disregarded, exceed £10; 
 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 
is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 
to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
 
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision 
made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic 
of Austria. 
 
20A. The whole of any amount remaining but for the application of the provisions of this 
Schedule in respect of a war disablement pension, war widow’s pension, war widower’s 
pension, guaranteed income payment and personal independence payment  
 
21. Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any— 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA; 
 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA. 
 
22.—(1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under 
paragraph 70 (capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub-paragraph (2), 
not income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17 or 30 to 33 
of Schedule 10. 
 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 
10 but only to the extent of— 
 
(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the period 
during which that income accrued; or 
 
(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of the 
dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that income accrued. 
 
(3) The definition of “water charges” in paragraph 2(1) of this scheme applies to sub-
paragraph 
 
(2) of this paragraph with the omission of the words “in so far as such charges are in 
respect of the 
dwelling which a person occupies as his home”. 
 

Page 228



250113 uprated 

23. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a 
course 
at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United 
Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of 
the Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that 
student’s award; 
 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance 
under that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by 
section 73 of that Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
 
(c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of 
the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 
 
24.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced 
education 
who either— 
 
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 
awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the 
student’s maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 23, an 
amount specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount must be equal to— 
 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the 
weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b), 
whichever is less. 
 
25. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependant. 
 
26. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied 
by a person other than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 refers and there is a 
contractual liability to make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling by that person or a member of his family— 
 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 

Page 229



250113 uprated 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 
 
27.—(1) Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that 
dwelling board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for 
which such accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 
 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of such 
payments; 
 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of the 
excess over £20. 
 
28.—(1) Any income in kind, except where paragraph 54(10)(b) (provision of support 
under section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of 
income other than earnings) applies. 
 
(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to “income in kind” does not include a payment to a 
third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant. 
 
29. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period 
during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that 
income. 
 
30.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his 
family— 
 
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 
2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish Ministers under section 
51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978 (schemes for payments of allowances to 
adopters) or in accordance with an adoption allowance scheme made under section 71 of 
the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (adoption allowances schemes); 
 
(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and 
paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a 
child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person as a result of a residence 
order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 1975 (payments towards maintenance 
of children); 
 
(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of 
Schedule 1 to, that Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 
 
(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 1989 
(special guardianship support services); 
 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made to the 
applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002. 
 
31. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 

Page 230



250113 uprated 

arrangements made— 
 
(a) by a local authority under— 
 
(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 
 
(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision 
of accommodation by voluntary organisations). 
 
32. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person 
concerned”), 
who is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, 
by— 
 
(a) a health authority; 
 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 
person 
concerned; 
 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
  
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006; or 
 
(f) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006)  
 
33. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 
24A of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968 or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision 
of services for children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 
 
34.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local 
authority in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the 
Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to 
grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A 
passes on 
to the applicant. 
( 
2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
 

Page 231



250113 uprated 

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
 
35.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy 
taken out to insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments— 
 
(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his home; 
or  
 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit Act 
1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 
 
(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is only to be disregarded to the extent that 
the payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a 
weekly basis, which are used to— 
 
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, 
(1)(b); 
and 
 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on— 
 
(i) that policy; or 
 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied 
by the applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1)(a). 
 
36. Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 64 of this scheme (income 
treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners) is to be treated as capital. 
 
37. Any –  

(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the Social Fund) or  
(b) occasional assistance  

 
38. Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
 
39. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking 
charge or commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
40. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income 
and the income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 33(3) 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage) to be disregarded under paragraph 77(2)(b) and paragraph 78(1)(d) of this 
scheme (calculation of covenant income where a contribution assessed, covenant income 
where no grant income or no contribution is assessed), paragraph 81(2) of this scheme 
(treatment of student loans), paragraph 82(3) of this scheme (treatment of payments from 
access funds) and paragraphs 20 and 21 must in no case exceed £20 per week. 
 

Page 232



250113 uprated 

41.—(1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 
MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund 
(2006).  
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for 
the benefit of— 
 
(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has 
died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that 
has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time 
of that person’s death; 
 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 
is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 
and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided 
that the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died 
were not, estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person 
have formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of 
them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a 
payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which 
is made to or for the benefit of— 
 
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 
is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 
and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where— 
 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 
 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 

Page 233



250113 uprated 

 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 
 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was 
a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which 
sub-paragraph refers, where— 
 
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 
 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who 
had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
paragraph is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital 
made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 
 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be 
construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
 
42. Any housing benefit. 
 
43. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in 
part) of entitlement to housing benefit. 
 
44. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than 
compensation for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit 
Acts. 
 
45. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax). 
 
46.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 
 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 

Page 234



250113 uprated 

(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 
 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 
Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned 
in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
47. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined 
by or under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu 
of vouchers or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits 
(including payments made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of 
vitamins). 
 
48. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish 
Ministers under a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons 
in custody. 
 
49.—(1) Where an applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of family 
premium, £15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether 
under a court order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former 
partner, or the  applicant’s partner’s former partner. 
 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls 
to be taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated 
as if they were a single payment. 
 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance must, for the purpose 
of sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified 
in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
50.—(1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where 
the child or young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the 
applicant’s family, except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner. 
 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1)— 
“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young 
person, including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under— 
 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or 
the sheriff court books; 
 
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income 
Support (General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) 
of that definition. 
 

Page 235



250113 uprated 

51. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of 
State or any other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944) to assist 
disabled persons to obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 
 
52. Any guardian’s allowance. 
 
53.—(1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, any 
increase in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or 
section 106(a) (unemployability supplement) of that Act, where the dependant in respect of 
whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, 
Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any 
increase in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in 
respect of whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
54. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 
Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving 
spouses and surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary 
of State for Defence to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 
 
55. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the 
Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil 
partners), the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 
 
56.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil 
partner of a person— 
 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
 
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 
 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th 
December 1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 
14th January 1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 
 
57. Any council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 
 
58. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 7, 
where the applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of 
that paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 
 
59. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or 
under sections 12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for 
health care) or under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 (direct payments). 
 

Page 236



250113 uprated 

60.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has 
received, assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person— 
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out by 
that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 
in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only in respect of payments which are paid to that person 
from the special account. 
 
61.—(1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in 
respect of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 
the sport in respect of which the award was made. 
 
62. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week 
exceeds the amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have 
received in that reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 
 
63. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any 
discretionary payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a 
fee, grant, loan or otherwise. 
 
64. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 
Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001. 
 
65.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf 
of the applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain 
the capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes, in England, a county 
council. 
 
66. Any payment of child benefit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 237



250113 uprated 

SCHEDULE 9     Paragraph 63 
Capital disregards: pensioners 

 
PART 1 

Capital to be disregarded 
 
1. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as 
his home within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable 
in the circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence 
occupation of the premises. 
 
2. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of 
which he is taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has 
commenced legal proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 
weeks from the date on which he first sought such advice or first commenced such 
proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of those 
premises. 
 
3. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential 
repairs or alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those 
repairs or alterations, or such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or 
alterations to be carried out. 
 
4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
 
(a) by a person who is a relative of the applicant or his partner as his home where that 
person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply 
where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or 
with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 
 
5. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of 
which the applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or 
sub-tenancies. 
 
6. Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as 
the home following his estrangement or divorce from his former partner or the dissolution 
of a civil partnership with his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the 
date on which he ceased to occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the 
home by the former partner who is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 
 
7. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the whole of 
his interest in those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took 
such steps, or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to 
dispose of those premises. 
 
8. All personal possessions. 
 

Page 238



250113 uprated 

9. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the 
purposes of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner or, if he has ceased to be so 
engaged, for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal 
of those assets. 
 
10. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant if— 
 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some 
disease or bodily or mental disablement; but 
 
(b) he intends to become engaged (or, as the case may be, re-engaged) as a self-
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged, 
or reengaged, in that business, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the 
application for a reduction under this scheme is made or, if it is unreasonable to expect 
him to become engaged or re-engaged in that business within that period, for such longer 
period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-
engaged. 
 
11. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
 
12. The value of any funeral plan contract; and for this purpose, “funeral plan contract” 
means a contract under which— 
 
(a) the applicant makes one or more payments to another person (“the provider”); 
 
(b) the provider undertakes to provide, or secure the provision of, a funeral in the United 
Kingdom for the applicant on his death; and 
 
(c) the sole purpose of the plan is to provide or secure the provision of a funeral for the 
applicant on his death. 
 
13. Where an ex-gratia payment has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 
 
(a) the applicant; 
 
(b) the applicant's partner; 
 
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
 
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, an amount equal to that payment. 
 
14.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an 
applicant or an applicant's partner who is— 
 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the time of the 
diagnosed person's death; or 
 

Page 239



250113 uprated 

(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date 
on which that person dies; 
 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years 
after that date. 
 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or an applicant's partner who is— 
 
(a) the diagnosed person; 
 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the date of the 
diagnosed person's death; or 
 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
 
(4) Where a payment such as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending on the date on 
which that person dies; 
 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the 
period beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending two years after 
that date. 
 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
 
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner; 
 
(b) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents, 
 
at the date of the diagnosed person's death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home or an independent hospital. 
 
(6) In this paragraph— 
 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, 
after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob 
disease; 
 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in 

Page 240



250113 uprated 

respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
15. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that 
the applicant, the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or civil partner or 
the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or civil partner— 
 
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died,  
 
during the Second World War. 
 
16.—(1) Any payment made under or by— 
 
(a) the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund (collectively 
referred to in this paragraph as “the Trusts”); or 
 
(b) the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts and which is made to or for the benefit of that person's 
partner or former partner— 
 
(a) from whom he is not, or where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced, or 
 
(b) with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that 
person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person's death. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which 
derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts and which is made to or for 
the benefit of the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person. 
 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were 
not, estranged or divorced, or 
 
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, 
the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of the death. 
 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
 

Page 241



250113 uprated 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child who is or had been a member of that person's household; and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 
 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child or a student who has not 
completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to any person 
standing in the place of his parent,  
 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person's death. 
 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was 
a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
 
(a) that person at the date of his death (“the relevant date”) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil 
partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child who was or had been a member of 
his household; 
 
and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 
 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child or a student who had not 
completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to any person 
standing in place of his parent, 
 
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
paragraph is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or 
capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 
 
17.—(1) An amount equal to the amount of any payment made in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or, if the applicant has a partner, to the partner. 
 
(2) Where the whole or part of the payment is administered— 
 
(a) by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 
1998, or the Court of Protection, or on behalf of a person where the payment can only be 
disposed of by order or direction of any such court; 
 
(b) in accordance with an order made under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993  
 
or 
 

Page 242



250113 uprated 

under Rule 128 of those Rules; or 
 
(c) in accordance with the terms of a trust established for the benefit of the applicant or his 
partner, 
 
the whole of the amount so administered. 
 
18. Any amount specified in paragraph 19, 20, 21 or 25 for a period of one year beginning 
with the date of receipt. 
 
19. Amounts paid under a policy of insurance in connection with the loss of or damage to 
the property occupied by the applicant as his home and to his personal possessions. 
 
20. So much of any amounts paid to the applicant or deposited in the applicant's name for 
the sole purpose of— 
 
(a) purchasing premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home; or 
 
(b) effecting essential repairs or alterations to the premises occupied or intended to be 
occupied by the applicant as his home. 
 
21.—(1) Subject to paragraph 22 any amount paid— 
 
(a) by way of arrears of benefit; 
 
(b) by way of compensation for the late payment of benefit; 
 
(c) in lieu of the payment of benefit; 
 
(d) to rectify, or compensate for, an official error, as defined for the purposes of paragraph 
22, being an amount to which that paragraph does not apply; 
 
(e) by a local authority out of funds provided under either section 93 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 under a scheme known as “Supporting People” or section 91 
of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001. 
 
(f) by way of occasional assistance including arrears and payments in lieu of occasional 
assistance (and in this paragraph “occasional assistance” has the same meaning as in 
paragraph 16 of Schedule 1); 
 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), “benefit” means— 
 
(a) attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
 
(b) disability living allowance; 
 
(c) personal independence payment; 
 
(d) an AFIP 
 
(e) income support; 
 

Page 243



250113 uprated 

(f) income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
 
(g) state pension credit; 
 
(h) housing benefit; 
 
(i) council tax benefit; 
 
(j) child tax credit; 
 
(k) an increase of a disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA (increase where 
constant attendance is needed), and any further increase of such a pension under section 
105 of the Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 
 
(l) any amount included on account of the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement or 
need for constant attendance in a war disablement pension or a war widow's or widower's 
pension; 
 
(m) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 
Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
 
(n) working tax credit;  
 
(o) income-related employment and support allowance or 
 
(p) social fund payments under Part 8 of the SSCBA”; 
 
22.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more which has been 
made to rectify, or to compensate for, an official error relating to a relevant benefit and 
which has been received by the applicant in full on or after the day on which he became 
entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 
 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the total amount of any payments disregarded under— 
 
(a) paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 10 to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; 
 
(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 8 to the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 
 
(c) paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 5 to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006; 
 
(d) paragraph 20A of Schedule 5 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, 
 
(e) paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 9 to the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008, 
 
(f) paragraph 18 of Schedule 10 to the Universal Credit Regulations 2013(b); 
 
where the award in respect of which the payments last fell to be disregarded under those 
Regulations either terminated immediately before the relevant date or is still in existence at 
that date. 
 

Page 244



250113 uprated 

(3) Any disregard which applies under sub-paragraph (1) or (2) has effect until the award 
comes to an end. 
 
(4) In this paragraph— 
 
“the award”, except in sub-paragraph (2), means— 
 
(a) the award of reduction under the authority’s scheme during which the relevant sum 
or, where it is paid in more than one instalment, the first instalment of that sum is 
received; and 
 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, 
begins immediately after the previous award ends, such further awards until the end of 
the last such award, provided that, for such further awards, the applicant— 
 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; 
 
(ii) is the partner of that person; or 
 
(iii) was the partner of that person at the date of his death; 
“official error”— 
 
(a) where the error relates to housing benefit, or council tax benefit (in respect of any 
period before 1st April 2013), has the meaning given by regulation 1(2) of the Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 
 
(b) where the error relates to any other relevant benefit, has the meaning given by 
regulation 1(3) of the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) 
Regulations 1999; 
 
“the relevant date” means the date on which the application for a reduction under this 
scheme was made;  
 
“relevant benefit” means any benefit specified in paragraph 21(2); and 
 
“the relevant sum” means the total amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
23. Where a capital asset is held in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that capital into Sterling. 
 
24. The value of the right to receive income from an occupational pension scheme or a 
personal pension scheme. 
 
25. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 6 (amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) 
or of any amount which is disregarded under paragraph 5 or 6 of that Schedule. 
 
26. The dwelling occupied as the home; but only one dwelling is to be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 
 
27.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class C (alternative 
maximum council tax reduction: pensioners), the whole of his capital. 

Page 245



250113 uprated 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class B and class C. 
 
28. Where a person elects to be entitled to a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to SSCBA 
or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 
2005, or is treated as having made such an election, and a payment has been made 
pursuant to that election, an amount equal to— 
 
(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or payments 
made on account of that lump sum; 
 
(b) the amount of that lump sum, 
 
but only for so long as that person does not change that election in favour of an increase 
of pension or benefit. 
 
29. Any payments made by virtue of regulations made under— 
 
(a) section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments); 
 
(b) section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 (direct payments in respect of 
community care services); or 
 
(c) sections 12A to 12C of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for 
health care). 
 
(d) Article 15 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 
(general social welfare) 

 
(e) section 8 of the Carers and Direct Payments Act (Northern Ireland) 2002 (direct 

payments) 
29A. A payment made under the Age-Related Payments Regulations 2013(c). 

 
PART 2 

 
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income 

 
30.The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
 
31.The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary 
interest in the property in respect of which rent is due. 
 
32.The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if 
any) of such an annuity. 
 
33.Where property is held under a trust, other than— 
 
(a) a charitable trust within the meaning of the Charities Act 1993; or 
 
(b) a trust set up with any payment to which paragraph 16 of this Schedule applies, 

Page 246



250113 uprated 

and under the terms of the trust, payments fall to be made, or the trustees have a 
discretion to make payments, to or for the benefit of the applicant or the applicant's 
partner, or both, that property.  
 

SCHEDULE 10 Paragraph 63 
 

Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners 
 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other 
expenses 
incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your 
Benefit Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity 
Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and 
Enterprise Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the 
payment. 
 
4. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by 
the applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable 
or unreasonable to sell separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 of this scheme 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage), only one dwelling is to be disregarded under this paragraph. 
 
5. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as 
his home within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable 
in the circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence 
occupation of the premises. 
 
6. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied 
by the applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises 
intended for such occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as 
is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 
 
7. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home 
where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not not apply 
where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or 
with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 
 
8. Where an applicant or an applicant and his partner(s) in the case of a couple or 
polygamous marriage has capital less than or equal to £6,000, the whole of his capital.  
 
9. Not used  
 

Page 247



250113 uprated 

10. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of 
which the applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or 
sub-tenancies. 
 
11.—(1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the 
purposes of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so 
engaged, for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal 
of any such asset. 
 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some 
disease or bodily or mental disablement; but 
 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-employed 
earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application 
for a reduction under this scheme is made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable 
to expect him to become engaged or reengaged in that business within that period, for 
such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to become so 
engaged or re-engaged. 
 
(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, 
the assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the 
commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 
 
(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect 
of which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to 
that activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for 
disposal of any such asset. 
 
12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment 
made to compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of— 
 
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 8; 
 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance, 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the 
concessionary 
payment. 
 
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 

Page 248



250113 uprated 

referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or 
allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-
paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”) and is— 
 
(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in regulation 
1(2) of the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 
2001; and 
 
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 
 
sub-paragraph (1) has effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its 
entirety during the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, for the remainder 
of that period if that is a longer period. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction under 
this scheme” means— 
 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof where it is 
paid in more than one instalment); and 
 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, 
begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award provided that 
for that further award the applicant— 
 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 
 
13. Any sum— 
 
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 
possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
 
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition 
that it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, 
which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which it was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 
 
14. Any sum— 
 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home; 
 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 
 
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 
 

Page 249



250113 uprated 

15. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant 
with the intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a reduction under 
this scheme or to increase the amount of that reduction. 
 
16. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if 
any) of such an annuity. 
 
17. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the 
value of the right to receive any payment under that trust. 
 
18.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of 
any personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 
(2) But sub-paragraph (1)— 
 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the applicant 
first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that injury 
(whether it is made by the same person or another); 
 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which the 
applicant no longer possesses it; 
 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived 
from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no 
longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or 
part of it to 
purchase an asset. 
 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as 
including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 
 
19. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
 
20. The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under paragraph 15 
of 
Schedule 7 or paragraph 29 of Schedule 8. 
 
21. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
 
22. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to 
receive any outstanding instalments. 
 
23. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or  
 

Page 250



250113 uprated 

24A of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968 or sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision 
of services for children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 
 
24.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local 
authority in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the 
Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to 
grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A 
passes on to the applicant. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
 
25. Any –  
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund; or  
(b) occasional assistance 
 
26. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of 
relevant loan interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out 
repairs or improvements to the home. 
 
27. Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 55 or 81 (capital treated as income: persons 
who are not pensioners, treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income. 
 
28. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking 
charge 
or commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
29.—(1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, 
the Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the 
London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any 
of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 
 
(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has 
died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that 
has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time 
of that person’s death; 
 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 
is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

Page 251



250113 uprated 

 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 
and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which 
derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) 
refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 
 
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 
is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 
and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
 
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were 
not, estranged or divorced, or 
 
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, 
the 
civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of the death. 
 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where— 
 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to 
his guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 
 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was 
a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which 
sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 
 
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil 
partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 
 

Page 252



250113 uprated 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who 
had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made 
under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be be 
construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
 
30.—(1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling 
occupied as the home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil 
partnership with, his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he ceased to occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home 
by the former partner who is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 
 
(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it 
is impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land 
on which the dwelling is situated. 
 
31. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those 
premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such 
longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those 
premises. 
 
32. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of 
which he is taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has 
commenced legal proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 
weeks from the date on which he first sought such advice or first commenced such 
proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of those 
premises. 
 
33. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential 
repairs or alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those 
repairs or alterations, or such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or 
alterations to be carried out. 34. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to 
compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of entitlement to housing benefit. 
 
35. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
 
36. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme. 
 

Page 253



250113 uprated 

37. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a 
reversionary interest in the property in respect of which rent is due. 
 
38. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET  
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
39. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or 
section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 
52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
40. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the 
date of the receipt of the payment. 
 
41. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing 
Act 1988 (or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to 
assist local housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) 
which is to be used— 
 
(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such 
a grant or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the 
purchase, repairs or alterations to be completed and the applicant to commence 
occupation of those premises as his home. 
 
42. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of 
Schedule 8 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of 
any amount which is disregarded under paragraph 55 or 56 of that Schedule, but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 
 
43.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 
 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and 
health service supplies); 
 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), but only for a period of 52 weeks from 
the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 
Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned 
in sub-paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the 
payment or repayment. 

Page 254



250113 uprated 

 
44. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined 
by or under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu 
of vouchers or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits 
(including payments made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of 
vitamins), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
45. Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy 
grant). 
 
46. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers 
under a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in 
custody, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 
 
47. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of 
State or any other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist 
disabled persons to obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 
 
48. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
(Employment) Act 1958) to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 
 
49.— Not Used   
 
50.—(1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and— 
 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 
 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from— 
 
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is 
under the age of 18. 
51. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order 
made under section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the 
Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives 
from— 
 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is 
under the age of 18. 
 
52. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 
 
53. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the 
self employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose 
of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is 
or was received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was 
acquired. 

Page 255



250113 uprated 

 
54.—(1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt 
of that payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more 
of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable.  
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 
the sport in respect of which the award was made. 
 
55.—(1) Any payment— 
 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
 
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 
The Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to 
education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 
 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made 
pursuant to— 
 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in 
receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any 
provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
56. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any 
discretionary payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a 
fee, grant, loan or otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of 
the payment. 
 

Page 256



250113 uprated 

57. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
58. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on 
or after 1st February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of— 
 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant’s partner; 
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 
 
59.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an 
applicant or a member of an applicant’s family who is— 
 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner 
at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 
(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the 
diagnosed person’s death. 
 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date 
on which that person dies; 
 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that 
date;  
 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending— 
 
(i) two years after that date; or 
 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 
 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s 
family who is— 
 

Page 257



250113 uprated 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner 
at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 
 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the 
diagnosed person’s death, but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the 
total amount of any trust payments made to that person. 
 
(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the date on which 
that person dies; 
 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years after that 
date; or  
 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending— 
 
(i) two years after that date; or 
 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
 
whichever is the latest. 
 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
 
(a) being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
 
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 
at the date of the diagnosed person’s death includes a person who would have been such 
a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 
 
(6) In this paragraph— 
 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, 
after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease; “relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary 
of State in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-

Page 258



250113 uprated 

Jakob disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its 
provisions;  
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
60. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that 
the applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil 
partner or the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner— 
 
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, during the Second World War. 
 
61.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf 
of the applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain 
the capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county 
council. 
 
62. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under 
sections 12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health 
care). 
 
63. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 
4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
 
64. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to 
section 14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



Page 260

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
 

ITEM NO:  

 
 

Full Council 
20 January 2014 

 

Report from the Assistant Chief 
Executive 

  

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Report from the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny 

 
 

1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the work of the council’s overview and 
scrutiny committees in accordance with Standing Order 14.  It covers the 
period since overview and scrutiny last reported to Full Council in November 
2013. 

 
 2.0 Detail 

 
2.1  One Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
   

The One Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee has met once since the 
last Chair’s report to Full Council. At the November meeting, the committee 
received the Complaint’s Annual Report 2012/13.  The report provided an 
overview of complaints received and investigated by the council under the 
corporate complaints scheme and the statutory social care complaints 
procedure.  Members’ questions focussed on performance of the new two 
stage complaints procedure which was introduced in April 2012, improvement 
actions, training and equalities information and tracking.    
 
A presentation on the Future of Customer Services project was deferred to 
March’s meeting of the committee.  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 261



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

 
 
 

2.2 Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Children and Young People’s OSC met in December to discuss reports 
on educational standards, the Working with Families Project and an update on 
Children’s Centres. 
 
The Educational Standards report provided a snapshot of Ofsted ratings in 
Brent’s schools, the national context for the changing relationship between 
schools and local authorities in relation to schools improvement and key 
trends.  Members queried actions being taken to support Brent’s schools to 
improve, work being undertaken with Brent Schools Partnership and 
comparisons with other London Boroughs and national averages. 
 
The discussion on the Working with Families Project focussed on how the 
teams within the project worked with one another, recruitment and retention, 
including professional qualifications required for support workers, and how the 
project was funded. 
 
The committee discussed a report Children Centres in Brent that focussed on 
progress to secure sufficient early childhood services and included service 
objectives, governance arrangement and identification of good practices.  As 
a result of this discussion, members of the committee agreed to have a further 
report that provided an analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of the Early 
Years Service at the committee’s meeting in March 2014.      
 

2.3 Partnership and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  

The main focus of the November meeting was employment and enterprise. 
Members heard from the Head of Employment and Enterprise, who informed 
members that the team was located with Housing and Employment division, 
reflecting the strong links between employment and housing needs. The 
committee was also informed that a borough Employment Strategy which will 
be aligned with the Housing Strategy was in the process of being drafted and 
that consultation on the evidence base had taken place with key stakeholders 
such as the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and the College of 
North West London (CNWL). 
 
The Head of Employment and Enterprise gave a presentation demonstrating 
unemployment trends, demographic breakdowns for various claimant groups 
and the challenges facing the team and the borough as a whole. Members 
raised concerns that several wards, including some with the highest 
unemployment rates, have failed to improve over a number of years, 
illustrating concerns that poverty was entrenched some areas of Brent. 
Further areas of discussion included the changing labour demands in the 
borough and the implications for those failing to adequately search for work.  
 

Page 262



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

The Operations Director, Housing and Employment informed the committee 
about the work undertaken to secure employment opportunities at the London 
Designer Outlet, where the Employment and Enterprise team had access to 
approximately 500 vacancies, 50 per cent of which being secured by people 
supported by Wembley Works.  
 
In the course of discussions on the changes in Wembley and the opportunities 
available such as the stadium and Park Royal, members agreed that 
individual areas needed to be improved to ensure the whole of the borough 
shares in the benefits of economic growth and secures jobs for local 
residents. 
 
The Head of Employment and Enterprise updated the committee on the 
council’s in-house apprenticeship scheme, stating that the position would be 
advertised locally as well as nationally - though the National Apprenticeship 
Service website. Members were informed that the first trench of 
apprenticeships would start in January. The committee expressed an interest 
in having an update in March 2014. 

     
2.4 Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
At the December meeting, the committee heard from the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and North West London Hospitals Trust 
(NWLHT) on plans to cope with the additional pressures services normally 
experience during winter months, particularly those at Accident and 
Emergency centres. Members challenged the CCG and NWLHT on whether 
the measures being taken were enough to guarantee that Northwick Park 
A&E would cope through the winter months and whether the additional 
temporary beds being provided to alleviate pressure were sufficient.  
Members also raised concerns about the adequacy of the 111 telephone 
service and GP out-of-hours services across the borough, both of which are 
generally considered to have an impact on demand at A&Es. 
 
The committee continued to hear from the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) on the commissioning arrangements. The Brent CCG introduced the 
consultants who will be undertaking an impact assessment and consultation 
on the “wave 2” commissioning of services. Members questioned the 
consultants on their understanding of the needs and diversity of Brent 
residents and, in particular, sought assurances that all sections of the 
community would be adequately consulted. Members also sought clarification 
as to the extent and outcome the consultation will have on future 
commissions.   
 
Representatives from the NWLHT reported on an incident whereby a large 
number of patients had been discovered not to have an “open care pathway” 
and, as a result, had been waiting for more than the statutory 18 week 
maximum for treatment. To deal with this, members heard that a number of 
patients will be sent to alternative providers to address the backlog. The 
committee sought clarification as to how patients sent to alternative providers 
would be properly monitored. Members also queried what steps were being 
taken to address the capacity issues that had been highlighted as a result of 

Page 263



 
Meeting 
Date  

Version no. 
Date  

 
 

the incident. The committee will continue to scrutinise this issue at future 
meetings. 
 
The committee also received an update on plans for Central Middlesex 
Hospital (CMH). The committee raised a number of concerns about the 
proposals to relocate Park Royal Centre for Mental Health into part of the 
CMH buildings.  The committee requested a further update on this and other 
proposals for CMH at the next meeting in January, when the plans are due to 
be more fully developed. 

  
2.5  Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
   

The Budget and Finance OSC has met twice since last reported to Full 
Council. In November the Interim Director of Adult Social Care provided the 
committee with information on the main budgetary issues facing the 
department, including resources, savings found to date, unit cost trends and 
proposed changes in the Care Bill.  Members’ questioning focussed on early 
intervention to reduce long term cost, partnership working with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the balance between keeping costs down and 
ensuring quality of care. The committee also discussed the First Reading 
Debate papers, particularly the savings schedule.  Members queried a 
number of the proposals while asking for more radical ideas to come forward 
in the future. 
 
In December the committee received a presentation from the Interim Director 
of Children and Families.  The presentation focussed on resources, unit cost 
trends, changing demographics and other future challenges.  The committee 
discussed support provided to Looked After Children, the difficulty recruiting 
Social Workers and school performance.  The committee also received a 
report on non permanent staffing arrangement which covered agency 
workers, interims and consultants.   Members raised question about the 
operation of the Reed managed contract, the processes for recruitment and 
monitoring of interims and consultants and actions being taken to review 
these. 
 
 

 
 
Contact Officers 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Assistant Director of Policy 
cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 
0208 937 1045 
Jacqueline Casson 
Acting Corporate Policy Manager 
jacqueline.casson@brent.gov.uk  
0208 937 1164 

Page 264


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2013/14
	app-ct-support-scheme-2014

	8 Reports from the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees

